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Chairman’s Statement

ERE®E

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of Easy Smart Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”), | am pleased to present the
annual report of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2024 (the
“Year").

Final Results

In spite of the challenging business and economic environment
in Hong Kong, the Group was able to maintain its momentum
with its revenue increased by approximately HK$16.4 million or
approximately 4.9% from approximately HK$337 million for the
year ended 30 June 2023 (the “Previous Year"”) to approximately
HK$353 million for the Year. The net profit amounted to
approximately HK$35.8 million for the Year as compared to the
net profit of approximately HK$43.8 million for the year ended 30
June 2023, representing a decrease of approximately 18.3%. The
decrease in net profit was mainly due to an increase in costs of sales
and the administrative expenses.

Industry outlook and prospects

Following the speedy recovery from the epidemic, the government
outlined its commitment to the construction industry in Hong
Kong during the 2023-24 Budget Speech, particularly focusing
on development initiatives in the Northern Metropolis. This policy
stimulus is anticipated to boost market sentiment and attract
additional capital to the construction sector. The Group is currently
facing increasing operational costs, notably in direct labor,
subcontracting charges, and intensified price competition. To address
these challenges, we will continue to prioritise our specialized
passive fire protection services while exploring the application
of prefabrication of installation of passive fire protection works
opportunities within this field. The Group will continue to strengthen
the competitive edge in the construction industry and to close
monitor the costs of the projects in order to increase shareholders’
return. The Directors of the Group maintains a cautiously optimistic
outlook for its business in the medium to long term.

The Group is in a steady financial position with no outstanding debt
as of 30 June 2024.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERBE

Final Dividend

Having considered the Group’s satisfactory financial performance
and sound financial position, the Board of Directors has resolved to
recommend a final dividend in cash of HK$0.172 per ordinary share
for the Year (30 June 2023: nil). The final dividend will be payable
to shareholders whose names appear on the Register of Members of
the Company on 20 November 2024. The proposed final dividend
proposal is subject to the approval at the Annual General Meeting
to be held on 11 November 2024. The proposed final dividend
payment is expected to be paid on or before Thursday, 5 December
2024.

APPRECIATION
On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity

to express my sincere gratitude to all shareholders, customers,
subcontractors and business partners for their continuous support
and trust to our Group.

I would also like to express our sincere thanks to the management

and staff for their commitment and contribution throughout the
years.

Ng Wing Woon Dave
Chairman

Hong Kong, 20 September 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEEN R D

INTRODUCTION OF PASSIVE FIRE PROTECTION
WORKS

Passive fire safety provisions refer to permanent building features
and architectural aspects of a building that prevent fire development
and spread. Examples include fire rated doors, fire rated boards and
partitions, fire and smoke dampers, smoke curtains, fire resistant
coatings and plasters, linings with low combustibility, etc.

Passive fire protection works are specialist works which covers the
design, supply, installation, maintenance, alteration and addition of
various fire protection materials and components that prevent fire
development and spread.

Passive fire protection is typically implemented through
multi-pronged approach. Major objectives are segmented in the
following aspects:

o Fireproofing, refers to the application of chemical material to
withstand potential fire damage. For instance, spraying fire
resistant paint, namely intumescent paint onto metal window
frames is conducive to alleviating the rate of penetration of
fire and extending the amount of time to evacuate.

o Compartmentation, refers to erecting specially designed
barriers and partitions to contain smoke and fire. For instance,
service providers place fire rated doors strategically to
inhibit the passage of flame and smoke, as well as providing
clear escape path. Fire wall and fire rated board, is another
compartmentation strategy that is set up to constrain the
spread of fire and to protect the building’s integrity.

o Firestopping, refers to the practice of filling cavities between
building partitions and structures, such as cavities between
walls, floors, ceilings and ventilation ducts.

Given the nature of works of passive fire protection, it is not an

industry practice for service providers (other than passive fire service
providers) to undertake passive fire protection works.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENWR DM

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

We are a subcontractor specialising in passive fire protection works
in Hong Kong. With over 20 years of experience in the passive fire
protection works industry, the Group focuses on the provision of
passive fire protection and ancillary works. Our passive fire protection
works generally involve the design, selection, procurement and
installation of appropriate materials and components in a building
to reduce or prevent the spread and effects of fire, heat or smoke
without requiring detection or activation upon detection. Examples
of passive fire protection materials and components include fire
rated boards, fire resistant paints and fire resistant plasters. Given
the application of passive fire protection works may involve ancillary
works, such as, metal works for supporting frame and fixings of
the relevant passive fire protection materials and components, we
will generally perform such works as part of the Group’s services.
The Group provides passive fire protection works and ancillary work
through the Group’s principal operating subsidiaries, namely, Easy
Smart Engineering Limited and Easy Smart Maintenance Engineering
Limited.

The Group also provides passive fire protection information services
which are primary intended to address to the problem of the
purchase and use of inappropriate passive fire protection materials
during the initial stages of projects.

There has been no significant change in the business operations of
the Group during the Year.

The total original contract sum of the Group’s outstanding contracts
on hand as at 30 June 2024 amounted to approximately HK$670.7
millions (FY2023: HK$637.5 millions).
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWR DT

The economic outlook of the Hong Kong construction industry
generally became uncertain during the Year. The Group noted
fewer projects being launched, and customers became more
price-conscious, with price competition from competitors has
increased. During the Year, the Group was fortunate to have
accumulated a relatively diverse customer base and project
portfolio in public sector projects. The Group expects the
government-initiated projects remain the driving force for the
Hong Kong construction industry for the coming few years, as
the number of projects launched by the private sector has been
notably slowing down in recent months. Meanwhile, the Group
is also facing with fluctuations in the sub-contractor fees, costs of
construction materials and transportation. Overall, with the Group’s
extensive experience in the industry, familiarity with specifications,
use of wide range of passive fire protection materials, long-standing
relationships with material suppliers, strong customer relationships,
and experienced senior management team, the Directors maintains
a cautiously optimistic outlook for its business in the medium to long
term.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

Revenue of the Group increased from approximately HK$336.5
million for the year ended 30 June 2023 (the “Previous Year")
to approximately HK$352.9 million for the Year, representing an
increase of approximately 4.9% from the Previous Year.

The increase was mainly driven by the revenue contributed by certain
sizeable public sector projects, a public infrastructure and facilities
project involving a passenger terminal at an airport in Hong Kong
and a public infrastructure and facilities project involving a sports
park at Kai Tak, which led to an increase in the revenue derived from
public sector projects for the Year.

On the other hand, the revenue in the private sectors dropped
from approximately HK$193.7 million for the Previous Year to
approximately HK$54.5 million for the Year, representing a decrease
by 71.9%. Such decline was mainly due to the completion of a
number of major private commercial projects in the Previous Year,
such as a logistics centre and a commercial complex at an airport in
Hong Kong.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EERE WKk DM

The following table sets out a breakdown of the Group’s projects
and revenue for passive fire protection works (excluding passive
fire protection information services) by project sectors and types of
properties involved during the years indicated:

TREHIRPIREREIZEARB BRI R &
YMEELE D WRBED TR (T EREK
BHEMEARS) WASEEEB MU

il

Year ended 30 June

BEAA=THLEE
2024 2023
“ECoME —E-CF
No. of No. of
projects % of total projects % of total
(Note 1) Revenue  revenue (Note 1) Revenue revenue
BEHEE h@kE BEYE Falas
(FE1) g otk (M) Wiz BA
HK$'000 % HK$'000 %
TET TET
Public N
- Public infrastructure and facility ~ — AXERE R & 36 277,563 78.6% 35 129,290 38.5%
- Residential - &= 21 20,643 5.9% 12 13,154 3.9%
Sub-total Et 57 298,206 84.5% 47 142,444 42.4%
Private iR
~ Commercial and industrial - 1%% 33 25,437 7.2% 17 164,179 48.8%
- Residential - = 19 16,857 4.8% 5 15,213 4.5%
— Public infrastructure and facility ~— — AHER K&
(Note 2) (Fizk2) 4 12,212 3.5% 25 14,328 43%
Sub-total I 56 54,506 15.5% 47 193,720 57.6%
Total st 113 352,712 100.0% 94 336,164  100.0%
Notes: B3
(1) We normally group different contracts as a single project if the location ()  (WEEHBRUEMRRNENKE —EFRE
of the construction sites are the same, or they form a single building AEEY MEEBANBTRESIE
or complex, even if the contracts are awarded by different customers. BMBEENETREeNBHEAE—HEA -
However, in exceptional cases when the scale and size of the structure is R FEPIIMERT - EEEYEE KRR
exceptionally large, the works are for different parts of the structure and BiEA - TP REEMHTREBS B
the construction period spans across a long period, we will treat contracts THEE—BREME RMeBE 2
in a single building or complex as being separate projects. FRGAEEYNEOEBEBIER -

(2)  Revenue derived from these private sector public infrastructure and facilities 2 ZELEAHERRREEDEENHWES

projects mainly related to two projects involving a power station where the
project owner is a subsidiary of a fixed single investment trust listed on the
Stock Exchange with a focus on the power industry.

TEESR -EHRBHONEERAEE
HEHAARRBRAETWEEE &
BERNMBAR FERENTE-
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWR DT

Costs of services

The Group’s costs of services increased from approximately
HK$257.0 million for the Previous Year to approximately HK$289.3
million for the Year, representing an increase of approximately
12.6% from the Previous Year. Such increase in costs of services was
generally in line with the increase in the revenue.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The Group’s gross profit amounted to approximately HK$79.5
million and approximately HK$63.6 million for the Previous Year
and the Year respectively, representing a decrease of approximately
20.0% for the Year. The decrease in gross profit was primarily due
to the increase in cost of services for the Year.

The gross profit margin decreased from approximately 23.6%
for the Previous Year to approximately 18.0% for the Year. The
decrease in the gross profit margin was mainly due to the increment
of sub-contractor fees, costs of construction materials and
transportation for the Year.

Other Income

Other income of the Group increased from approximately HK$1.6
million for the Previous Year to approximately HK$2.4 million for
the Year, representing an increase of approximately 50.0%. Such
increase was mainly due to the increase in the interest income for
the Year.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses increased from approximately HK$14.6
million for the Previous Year to approximately HK$20.8 million
for the Year, representing an increase of approximately 42.5%.
Such increase was mainly due to the increase in staff costs and
professional expenses for the Year.

Impairment losses, net of reversal

Our impairment losses, net of reversal represent net impairment
losses recognised or reversed in respect of trade receivables and
contract assets. Our impairment losses increased from approximately
HK$0.1 million for the Previous Year to approximately HK$2.1
million for the Year, mainly because our trade receivables generally
aged longer and impairment loss recognised in respect of contract
assets associated with the increase in retention receivables as at 30
June 2024 as compared with 30 June 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENWR DM

Profit before taxation

The Group’s profit before taxation decreased approximately
21.2% from approximately HK$54.6 million for the Previous Year
to approximately HK$43.0 million for the Year, which was mainly
attributable to the net effect of (i) the increase in costs of services
and administrative expenses as discussed above; and (ii) the Listing
expenses of approximately HK$11.8 million were recognised for
the Previous Year whereas no Listing expenses was required to be
recognised for the Year.

Income Tax Expense

Because of the decrease in profit before taxation as discussed above
the Group's income tax expense decreased from approximately
HK$10.8 million for the Previous Year to approximately HK$7.2
million for the Year.

Profit and Total Comprehensive Income for the year

The profit and total comprehensive income of the Group for the
year decreased from approximately HK$43.8 million for the Previous
Year to approximately HK$35.8 million for the Year, representing
a decrease of approximately 18.3% which was mainly due to the
decrease in profit before taxation as discussed above.

Key Financial Ratio

R B4 Al %
AEBERNBRRINER B EFEMNL5468
EBTHADH212%EARFERH43.08
AT TEBEARNUTERIENFTE
()38 a0 £ TR T o BR 7% Bk AR R 17 BB 2 3
m:&wtigﬁﬁtﬁﬁimﬂsﬁé
BIr MAFELE ML ETER
E3e

R

MR EXFTaBR R AR IR D - AEEA
FIefAYtm EFEENYI108EE BT
VERFEEHNI2ABEHETT -

FRBEANREE KSR
AEEFRGEN R EEWEARH EFE
B #43. 8B BB LR L EARFEMHI35.8
BEET REAR/IB3I%  TERARN
3Pt R 5 A i AR A AT ER

FEBKLEE
As at As at
30 June 30 June
Notes 2024 2023
R=-Z-MmF MNIZEZ=%F
s ~NA=+H ~NA=1H

Current ratio EhL &
Return on total assets 48 & BE o] 3y R
Return on equity A% 7K [2] 33 &
Net profit margin AP
Gearing ratio BEARGBLE

u b~ W N -

12.5 times &

10.7 times 1

11.2% 15.5%
12.2% 17.1%
10.2% 13.0%

1.0% 0.4%
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWR DT

Notes:

1. Current ratio is calculated as current assets divided by current liabilities as
at the respective reporting dates.

2. Return on total assets is calculated as profit for the year divided by the total
assets as of the respective reporting dates.

3. Return on equity is calculated as profit and total comprehensive income for
the year divided by the total equity attributable to owners of the Company
as of the respective reporting dates.

4. Net profit margin is calculated as profit and total comprehensive income
divided by the revenue for the respective reporting years.

5. Gearing ratio is calculated as total interest-bearing liabilities divided by the
total equity as at the respective reporting dates.

Current Ratio

Current ratio was increased from approximately 10.7 times as at
30 June 2023 to approximately 12.5 times as at 30 June 2024. The
increase was mainly due to the increment in cash at bank balance.

Return on Total Assets

Return on total assets decreased from approximately 15.5% for the
Previous Year to approximately 11.2% for the Year. The decrease
was mainly due to lower profit for the Year and increment in cash at
bank balances.

Return on Equity

Return on equity decreased from approximately 17.1% for the
Previous Year to approximately 12.2% for the Year. The decrease
was mainly due to lower profit for the Year and the increment of
reserves.

Net Profit Margin

The Group's net profit margin decreased from approximately
13.0% for the Previous Year to approximately 10.2% for the Year.
The decrease was primarily due to the decrease in the gross profit
margin and increase in costs of services and administrative expenses
of our Group as discussed above. If the other income and the Listing
expenses are excluded, the Group would have an adjusted net
profit margin of approximately 16.1% for the Previous Year and
approximately 9.5% for the Year.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND

CAPITAL STRUCTURE
As at 30 June 2024, the Company’s issued capital was

HK$4,080,000 and the number of its issued ordinary shares was
408,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each (the “Share(s)").
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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As at 30 June 2024, the Group had total bank balances and cash as
well as pledged bank deposits of approximately HK$158.0 million
and approximately HK$1.03 million respectively (30 June 2023:
approximately HK$128.5 million and HK$1.03 million respectively).

The Group’s only interest-bearing liabilities are lease liabilities. The
Group’s gearing ratio, calculated as total lease liabilities divided
by the total equity as at the respective reporting dates, was
approximately 1.0% as at 30 June 2024 (30 June 2023: 0.4%).

The Group generally meets its working capital requirements mainly
through the listing of the Company’s Shares in the Previous Year
and cash flows generated from its operations. The Shares of the
Company were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
on the Listing date with 102,000,000 Shares had been offered
for subscription, at an offer price of HK$1.28 per Share (the
“Listing”) on 9 May 2023 (the “Listing Date"”). The proceeds
received from the share offer have strengthened the Group’s cash
flow and the Group will implement its future plans as set out in
the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” to the
Prospectus. During the Year, the Group generated net cash inflow
from operating activities of approximately HK$31.8 million. There
has been no change in capital structure of the Company during the
Year.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURES

As the Group only operates in Hong Kong and all of the revenue
and transactions arising from its operations were settled in Hong
Kong dollar, the Directors are of the view that the Group’s foreign
exchange rate risks are insignificant. Thus, the Group has not
entered into any derivative contracts to hedge against the foreign
exchange exposure for the Year as well as for the Previous Year.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT

LIABILITIES
As at 30 June 2023 and 2024, the Group had no material capital

commitments and contingent liabilities.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT, MATERIALS
ACQUISITION OR DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES
AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

During the Year, the Group did not have any significant investment
held any material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries and
associated companies.
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FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENT
OR ACQUISITION OF CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Future Plans and Use
of Proceeds” in the Prospectus, there was no plans for material
investments or acquisition of capital assets as at 30 June 2024.

COMPARISON OF BUSINESS OBJECTIVES WITH
ACTUAL BUSINESS PROGRESS AND USE OF
PROCEEDS

The net proceeds from the Listing amounted to approximately
HK$89.1 million, which are being applied by the Group in
accordance with the disclosure as set out in the section headed
“Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” of the Prospectus.

The details of the use of the net proceeds from the Listing Date to

AREARENVBELEE
=t &

BRI A2 (R R B R AT 1S A R 2]
—EAREES RS EomERAST
A AEEY SR EAREREEE A
BEstE
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TS FIREFELAIAEE L AN
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RERR]—HAHBEEREREBER
18 o

ErETMRSE-_FE-_MFE,A=1+H"FF

up to 30 June 2024 are listed as below: SRIEFEASRHBEHINAT
Amount  Net proceeds Unutilised
utilised utilised from amounts
during the the Listing asat  Expected timeline for full
Intended use year ended Date up to 30 June utilisation of the
of proceeds 30 June 2024 30 June 2024 2024  unutilised amount Mot
REZ BLTHEZ
—RI@mE CZBOQEE I
AR=tH AA=tHHW  —BCQEF
FriEsA LEER EBAKE ~A=tH BUERRBA
RERZ BRANEH RERE WABASE SHM T H R R &
HKS'million HKS$'million HKS$'million HKS'million
BEAT BEAT BEAT BEATL
Project upfront costs B ATE AR 64.9 53.4 64.9 - N/A NiE
Expanding our workforce 3 MIAF 8.7 16 17 7.0 March 2025
“E-RE=A
Upgrading the information ~ FH &R 6.6 18 29 37 December 2024 o2
technology system 25 ZECFFz Bl
General working capital —fREEES 89 - 89 - N/A T E
89.1 56.8 784 10.7
Notes: B3
1. The expected timeline for utilising the Unutilised Amount is based on the 1. FRABAENEHRERDIBEREAS

B AR RTORPTER R EMMERE - &
BRBIRE SRR TR E R A PTEE o

best estimation of the future market condition made by the Group. It is
subject to change based on the current and future development of the
market condition.

AT RA AR R BT B B TS R TR
M ERRRERB _Z_=FtA%MA -
TEHNTREREREBIARIAR KR
NEME I BRI

2. The use of proceeds for upgrading the information technology system is 2.
expected to be behind the original schedule of July 2023, which is mainly
because of a delay in the progress of completion and the time required for
ordering and delivering the computer hardware components.
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As at the date of this report, the unutilised proceeds were placed
in interest-bearing deposits with authorised financial institutions
or licensed banks in Hong Kong. The Directors regularly evaluate
the Group’s business objectives and may change or modify plans
against the changing market condition to ascertain the business
growth of the Group. Up to the date of this report, the Directors
considered that no modification of the use of proceeds described in
the Prospectus was required.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY
As at 30 June 2024, we employed a total of 57 full-time employees

(including two executive Directors but excluding three independent
non-executive Directors), as compared to a total of 58 full-time
employees as at 30 June 2023. The remuneration packages that the
Group offers to employees includes salary, discretionary bonuses,
staff benefits, contributions and retirement schemes as well as other
cash subsidies. In general, the Group determines employee’s salaries
based on each employee’s qualifications, position and seniority.
The Group has designed an annual review system to assess the
performance of its employees, which forms the basis of its decisions
with respect to salary raises, bonuses and promotions. The total staff
cost incurred by the Group for the Year was approximately HK$21.7
million compared to approximately HK$20.1 million for the Previous
Year.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend of
HK$0.172 per Share for the Year (Previous Year: Nil). The proposed
final dividend payment is subject to approval by the shareholders of
the Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting to be held
in Hong Kong on Monday, 11 November 2024 (the “AGM") and
is payable on Hong Kong Dollars. Such dividend will not be subject
to any withholding tax. Upon shareholders’ approval, the proposed
final dividend payment is expected to be paid on or before Thursday,
5 December 2024 to ordinary shareholders whose names shall
appear on the register of members of the Company on Wednesday,
20 November 2024. The Company did not declare interim dividend
for the six months ended 31 December 2023.

EVENTS AFTER THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

There is no material event undertaken by the Group after 30 June
2024 and up to the date of this report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Company is committed in achieving a high standard of corporate
governance standard. The Board believes that good corporate
governance standards are essential in providing a framework for the
Company to safeguard the interests of shareholders of the Company
(the “Shareholders”), enhance its corporate value, formulate its
business strategies and policies, and enhance its transparency and
accountability.

The Company has adopted the principles and all relevant code
provisions as set out under the Corporate Governance Code (the
“CG code”) contained in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). To
the best of the knowledge of the Board, the Company has complied
with the CG code for the Year, save as disclosed in the paragraph
headed “Chairman and Chief Executive Officer” in this report.
The Directors will periodically review on the Company’s corporate
governance policies and will propose any amendment, if necessary,
to ensure compliance with the code provisions from time to time.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as a code of conduct of
the Company regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Having
made specific enquiries of the Directors, all the Directors have
confirmed that they have complied with the requirements of the
Model Code for the Year.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Composition

As at the date of this annual report, the Board consists of five
Directors including Mr. Ng Wing Woon Dave (Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer) and Mr. Ng Wing Shing as the executive Directors
and Professor Pong Kam Keung, Ms. Cheng Shing Yan and Mr. Lo
Chi Wang as the independent non-executive Directors.

There is a balance of skills and experience for the Board, which is
appropriate for the requirements of the business of the Company.
Biographical details are set out in the section headed “Biographical
details of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 33 to 40 of
this annual report.

Save that Mr. Ng Wing Woon Dave and Mr. Ng Wing Shing are
brothers, there are no financial, business, family or other material
relationship among members of the Board.

The Board meets regularly to discuss and formulate the overall
strategy as well as operation and financial performance of the
Group. The company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”) assists the Chairman in drawing the agenda of each
meeting and each Director may request inclusion of matters in the
agenda. All Directors have access to the Company Secretary who is
responsible for ensuring that Board procedures are complied with
and all applicable rules and regulations are followed.

Pursuant to Code Provision C.5.1 of the CG Code, the Board should
meet regularly and regular board meetings should be held at least
four times per year. Additional meetings would be arranged if and
when required. Directors may participate either in person or through
electronic means of communications.
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The attendance record of each Director at the Board and the
committee meetings for the Year is set out in the table below:

EEgRNEBHEAFERTNEZEN
ZEBEEH LHRANR BRI CHEET
LN

Attendance/Number of Meetings

o= VN-V/¢ |

Annual

General
Meeting Audit Nomination Renumeration
Board (Note) Committee Committee Committee

[ES

BEAE
Name of Director EEnS Ezg (fi:r) BHRZEEE REZEE FMzEe
Mr. Ng Wing Woon Dave RE|ERE 4/4 11 NA RE 1/1 22
Mr. Ng Wing Shing REBEE 4/4 7 NARER A TER N/A TEF
Professor Pong Kam Keung BB HE 4/4 1/1 22 1/1 22
Ms. Cheng Shing Yan Bt 4/4 1/1 22 1/1 N/A T8
Mr. Lo Chi Wang BELEE 4/4 11 22 NATER 22

Note:  The Annual General Meeting will be held on 11 November 2024. For
details, please refer to the section headed “Report of Directors — Annual
General Meeting” of this annual report.

During the Year, the Board has at all times met the requirements
of rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules relating to
the appointment of at least three independent non-executive
Directors with at least one independent non-executive Director
possessing appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting
or related financial management expertise. The Company has
three independent non-executive Directors and all of the three
independent non-executive Directors have appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise.

The three independent non-executive Directors represent more than
half of the Board, the proportion of which is higher than what is
required by Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules whereby independent
non-executive directors of a listed issuer must represent at least
one third of the board. The Board believes there is sufficient
independence element in the Board to safeguard the interest of
shareholders.

Each of the Directors has entered into a contract for appointment
with the Company for a term of years commencing from the
Listing Date unless terminated by not less than one month's
notice in writing served by either party on the other. Each of the
executive and independent non-executive Directors has signed
an appointment contract with the Company which is subject to
termination provisions therein and provisions on retirement by
rotation and re-election of Directors as set out in the amended and
restated memorandum and articles of association of the Company
(the “Restated Articles”).

EASY SMART GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Mzt : BRRBEFRGHER _Z_WNFE+—A+—
BT - ARG F2HAERES
BWmE - BRAFARE -

RAFE EFE—BEETLEMRAUS
310N E3I0QGBEBAZREEL =28
SMFMTEZERERED BB IFNTT
EEVAABEENEEXER LK
HEENMBEEERNER - ARAIE=
FEIFRTES M_RBIUIFNTE
E2AHARBEENERER KB
HENTHEREER -

—RBUFRITEERERZN —FNES
SRE AR LHIE L AIFE3.10A
RFTARERAR - BT - EHETAR
BUFRTESANEEEEL =02 —
REAB -BEE@R R EFSNENMAE
BB R #3218 3L AR PR AR SR A4 o

SEEPCEARAFI LRI £H
BLEmRHE  BRIFEM—TT RS — T
HEL—EASEBANT AR - $1T
MBI FNTEEFECRBEEARAGILE
EAK  BXERKILGXRARBIEER]
REFIZHABERNMEERMA(TEE
ARADFREARESHEREINREEDN
fFRSCFT AR



Corporate Governance Report
EXRERHRSE

The Company has received written confirmation from each of the
independent non-executive Directors in respect of his independence
in accordance with the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all independent
non-executive Directors are independent.

Responsibilities of the Directors

The Board takes the responsibility collectively to oversee all
major matters of the Company, including the formulation and
approval of all policy matters, overall strategies, internal control
and risk management systems, and monitor the performance
of the senior executives. The Directors have to make decisions
objectively in the interests of the Company. To oversee particular
aspects of the Company’s affairs, the Board has established
three Board committees, including the audit committee
(the ”"Audit Committee”), the nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) and the remuneration committee
(the “Remuneration Committee”) (together, the “Board
Committees”).

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and
effective functioning.

The independent non-executive Directors are responsible for
ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting of the Company
and providing a balance in the Board for bringing effective
independent judgement on corporate actions and operations,
and are invited to serve on the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee.

The Board has delegated to the management, consisting of executive
Directors along with other senior executives, with the responsibilities
for implementing the strategy and direction adopted by the Board
from time to time and conducting the day-to-day management and
operations of the Group.

The Board has delegated to the Board Committees responsibilities
as set out in their respective terms of references. Further details of
the Board Committees are set out in the sections headed “Audit
Committee”, “Nomination Committee” and “Remuneration
Committee” below.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Code Provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. Mr. Ng Wing Woon Dave is both the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer. In view that Mr. Ng Wing Woon
Dave being the founder of the Group and has been operating and
managing the business as well as overall financial and strategic
planning of the Group since the incorporation of the Group's
operating subsidiary, Easy Smart Engineering Limited, in around June
2001, the Board believes that the vesting of the roles of Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer in Mr. Ng Wing Woon Dave is beneficial
to the business operations and management of the Group and will
provide a strong and consistent leadership to the Group. In addition,
due to the presence of three independent non-executive Directors
which represents over half of the Board, the Board considers that
there is a balance of power and authority such that no one individual
has unfettered power of decision. Accordingly, the Company has not
segregated the role of Mr. Ng Wing Woon Dave as the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer as required by Code Provision C.2.1
of Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) on 12 April 2023 which sets out the approach to
achieve and maintain diversity on the Board in order to enhance the
effectiveness of the Board.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Company seeks to achieve
Board diversity through the consideration of a number of factors,
including but not limited to the talent, skill, regional and industry
experience, background, gender and other qualities.

When identifying potential candidates to the Board of Directors,
the Nomination Committee and the Board of Directors will,
among others, (i) consider the current level of representation of
women on the Board and the senior management when making
recommendations for nominees as well as succession planning to
the Board of Directors and senior management; (ii) consider the
criteria that promotes diversity by references to the code of practices
on employment published by the Equal Opportunities Commission
from time to time; (iii) communicate the Board Diversity Policy to the
Nomination Committee and encourage a cooperative approach to
ensure diversity on the Board.

EASY SMART GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2024

EFERITHRAR
SRR EC 2GR TE - TR MITHABE
MACERERD  TRHA— ARBRE-
REBRFEREETFERRETHAEE -
ENREM|ELRAEENAIMRA > BN
SENEENBRARIREIREARARAR
TR -FXRALAEMKIIAR  —H
BEZENEEASENEHEIALEEY
BREERE  EFSREREFEMITR
RENABETREARELEANNRAKE
MEBLERER U AAEBERMR
AR—HWEE - IS AREFEA=
HBIUFRTES - HEFSFEAL
EEeRRTHERINERNFE  WE
EAEAREA NZLREARERE - Bt
RN B R AR T AR BB ERC1 <7 R
XHEC2UFHRTE » BREBREEREE
FERITRAEHNABR -

EEEXESTABR

ARFBR-B-=FWA+=AFEMNE
FERES TR (EEERAS T
BE])  ZBERIERARSHEFERK
BELMTE  ARAEEGME -

REEFEXNEZITICER - ARBIEB
ERZARE (BRERENERNABE - 5%EE -
WERTELER B8 MHIEREMRE
B) ®RrEXREFEXNEZ T

EYEEZENETEREAR REEE
eREFRSR (HEHhERE) (MEREAR
EEghSAERBENETHIRLIES
B ZEEAMXEEESERARERE
FEORERE: (N2EFEREZBETEH
NEREST R - ZBIEEZ T LR ;
(IWEZEXEZ TIEBRREERIES
ZE® YEBEDRAEIARRESS
MZ e e



Corporate Governance Report
EXRERHRSE

The Board will consider setting measurable objectives to implement
the Board Diversity Policy and review such objectives from time to
time to ensure their appropriateness and ascertain the progress
made towards achieving those objectives.

The Board has reviewed the Board Diversity Policy for the Year.
Having reviewed the Board composition, the Board recognises
the importance and benefits of gender diversity at the Board level
and has at least one female representation in the Board. We shall
continue to identify female candidate(s) to enhance the gender
diversity among the Board members.

The Company’s diversity philosophy including gender diversity was
generally followed in the workforce throughout the Group for the
Year. As at the date of this report, 16.7% of the Directors and
approximately 26.7% of the total workforce were females. The
Company will promote diversity at workforce levels by timely review
the gender diversity of the workforce with the business development
of the Group.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy
annually to ensure its continued effectiveness.

NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”) on 12 April 2023 which sets out the criteria and process
in the nomination and appointment of directors of the Company,
aims to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives appropriate to the Company and to ensure
the Board’s continuity and appropriate leadership. The Nomination
Committee shall identify candidates who are qualified/suitable to
become a member of the Board and to make recommendations
to the Board on the selection of candidates nominated for
directorships. The selection of candidates will be based on a range
of selection criteria as set out in the Nomination Policy, including
but not limited to, character and integrity, qualification, potential
contributions the candidate can bring to the Board in terms of
qualifications, skill, experience, independence and gender diversity,
the candidate’s willingness and ability to devote adequate time to
discharge duties as a member of the Board.
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For the appointment of directors, the Nomination Committee
will first identify individual(s) suitably qualified to become Board
members and assesses the independence of the proposed
independent non-executive director(s). Then, the Nomination
Committee will make recommendation to the Board for the Board
to consider, having regard to the Board Diversity Policy and the
Nomination Policy. The Board will confirm the appointment of
the suitable candidate or recommend the candidate to stand for
election at a general meeting of the Company. The candidate(s)
who is/are appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy or as an
addition to the Board will be subject to re-election by shareholders
of the Company at the next annual general meeting after initial
appointment in accordance with the Restated Articles.

For the re-appointment of directors, the Nomination Committee
will also consider the retiring directors based on the Board Diversity
Policy and the Nomination Policy, and assess their independence
before the Nomination Committee makes recommendation to the
Board to consider. After the Board considers each retiring director,
the Board will recommend the suitable retiring director(s) to stand
for re-election at the annual general meeting in accordance with the
Restated Articles. The Shareholders will approve the re-election of
directors at the annual general meeting.

The Nomination Committee shall review the structure, size,
composition (including skills, knowledge, experience and length
of service) of the Board on a regular basis at least annually and
diversity of the Board to ensure that it has a balance of expertise,
skills and experience and diversity of perspective appropriate to the
requirements for the business of the Company.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has set up a dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”) on 12 April 2023 with an aim to strike a balance between
maintaining sufficient capital to develop and operate the business
of the Group and rewarding the Shareholders of the Company.
According to the Dividend Policy, in deciding whether to propose a
dividend and in determining the dividend amount, the Board shall
take into account the following factors:

(@) the Company'’s operating results, actual and expected financial
performance;

(b) retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company
and each of the members of the Group;

(c) the level of the Group's profitability, debts to equity ratio,
return on equity and the relevant financial covenants;

(d) any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed
by the Group’s lenders;

(e) the Group’s expected working capital requirements, capital
expenditure requirements and future expansion plans;

(f)  the Group’s liquidity position;

(9) general economic outlook, prospects, development of the
Group's business and other internal and external factors that
may have an impact on the business or financial performance
and position of the Company; and

(h) any other factors that the Board may deem appropriate and
relevant.

The declaration and payment of dividend by the Company is also
subject to any restrictions under the Companies Act of the Cayman
Islands, any applicable laws, rules and regulations and the Restated
Articles. The declaration and payment of future dividend under
the Dividend Policy are subject to the Board’s determination that
the same would be in the best interests of the Group and the
Shareholders of the Company as a whole. The Board will review the
Dividend Policy from time to time and may exercise at its sole and
absolute discretion to update, amend and/or modify the Dividend
Policy at any time as it deems fit and necessary.
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
OF DIRECTORS

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes
in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure
that their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.
The Group acknowledges the importance of continuing professional
development for the Directors for better corporate governance and
internal control system. In this regard and in compliance with Code
Provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, the Group has allocated funding for
all Directors to participate in continuous professional development
organized in the form of in-house training and seminars to keep
them refreshed of their knowledge, skills and understanding of the
Group and its business, to update their skills and knowledge on the
latest development or changes in the relevant statutes, the Listing
Rules and corporate governance practices.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills. Directors’ training is an ongoing process. All Directors are
encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the Company’s
expenses. All Directors confirmed that they have complied with Code
Provision C.1.4 of the CG Code during the Year by participating
sufficient relevant continuous professional training.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 12 April 2023
with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of
the Listing Rules and the CG Code. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee are to, among other things, (i) make recommendations
to the Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal
of external auditors; (ii) review and monitor the external auditors’
independence and objectively; (iii) review the effectiveness of
the Company’s internal audit activities, internal controls and
risk management systems; (iv) develop and implement policy on
engaging external auditor to supply non-audit services, and to
review and monitor the extent of the non-audit works undertaken
by external auditors; and (v) monitor the integrity of the consolidated
financial statements and the annual report and accounts and
half-year report and to review significant financial reporting
judgments contained in them.

The Audit Committee consists of three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Professor Pong Kam Keung, Ms. Cheng Shing
Yan and Mr. Lo Chi Wang. Mr. Lo Chi Wang currently serves as the
chairperson of the Audit Committee.

During the Year, the Audit Committee has held two meetings and
performed the following works:

(@)  reviewed the Group’s annual audited consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 30 June 2024 and the Group's
interim unaudited financial statements for the six months
ended 31 December 2023;

(b) reviewed the changes (if any) in accounting standards and
assessed their potential impacts on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements;

(c) reviewed the Group’s internal control system and related
matters;

(d) reviewed the change of the Company’s external auditor; and

() considered and made recommendations on the
re-appointment of the external auditor of the Group.

The Company’s annual results for the year ended 30 June 2024
have been reviewed by the Audit Committee. There had been no
disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 12
April 2023 with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule
3.25 of the Listing Rules and the CG Code. The primary duties of
the Remuneration Committee are to, among other things, (i) make
recommendation to the Board on the overall remuneration policy
and structure relating to all Directors and senior management of the
Group; (ii) make recommendation to the Board on the remuneration
of independent non-executive Directors; (iii) review and make
recommendations to the Board on other remuneration-related
matters, including benefits-in-kinds and their compensation payable
to the Directors and senior management; (iv) review performance
based remunerations and to establish a formal and transparent
procedure for developing policy in relation to remuneration; and (v)
consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment
and responsibilities and employment conditions elsewhere in the
Company and its subsidiaries.

The Remuneration Committee consists of three members, namely
Mr. Ng Wing Woon Dave, Mr. Lo Chi Wang, and Professor Pong
Kam Keung. Professor Pong Kam Keung currently serves as the
chairperson of the Remuneration Committee.

The remuneration of the Directors and senior management is
determined with reference to the responsibilities, workload, the
time devoted and the performance of the Group. The Remuneration
Committee also ensures that no individual will be involved in
determining his/her own remuneration.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee has held two
meetings for reviewing the remuneration packages of the executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors and the
performance of them.
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Pursuant to Code Provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, details of the
remuneration of the senior management (other than Directors) by
bands for the Year and the Previous Year are as follows:

R RE AT RIA ST RIRSCHRE 56
SREEE (EERINRAFERLEF
ERFBFIBTOT -

Number of employees

EBEAH
2024 2023
—E-mEF —E-=F
Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 Z%51,000,000 /& 7T 3 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 T &= = 2

1,500,000 /& 7T

Further details of the remuneration of the Directors and the 5
highest paid employees are set out in note 10 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 12 April
2023 with written terms of reference in compliance with the CG
Code. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to,
among other things, (i) review the structure, size, composition
and diversity of the Board on a regular basis; (i) identify individual
suitably qualified to become Board members; (iii) assess the
independence of independent non-executive Directors; (iv) make
recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning
for directors; and (v) make recommendations to the Board regarding
candidates to fill vacancies on the Board and/or senior management.

The Nomination Committee consists of three members, namely)
Professor Pong Kam Keung, Ms. Cheng Shing Yan and Mr. Ng
Wing Woon Dave. Mr. Ng Wing Woon Dave currently serves as the
chairperson of the Nomination Committee.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee has held one meeting
for reviewing the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors, considering the qualifications of the retiring directors
standing for election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company, reviewing the structure, size, and composition of the
Board and reviewing the Board Diversity Policy and the Nomination
Policy.
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The Nomination Committee considered that the non-executive
directors are independent and the aforesaid policies have been
maintained up to 30 June 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the
Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board has reviewed the
Company’s corporate governance policies and practices, training
and continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance with the
Model Code, and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in this corporate governance report.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY
IN RESPECT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year in
accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainty
that may cost significant doubt upon the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern.

The statements of the independent auditor of the Group about their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group are set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” on
pages 67 to 73 of this annual report.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the Year, the remunerations paid or payable to the external
auditors, SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited in respect of its audit services
are approximately HK$850,000 and HK$nil for the non-audit
services. The audit services of approximately HK$850,000 being the
annual audit fee for the Year.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
The Board has the responsibility to maintain effective risk
management and internal control systems in order to safeguard the
Group's assets and investments and the Shareholders’ interest and
conducts a review on an ongoing basis. The Board acknowledges
that such risk management and internal control systems are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives and can only provide reasonable but not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. The Board
conducted review of the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Company in aspects of the Group's
financial, operational, compliance controls and risk management
functions through the effort of the Audit Committee.

The Group currently has no internal audit function and the Board
reviewed that it is more cost effective to engage an external
independent consultant instead of recruiting a team of internal
audit staff to perform such annual review function. During the
year ended 30 June 2024, BT Corporate Governance Limited (the
“Consultant”) was engaged to review the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control system. The Consultant
worked closely with the Group to identify risk components and risk
owners in different aspects through interviews with and workshops
provided to the Group’s management. Also, the Consultant assisted
the Group to evaluate the adequacy of the existing mitigation
plans. In addition, an independent review was conducted by the
Consultant under the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of
the Treadway Commission’s 2013 framework (“COSO") to identify
weaknesses and enhance the effectiveness and efficiency of the
internal control system of the Group. Last but not least, findings
and recommendations resulting from the review were reported
to and discussed with the Audit Committee and the Board, and
the Consultant concluded that no significant area of concern that
may affect the financial, operational, compliance control and risk
management of the Group has been identified.

The Board has the overall responsibility to maintain the adequacy
of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programs
and budget of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting
function and the Board had reached the conclusion that the Group's
risk managements and internal control systems were in place and
effective.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE
The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s environmental,
social and governance (“ESG") strategy and reporting. The Board is
responsible for the Group’s environmental, social and governance
risk management and internal control systems to ensure the ESG
strategies and reporting requirements are met. The ESG report of
the Group for the Year will be published separately but at the same
time of publication of this annual report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has appointed Mr. Leung Hoi Ki, who is an employee
of the Company, as its company secretary. Mr. Leung has confirmed
that for the Year, he has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training. All members of the Board have access to the
advice and services of the Company Secretary. The biography of
Mr. Leung Hoi Ki is set out in the section headed “Biographical
Details of Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

INSIDE INFORMATION POLICY

The Group has adopted a policy on disclosure of insider information
with the aim to ensure the insiders are abiding by the confidentiality
requirement and are fulfilling the disclosure obligation of the inside
information. Such policy provides, among others, notification of
regular blackout period, securities dealing restrictions to Directors
and employees, dissemination of information to specified persons on
a need-to-know basis and use of identified projects.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders and potential investors is essential for enhancing
investor relations and understanding of the Group’s business,
performance and strategies. The Company has adopted the
shareholders’ communication policy with the objective of ensuring
that the Shareholders and potential investors are provided with
ready, equal and timely access to balanced and understandable
information about the Company (including the financial
performance, strategic goals and plans, material development,
governance and risk profile). The Company also recognizes the
importance of timely and non-selective disclosure of information,
which will enable Shareholders and potential investors to make the
informed investment decisions.
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To promote effective communication, the Company maintains the
website of www.easysmart.com.hk where up-to-date information
on the Company’s business operations and developments, financial
information, corporate governance practices and other information
are available for public access. Latest information of the Group
including annual and interim reports, announcements and other
corporate communications which will be sent to Shareholders and/
or published are updated on the websites of the Stock Exchange
(www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company’s website in a timely fashion.

The Company has reviewed the Shareholders’ communication
policy upon its Listing and will review it annually to ensure its
continued effectiveness. By reasons as set out in the paragraphs of
“Shareholders’ Rights” and “Enquiries to the Board” of this report,
the Company considers that the Shareholders’ communication policy
is implemented effectively during the year ended 30 June 2024.

The forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company will be
held on Monday, 11 November 2024. The notice of the annual
general meeting, setting out details of each proposed resolutions,
voting procedures and other relevant information, will be sent to
shareholders at least 21 days before the annual general meeting.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Restated Articles, an extraordinary
general meeting shall be convened on the requisition of one or more
Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not
less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company having
the right of voting at general meetings. Such requisition shall be
made in writing to the Board or the Secretary for the purpose of
requiring an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board
for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition.
Such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of
such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails
to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure
of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.
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There are no provisions in the Restated Articles or the Cayman
Islands Companies Act for Shareholders to move new resolution at
general meetings. Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may
request the Company to convene a general meeting in accordance
with the procedures set out in the preceding paragraph. As regards
proposing a person for election as a Director, please refer to the
“Procedures for a Shareholder to Propose a Person for Election as
a Director” of the Company which is posted on the Company’s
website.

ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests to the Board
through the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong
at Unit A, 10/F, Ming Tak Centre, 135-137 Tung Chau Street,
Kowloon, Hong Kong (email: ir@easysmart.com.hk).

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change to the Company’s constitutional documents
for the Year. The Restated Articles is available on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ng Wing Woon Dave (R &) (“Mr. Dave Ng") (also known
as Mr. Ng Wing Woon ((R482)), aged 51, is a founder of the Group,
an executive Director, Chairman, chief executive officer and one of
the Controlling Shareholders. Mr. Dave Ng is the chairperson of the
Nomination Committee and also a member of the Remuneration
Committee. He was appointed as a Director on 7 September 2021,
and was re-designated as an executive Director on 19 October 2021.
Mr. Dave Ng is also a director of Easy Smart Engineering Limited
("Easy Smart Engineering”), Easy Smart Maintenance Engineering
Limited (“Easy Smart Maintenance”), E-Build Technology Limited,
Lofty Profit Investments Limited, Rise Nation Global Limited, On
Thrive Holdings Limited and Total Wisdom Developments Limited.
Mr. Dave Ng is responsible for the overall management, strategic
and major decisions on the development and planning and
operation of the Group. Mr. Dave Ng found Easy Smart Engineering,
one of the Group’s operating subsidiaries, in June 2001 and he has
been a director of Easy Smart Engineering since its incorporation.
Mr. Dave Ng is also a director and a shareholder holding 20% shares
of and in Goldin Innovation Development Company Limited which
holds 99% in Dongguan Tanda Co., Ltd., both of Goldin Innovation
Development Company Limited and Dongguan Tanda Co., Ltd. are
considered as deemed connected persons of the Company.

Mr. Dave Ng possesses over 23 years of experience in passive
fire protection works. Mr. Dave Ng plays an instrumental role in
defining the Group'’s business strategies and managing the Group'’s
business and operations. His years of experience in the passive five
protection works industry and business management have enabled
him to develop insights in the macro economic environment and the
market trends which may help the Group identify opportunities in
the market. Mr. Dave Ng has undertaken to devote sufficient time
and attention to carry out his responsibilities in the Group.

Mr. Dave Ng graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University
with a Higher Diploma in Manufacturing Engineering in October
1995.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Dave Ng worked with Protec
Engineering Limited from November 1998 to June 2001 and his
last position was a sales engineer, and with Vibron Limited as a
production engineer from 1995 to 1997.
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Save as disclosed above, Mr. Dave Ng does not hold any directorship
in any public companies the securities of which are listed on any
securities markets in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years
or any other position with the Company and other members of
the Group or have other major appointments and professional
qualifications.

Save that Mr. Dave Ng is the elder brother of Mr. Ng Wing Shing
and save as disclosed in this annual report, Mr. Dave Ng does not
have any relationship with other Director, senior management,
substantial or controlling Shareholders as defined in the Listing Rules
and he has no other interests in the shares of the Company which
are required to be disclosed pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.

Mr. Ng Wing Shing (R &%) (“Mr. Vincent Ng”), aged 43, is
an Executive Director. He was appointed as an executive Director
on 19 October 2021. Mr. Vincent Ng is responsible for business
development, contract administration and managing quality
management system of the Group. Mr. Vincent Ng joined the Group
since 1 March 2008.

Mr. Vincent Ng has over 15 years of experience in passive fire
protection works. He joined the Group as a sales engineer of
Easy Smart Engineering from 1 March 2008 and has been a sales
manager of Easy Smart Maintenance since 1 April 2011. Mr. Vincent
Ng is a director of Easy Smart Engineering and Easy Smart
Maintenance since April 2024.

Mr. Vincent Ng graduated from Curtin University of Technology,
Western Australia, with a degree of Bachelor of Science in Computer
Science on 30 September 2005.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Vincent Ng worked at PCCW-HKT
Limited from May 2006 to February 2008 with his last position as an
operational improvement executive.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Vincent Ng does not hold any
directorship in any public companies the securities of which are listed
on any securities markets in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three
years or any other position with the Company and other members
of the Group or have other major appointments and professional
qualifications.

Save that Mr. Vincent Ng is the younger brother of Mr. Dave Ng and
save as disclosed in this annual report, Mr. Vincent Ng does not have
any relationship with other Director, senior management, substantial
or controlling Shareholders as defined in the Listing Rules and he has
no interests in the shares of the Company which are required to be
disclosed pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Professor Pong Kam Keung (EE#%38) (“Prof. Pong”), aged 62,
was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 12 April
2023. He is also the chairperson of the Remuneration Committee,
a member of the Nomination Committee and a member of the
Audit Committee. Prof. Pong is responsible for supervising the
Group’s compliance, corporate governance matters and providing
independent advice to the Group.

Prof. Pong is currently an independent non-executive director of
HKE Holdings Limited (stock code: 1726), a company listed on the
Main Board, from March 2018. He was a non-executive director of
Star Group Company Limited (stock code: 1560) (previously known
as Star Properties Group (Cayman Islands) Limited), a company listed
on the Main Board, from March 2016 to September 2018 and an
executive director from September 2018 to November 2021, an
executive director of Sundart Holdings Limited (stock code: 1568),
a company listed on the Main Board, from July 2015 to February
2018, an independent non-executive director of Central Holding
Group Co. Ltd. (stock code: 1735) (previously known as Wang Yang
Holdings Limited), a company listed on the Main Board, from March
2018 to October 2019, an independent non-executive director of
FSM Holdings Limited (stock code: 1721), a company listed on the
Main Board, from June 2018 to April 2020 and an independent
non-executive director of Shuang Yun Holdings Limited (stock code:
1706), a company listed on the Main Board, from October 2017 to
September 2023.

Prof. Pong is also an adjunct professor in the Division of
Environment and Sustainability of The Hong Kong University of
Science and Technology since December 2013. Prof. Pong has been
a member of the Disciplinary Tribunal of The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute (formerly known as The Hong Kong Institute of
Chartered Secretaries) since January 2015. Prof. Pong was the chief
prosecution officer of the Environment Protection Department of the
HK Government from July 2004 to July 2013. He served as advisor
to the Hong Kong Architecture Centre from 2011 to 2013. He was
also a member of the Appeal Tribunal Panel of the Planning and
Lands Branch of the Development Bureau of the HK Government
from February 2007 to November 2012.
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Prof. Pong obtained a degree of Bachelor of Science in Building
Surveying from the Thames Polytechnic, United Kingdom in June
1989, a degree of Master of Science in Property Investment from
the City University of London, United Kingdom in December 1993
and a Doctor of Philosophy degree from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in September 2019.

Prof. Pong has been a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of
Construction Managers since August 2016, the Hong Kong
Institute of Facility Management since July 2000, the Hong Kong
Institute of Surveyors since November 2000, the Chartered Institute
of Arbitrators since January 2001, and the Royal Institution of
Chartered Surveyors since January 2006.

Save as disclosed above, Prof. Pong does not hold any directorship
in any public companies the securities of which are listed on any
securities markets in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years
or any other position with the Company and other members of
the Group or have other major appointments and professional
qualifications.

Ms. Cheng Shing Yan (ZF&fiX) (“Ms. Cheng”), aged 49, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 12 April
2023. She is also a member of the Audit Committee and a member
of the Nomination Committee. Ms. Cheng is responsible for
supervising the Group’s compliance, corporate governance matters
and providing independent advice to the Group. Ms. Cheng has
over 18 years of experiences in accounting and finance.

Ms. Cheng held different positions at Ernst & Young Business
Services Ltd. from January 2004 to December 2008, where she last
served as a manager of the assurance and advisory business services
department. She then worked at Baker Tilly Hong Kong Business
Services Limited as a manager from March 2009 to July 2010.
She held different positions at SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited from
November 2010 to April 2016, where she last served as a senior
audit manager. Ms. Cheng joined the group of Sanroc International
Holdings Limited (now known as Zhaobangji Lifestyle Holdings
Limited) (“Sanroc”), a company listed on the Main Board (stock
code: 1660), and served as the chief financial officer from April 2016
to April 2018. Since April 2018, she has been the chief financial
officer of Sanroc International (Hong Kong) Limited and certain
subsidiaries of Sanroc.
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From April 2016 to April 2018 and from April 2017 to April 2018,
she was the company secretary and an executive director of
Sanroc, respectively. From June 2017 to October 2019, she was
an independent non-executive director of China Shenghai Food
Holdings Company Limited (now known as Gaodi Holdings Limited),
a company listed on the Main Board (stock code: 1676). Since
October 2017, she has been an independent non-executive director
of Putian Communication Group Limited, a company listed on the
Main Board (stock code: 1720). From February 2021 to July 2024,
she was an independent non-executive director of Kwong Luen
Engineering Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main Board
(stock code: 1413). Since December 2023, she has been a joint
company secretary of China New Consumption Group Limited, a
company listed on the GEM (stock code: 8275).

Ms. Cheng obtained a degree of Master of Arts in International
Accounting from the City University of Hong Kong in November
2003. She was admitted as a certified public accountant of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants in July 2003, a fellow
of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in December
2005, an associate of The Chartered Governance Institute in June
2017 and an associate of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute (formerly known as The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries) in June 2017.

Save as disclosed above, Ms. Cheng does not hold any directorship
in any public companies the securities of which are listed on any
securities markets in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years
or any other position with the Company and other members of
the Group or have other major appointments and professional
qualifications.

Mr. Lo Chi Wang (&%35L) ("Mr. Lo"), aged 46, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 12 April 2023. He is
also the chairperson of the Audit Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee. Mr. Lo is responsible for supervising the
Group's compliance, corporate governance matters and providing
independent advice to the Group. Mr. Lo has over 20 years of
experiences in accounting and finance.
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Mr. Lo is the group financial controller and the general manager of
Hong Kong factory of Hung Fook Tong Group Holdings Limited (stock
code: 1446), a company listed on the Main Board, and he joined as
a financial controller in May 2015. Mr. Lo's experience in auditing
and tax advisory services was gained from his various positions in
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu from February 2002 to June 2009. Mr. Lo
was the financial controller of Hanyu China Holdings Limited from
June 2009 to October 2013, and Sino Grandness Food Industry
Group Limited (stock code: T4B, a company listed on the Singapore
Stock Exchange), from November 2013 to February 2015.

Mr. Lo received a degree of Bachelor of Arts (Honour) in Accounting
from the Manchester Metropolitan University in Manchester, United
Kingdom in June 2001. He was admitted as a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in May 2014, the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants in September
2017, and CPA Australia in July 2022. He has been appointed
as a co-opted member of the Moderation Sub-groups under the
Qualification and Examinations Board (“QEB”) of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants for the years 2019 and
2020 and a board member of QEB for the years 2021 and 2022.

Mr. Lo is currently an independent non-executive director of
Novacon Technology Group Limited (stock code: 8635), a company
listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange since March 2019, and Daido
Group Limited (stock code: 0544), a company listed on Main Board
of the Stock Exchange since May 2023. Mr. Lo was an independent
non-executive director of Dragon Rise Group Holdings Limited (stock
code: 6829), a company listed on the Main Board, from January
2018 to September 2021.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Lo does not hold any directorship in any
public companies the securities of which are listed on any securities
markets in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years or any
other position with the Company and other members of the Group
or have other major appointments and professional qualifications.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Pang Yuk (¥8), aged 37, joined the Group as a financial
controller in July 2021 and was promoted as the Group Financial
Controller in January 2024. Mr. Pang has more than nine years
of experience in accounting, corporate finance, compliance and
company secretarial work. Mr. Pang joined Shenzhen Zhongzhuang
Construction Group Co., Ltd. (RINTHEZREBRGBRA
A]), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock
code: 002822.57) from April 2014 to December 2018 with his last
position as assistant general manager of overseas division. Mr. Pang
worked at Shenzhen Zhongzhuang Construction Investment Holding
Group Company Limited* (RYITHEZRREEREEFRA
7)) from January 2019 to March 2020 W|th his last position as chief
investment officer — overseas division.

Mr. Pang obtained his degree of Bachelor of Commerce in Corporate
Finance and degree of Master of Commerce in Accounting at the
University of Adelaide, Australia in December 2008 and December
2009 respectively.

Mr. Pang has been a Certified Public Accountant Australia since 5
July 2013.

Mr. Lui Siu Fung (& Jk#£), aged 44, joined the Group since April
2017. Mr. Lui has more than five years of experience in passive fire
protection works. Mr. Lui joined Easy Smart Engineering as a site
foreman in April 2017. He was promoted to the position as the
Group's assistant project manager on 1 February 2018 and was
further promoted to the position of the Group’s project manager
on 4 February 2020 and was promoted as the Project Director in
January 2024.

Mr. Lui obtained a certificate of graduation for secondary education
in Canada in June 1998 and has completed a course in elementary
(metal work) manual metal arc weld-polishing crash course
organised by the Hong Kong Federation of Trade Union Spare
Time Study Centre and the Hong Kong Plumbing General Union in
December 2016.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Lui was an account executive at CITIC
Securities International Company Limited from February 2011 to
April 2017.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Leung Hoi Ki (&), aged 36, has been appointed as the
company secretary on 12 April 2023. He is primarily responsible for
the company secretarial matters of the Group. Mr. Leung received
a degree of Bachelor of Business Administration in Accountancy
from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in October 2011.
Mr. Leung was admitted as a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountant in March 2015. He has over 11 years
of accounting experience. From September 2011 to May 2014,
he was employed by BDO Limited, with his last position being a
senior associate of the Assurance Department. From June 2014 to
November 2014, Mr. Leung worked as a senior accountant at the
assurance department of Ernst & Young. From December 2014 to
January 2017, he was employed by KPMG with his last position
being a manager. Mr. Leung has been the company secretary of
Dragon Rise Group Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main
Board (stock code: 6829) since March 2017.
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Report of Directors

ESEWE

The Board is pleased to present this report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
30 June 2024 (the "Consolidated Financial Statements”).

CORPORATE INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited
liability on 7 September 2021. The Company is domiciled in Hong
Kong and has a principal place of business at Unit A, 10/F, Ming Tak
Centre, 135-137 Tung Chau Street, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries during the year
ended 30 June 2024 are set out in Note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements. There were no significant changes in the nature
of the Group’s principal activities during the year ended 30 June
2024.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

Details of segment reporting are set out in Note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review and outlook of the Group for the year ended
30 June 2024 are set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 6 to 15 of this annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2024 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 74 of this annual report.
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DIVIDENDS AND DIVIDEND POLICY

During the year ended 30 June 2024, the Company did not declare
interim dividend for the six months ended 31 December 2023 (2023:
nil).

The Board recommended the payment of a Final Dividend of
HK$0.172 per Share in cash, totaling approximately HK$70,176,000
for the year ended 30 June 2024 (2023: nil). The proposed dividend
payment is subject to the approval by the Shareholders at the AGM
and is payable in Hong Kong Dollars. Such Final Dividend will not
be subject to any withholding tax. Upon the Shareholders’ approval,
the proposed final dividend is expected to be paid on Thursday, 5
December 2024 to Shareholders whose names shall appear on the
register of members of the Company on Wednesday, 20 November
2024.

The Company has adopted a dividend policy, which aims to set out
the approach with the objective of achieving right balance of the
amount of dividend, the amount of profits and sufficient capital
retained in the business for various purposes. The dividend policy
is to provide relatively steady dividend payout ratio, linked to the
Group's operating results, earnings performance and cash flow
position as well as the business environment and development.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The AGM of the Company will be held in Hong Kong on Monday,
11 November 2024. The notice of the AGM will be published in
the Company’s website and despatched to the shareholders of the
Company in the manner as required by the Listing Rules in due
course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

To ascertain the identity of the Shareholders who will be entitled
to attend and vote at the AGM, the register of members of the
Company will be closed from Wednesday, 6 November 2024 to
Monday, 11 November 2024, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to establish
entitlements of attending and voting at the AGM of the Company
to be held on Monday, 11 November 2024, all completed transfer
forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer
office in Hong Kong, Boardroom Share Registrars (HK) Limited, at
2103B, 21st Floor, 148 Electric Road, North Point, Hong Kong for
registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 5 November 2024.
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Subject to the approval of the shareholders at the AGM approving
the payment of the final dividend, to ascertain the entitlement of
the final dividend of the shareholders, the register of members will
be closed from Monday, 18 November 2024 to Wednesday, 20
November 2024, the period during which no transfer of shares will
be effected. In order to qualify for receiving the final dividend, all
completed share transfer documents accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch
register in Hong Kong, Boardroom Share Registrars (HK) Limited at
the above address not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 15 November
2024.

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s financial condition, results of operation, business and
prospects may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties.
The followings are the key risk and uncertainties identified by the
Group relating to the Group’s business:

We had a concentration of customers

During the years ended 30 June 2024 and 2023, a significant
portion of the Group’s revenue was derived from a limited number
of customers. For each of the years ended 30 June 2024 and 2023,
the Group's largest customer in 2024 and 2023 accounted for
approximately 36.0% and 32.8% while the Group's five largest
customers in aggregate accounted to approximately 86.0% and
82.1% of the Group's revenue, respectively.

There is no assurance that we will be continue to obtain contracts
from the Group’s major customers and that the Group will be
able to maintain the relationships with them in future. If there is a
significant decrease in the number of projects awarded by the major
customers, the relationship with them deteriorate and the Group
is unable to secure suitable projects of comparable size, quantity
or gross profit margin as replacements from other customers, the
financial condition and operating results of the Group may be
materially and adversely affected.

The Group's revenue was typically derived from projects which are
non-recurrent in nature and there is no guarantee that the Group's
customers will award new projects to the Group in the future.

For the years ended 30 June 2024 and 2023, we generally derived
our revenue from projects which are recurrent in nature. As such,
there is no assurance that the Group will be able to secure new
contracts in the future. Accordingly, the number and scale of
projects and the amount of revenue the Group is able to derive
therefrom may vary significantly from period to period and it may
be difficult to forecast the volume of future business. In the event
that the Group fails to secure new contracts or there is a significant
decrease in the number of tender invitations or contracts available
for bidding in the future, the business, financial position and
prospect of the Group would be materially and adversely affected.
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Materially inaccurate cost estimates at the tendering
stage or cost overruns may adversely affect financial
results

When determining the pricing of the services provided by the
Group for the purpose of tenders or quotations, the Group takes
into account the major factors, including (i) scope of services,
specifications by customers and complexity of the projects; (ii) project
location and area of coverage; (iii) work schedule; (iv) relationship
with the customer; (v) the estimated costs of procuring materials
and engaging subcontractors; (vi) prevailing market rates; and (vii)
the budget and determination of a reasonable profit margin.

There is no assurance that the actual amount of time and costs
incurred during the implementation stage of the projects would
not exceed the initial estimation of the costs of the projects at
the tendering stage particularly as a result of any variation orders
requested by the customers during the course of the projects. The
actual amount of time and costs incurred during the implementation
stage may be adversely affected by factors including changes in
design, delay due to the work of other contractors involved in the
projects, unforeseen site conditions, adverse weather conditions,
accidents, non-performance by the subcontractors and unexpected
significant increase in costs of materials agreed to be borne by the
Group.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years, as set out on pages 155 and 156 of
this report, are extracted from this report and the Prospectus.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 30 June 2024 are set out in Note 13 to
the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

The Company’s total issued share capital as at 30 June 2024 was
408,000,000 ordinary Shares of par value HK$0.01 per Share. As at
the date of this annual report, the share capital of the Company was
408,000,000 ordinary Shares of HK$0.01 per Share.

Details of movements during the year ended 30 June 2024 in
the share capital of the Company are set out in Note 25 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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DEBENTURES
The Company did not issue any debenture during the year ended 30

June 2024 (2023: nil).

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the year
ended 30 June 2024 are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 77 of this annual report.

As at 30 June 2024, the Group has reserves amounted to
approximately HK$288.6 million available for distribution (2023:
approximately HK$252.8 million).

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

As at 30 June 2024, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to the Shareholders are approximately HK$80.3 million
(2023: HK$83.4 million) as calculated in accordance with statutory
provisions applicable in the Cayman Islands.

DIRECTORS
The Directors who held office for the Year up to the date of this

annual report are:

Executive Directors
Mr. Ng Wing Woon Dave (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Ng Wing Shing

Independent non-executive Directors
Professor Pong Kam Keung

Ms. Cheng Shing Yan

Mr. Lo Chi Wang

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT

Each of the Directors has entered into a contract for appointment
with the Company for a term of years commencing from the Listing
Date unless terminated by not less than one month’s notice in
writing served by either party on the other.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, including those to
be re-elected at the forth coming AGM has a service contract with
the Company which is not determinable within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received annual confirmation of independence
from each of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant
to the Listing Rules. The Company considers the independent
non-executive Directors to be independent pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than the appointment contracts and employment
contracts, concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year ended 30 June 2024.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTEREST
IN SECURITIES

As at 30 June 2024, the interest and short positions of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company in the Shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or any of the associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong
(the “SFO")) which have been notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including any interest or short positions which they are taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, have been entered in the
register referred to therein, or have been, pursuant to the Model
Code, notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange were as
follow:
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(i) Long position in the Shares (i) RBRONHER
Number of

Shares held/ Percentage of

Name of Director Capacity/Nature of Interest interested shareholding
BE/BEER

BEEpE B REEME R BB BFRESH

Mr. Ng Wing Woon Dave (Note) Interest in controlled corporation 306,000,000 75%

RS (FEE) iNE e N

Note: The 306,000,000 Shares are held by Lofty Profit Investments
Limited. Mr. Ng Wing Woon Dave beneficially owns the entire
issued share capital of Lofty Profit Investments Limited, which in turn
beneficially owns 75% shareholding in the Company. Therefore,
Mr. Dave Ng is deemed to be interested in the same number of
Shares in which Lofty Profit Investments Limited is interested in for
the purpose of the SFO. Mr. Ng Wing Woon Dave is the chairman,
the chief executive officer, an executive Director and the chairman
of the Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Ng Wing Woon
Dave is also the director of Lofty Profit Investments Limited.
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(ii) Long position in the ordinary shares of associated
corporation

(i) REBEZEEERNER

Number of
Name of associated  Capacity/ Shares held/ Percentage of
Name of Director corporation Nature interested  shareholding
BE/BAEER
BEEps BB EE AR B EEtE R & E BFRESE
Mr. Ng Wing Woon Dave  Lofty Profit Investments Beneficial owner 100 100%
Limited
REMzTHE RRRERRAQF EnfBA

Substantial shareholders’ interests and short positions
in Shares and underlying Shares

As at 30 June 2024, so far as is known to the Directors, the
following persons (not being a Director or chief executive of the
Company) had interest or short position in Shares or underlying
Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the
Stock Exchange under the provision of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO or as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to the Section 336 of the SFO, or which would
be directly or indirectly interested in 5% or more of the nominal
value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all
circumstances at general meetings of the Company or any other
members of the Group.
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Number of
Shares held/ Percentage of
Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of Interest interested shareholding
BEEERER
RERHEE B REEME R4 BB FRESH
Ms. Wong Kwai Ying (Note) Interest of a spouse 306,000,000 75%
Tt () FoiBtEss
Lofty Profit Investments Limited Beneficial owner 306,000,000 75%

RERERR QR EmERA

Note: Ms. Wong Kwai Ying is the spouse of Mr. Ng Wing Woon Dave.
Accordingly, Ms. Wong Kwai Ying is deemed, or taken to be interested
in all 306,000,000 Shares in which Mr. Ng Wing Woon Dave has, or is
deemed to have, an interest for the purpose of the SFO.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2024, the Directors were not
aware of any person or corporation (other than the Directors and
the chief executives) who had any interest or short position in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3
or Part XV of the SFO, or pursuant to section 336 of the SFO, which
would have to be recorded in the register referred to therein.

ARRANGEMENTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the paragraph headed “Directors’ and
chief executive’s interest in securities” above and the paragraph
headed “Share Option Scheme” below, at no time for the year
were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares
in or debentures of the Company granted to any Director or their
respective spouse or children under 18 years of age, or were any
such rights exercised by them; or was the Company, its holdings
company, or/and any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors, or their respective
spouse or children under 18 years of age, to acquire such rights by
means of the acquisition of Shares in or debentures of the Company
of any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS'
INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as those disclosed under the section headed “Connected
transactions/Continuing connected transactions” below and
those disclosed in the “Related Party Disclosures” in Note 29 to
the consolidated financial statements, there were no transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance, to which the company,
any of its subsidiaries, its parent company, or its parent company’s
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director of any entity
connected with a Director had a material interest, whether directly
and indirectly, subsisted as at 30 June 2024 or any time during the
year ended 30 June 2024, nor was there any other transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance in relation to the Group's
business between the Company or any of the Company’s
subsidiaries and a controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Restated Articles of the Company, every Directors
shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or
about the execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in
relation thereto.

The Company has maintained appropriate directors’ and officers’
liability insurance in respect of legal actions against them arising out
of corporate activities and such permitted indemnity provision for
the benefit of the Directors currently in force.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS
For the year ended 30 June 2024, the aggregate purchase

attributable to the Group's largest supplier (not being subcontractor)
and the five largest suppliers in aggregate accounted for
approximately 7.2% and 21.7% (2023: approximately 9.1% and
22.4%) respectively of the Group’s total purchases for the year
ended 30 June 2024. The aggregate purchase attributable to the
Group's largest subcontractor and the five largest subcontractors in
aggregate accounted for approximately 7.4% and 30.2% (2023:
approximately 13.7% and 33.5%) respectively of the Group’s total
purchases for the year ended 30 June 2024. Revenue attributable
to the Group’s largest customers and the five largest customers in
aggregate accounted for approximately 36.0% and 86.0% (2023:
approximately 32.8% and 82.9%) respectively of the Group's total
revenue for the year ended 30 June 2024.

Mr. Ng Wing Woon Dave, the beneficial owner of Lofty Profit
Investments Limited, which in turn owns 75% of the issued Shares of
the Company holds 20% Shares in Goldin Innovation Development
Company Limited which in turn owns 99% interests in Dongguan
Tanda Co., Ltd. during the year ended 30 June 2024 and as at the
date of this report.

Save and except the above, to the best of the Directors’ knowledge,
none of the Directors, their those associates (as defined in the Listing
Rules) or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
Directors, owns more than 5% of the number of issued shares capital
of the Company) had an interest in the Group’s five largest suppliers
or customers.
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KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS AND SUB-CONTRACTORS
Employees

The Group considers its employees the key to sustainable business
growth and also recognises its employees as its valuable assets. Further,
in light of the shortage of skilled labour in the local construction
industry, it is crucial to maintain a competitive remuneration package
and fringe benefits for the Group’s potential and existing employees.
In this regard, the Group provides comprehensive remuneration
package includes salary, discretionary bonuses and other cash
subsidies to attract, motivate and retain appropriate and suitable
employees to serve the Group. In general, the Group determines
employee salaries based on each employee’s qualifications, position
and seniority. The Group has designed an annual review system to
assess the performance of the Group’s employees, which forms the
basis of the Group's decisions with respect to salary raises, bonuses
and promotions. The Group also provides on-the-job training
and development opportunities to enhance its employees’ career
development and learning.

Customers

The Group are aware of the risk of customer concentration, and
sought to reduce the reliance on major customer by undertaking
more sizable projects for other customers.

The Group believes that, we have maintained a close relationship
with the Group's major customers and it is also the Group's priority
to work with reputable customers, which in turn tend to undertake
sizeable projects. Working with these customers can allow the
Group to secure future business opportunities with them and bolster
the Group's job reference.

Besides that, the Group has no intention to limit the Group to serve
the Group's major customers and, with the Group's presence in the
industry, the Group believes that we are able to extend the Group's
services to other customers.

As such, the Group is of the view that, despite the customer
concentration, the Group's business model is sustainable.
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Suppliers and Sub-Contractors

The Group has developed stable and strong working relationships
with suppliers and sub-contractors to meet the Group’s customers’
needs in an effective and efficient manner. The Group works closely
with the suppliers and sub-contractors to make sure the tendering,
procurement and sub-contracting are conducted in an open, fair
and just manner. The Group’s requirements and standards are also
well communicated to them before the commencement of projects.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group’s operations at work sites are subject to certain
environmental requirements pursuant to the laws of Hong Kong.
The laws and regulations which have a significant impact on the
Group include, among others, Air Pollution Control Ordinance
(Chapter 311 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Noise Control Ordinance
(Chapter 400 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Water Pollution Control
Ordinance (Chapter 358 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Waste Disposal
Ordinance (Chapter 354 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Waste Disposal
(Charges for Disposal of Construction Waste) Regulation.

In order to comply with the applicable environmental protection
laws, the Group's major operating subsidiary, Easy Smart Engineering
Limited, had implemented an environmental management system
which was certified to be in compliance with the standard required
under ISO 14001:2015 since June 2024. Apart from following the
environmental protection policies formulated and required by the
Group’s customers, we have also established an environmental
management policy to ensure proper management of environmental
protection and compliance of environmental laws and regulations
by both the Group’s employees and workers of the subcontractors
on, among others, air pollution, noise control and waste disposal.
During the year ended 30 June 2024, we did not incur any material
costs on environmental compliance.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year ended 30 June 2024, as far as the Board and
the management are aware, there was no material breach of or
non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the
Group that has material impact on the business and operation of the
Group.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that was publicly available and with the
knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual report, the
Company has maintained the prescribed minimum public float for its
shares as required under the Listing Rules for the Year and up to the
date of this annual report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

No purchase, sale or redemption of the Company’s listed securities
was made by the Company or any of its subsidiaries for the Year.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

In order to avoid any possible competition between the Group and
the controlling shareholders, each of Mr. Ng Wing Woon Dave, and
Lofty Profit Investments Limited as controlling shareholders entered
into a deed of non-competition with the Company (for itself and as
trustee for subsidiaries of the Group) on 12 April 2023. Pursuant to
the deed of non-competition, each of the controlling shareholders
has irrevocably and unconditionally undertaken to the Company (for
itself and as trustee for its subsidiaries) that, as long as the deed on
non-competition remains effective, he/it shall not, and shall procure
his or its close associates (other than any member of the Group)
not to develop, acquire, invest in, participate in, carry on or be
engaged, concerned or interested or otherwise be involved, whether
on its own account or with each other or in conjunction with or on
behalf of any person or company or otherwise, the development,
participation, management and operation of any existing business
which in competition with or likely to be in competition, whether
directly or directly, with the existing business activity of any member
of the Group or such other business activity the Group may engage
from time to time in future.

The controlling shareholders have confirmed to the Company of
their compliance with the deed of non-competition dated 12 April
2023 for the Year for disclosure in this annual report.

All the independent non-executive Directors are delegated with
the authority to review the deed of non-competition given by
the controlling shareholders. The independent non-executive
Directors were not aware of any non-compliance of the deed of
non-competition for the Year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

The Directors confirm that neither the controlling shareholders
of the Company nor their respective close associates (as defined
in the Listing Rules) is interested in a business apart from the
Group's business which competes or is likely to compete, directly or
indirectly, with the Group’s business during the year ended 30 June
2024 and up to the date of this annual report, and is required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

APPOINTMENT AND INTERESTS OF THE
COMPLIANCE ADVISER

Pursuant to Rule 3A.19 of the Listing Rules, the Company appointed
Grande Capital Limited as the Group’s compliance adviser (the
“Compliance Adviser”) for the term commencing from the Listing
Date and ending on the date of the first full financial year of the
Company after the Listing Date. The Compliance Adviser was also
the sole sponsor, one of the joint overall coordinators and one
of the joint bookrunners, joint lead managers and capital market
intermediaries of the Company for the purpose of the Listing.

As advised by the Compliance Adviser, as at 30 June 2024, save for
the compliance adviser agreement entered into with the Compliance
Adviser dated 15 October 2021 for the appointment of the
Compliance Adviser, none of the Compliance Adviser or its directors,
employees or close associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had
any interests in the share capital of the Company or in any member
of the Group (including options or rights to subscribe for any
securities (if any)) which is required to be notified to the Company
pursuant to the Listing Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken in the
normal course of business by the Group are set out in Note 29
to the consolidated financial statements. Those related party
transactions which constituted connected transactions/continuing
connected transactions under the Listing Rules are set out in the
paragraph headed “Connected transactions/Continuing connected
transactions” below. The Company has complied with the
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of
these connected transactions/continuing connected transactions.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS/CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

One-off Connected Transactions

During the year ended 30 June 2024, the Group had not entered
into any non-exempt one-off connected transactions which were
subject to the reporting, annual review, announcement and/or
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing

Rules.

Continuing Connected Transactions
During the year ended 30 June 2024, the Group conducted the
following continuing connected transactions:

1. Master Purchase Agreement

Date of agreement:
IZE A=

Parties of the agreement:

LEDEVIE

Term:

FH

Transaction nature:

XML

Notes:

BREXS HEBEXS

—RERERS

BEZ-_MFAAA=THLFE K&
I EI/EEST ETARBITET Z 8
W FEEM - DER B R R
HMEZIEERE—RMEBERS -

BERERS
BHE-_ZT-_NMEXA=ZF+HILEFE K&

BEETATRERERS

1.

14 April 2023

HMERBIHE

—E-=FPNA+IH

(@  Easy Smart Engineering Limited as purchaser

@ TMHEIRERARER/ET)

(b)  Tanda International Company Limited, Greatec
Engineering Limited, Warwick Building Material
Limited, Goldin Innovation Development
Company Limited and Dongguan Tanda Co., Ltd.
(Notes 1-5) as sellers/suppliers

(b) REMEEEBEERAA ERIEERAA -
MaEMARLR - BAREEREERAA K
REmARELSERAR (KMt 125) ERE
7/ BLRER)

commencing from 9 May 2023 (i.e. the Listing Date)
and ending on 30 June 2025
H-E_=FRANBB TR EE-_F_F

FRA=THIE

purchase of fire protection materials and components

BREBRD A R i A

1. Tanda International Company Limited was incorporated on 7 April
2004 in Hong Kong with limited liability and has been principally
engaged in trading of fire protection materials during the year
ended 30 June 2024. During the year ended 30 June 2024, Tanda
International Company Limited was held as to 70% by Mr. Ng
Ching Ho, father of Mr. Ng Wing Woon Dave and Mr. Ng Wing
Shing, and 30% by an independent third party. Tanda International
Company Limited is a connected person of the Company under the

Listing Rules.
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2. Greatec Engineering Limited was incorporated on 20 September 2. ERIRERAAAR-ZEZTNF
2004 in Hong Kong with limited liability and has been principally NAZ+RERBEMKIHER
engaged in the trading of fire protection materials during the DA REBEE_Z-_MNFEA=1H
year ended 30 June 2024. During the year ended 30 June 2024, IFFEXTERBEEHAME - RE
Greatec Engineering Limited was held as to 70% by Mr. Ng Wing EZTNFAAZTHILEFE =
Chi Johnny, brother of Mr. Ng Wing Woon Dave and Mr. Ng Wing FIRBRAFHRET L E(RE
Shing, and 30% by an independent third party. Greatec Engineering MEERREBREENILD) K—F
Limited is a connected person of the Company under the Listing BULE =D R FFBE70%X30%%H
Rules. e ERIEERAFRE EMER

ABRAREEAT -

3. Warwick Building Material Limited was incorporated on 9 3 NAREMERRAAABR_ZTRHEF
September 2005 in Hong Kong with limited liability and has been NANBEEEIMALHNERA
principally engaged in general trading during the year ended 30 Al REE-T-NFAA=THL
June 2024. During the year ended 30 June 2024, Mr. Ng Ching Ho, FEFERE—RES - REE=ZT
father of Mr. Ng Wing Woon, Dave became the sole shareholder of ZHEARA=TRHIEFE  RENE
Warwick Building Material Limited since September 2023. Warwick F(REBEENRXBF) BT ==
Building Material Limited was considered a “deemed connected FNARKAMEENM AR AR
person” of the Company under Rule 14A.20 of the Listing Rules H—IRE - MmEMBRAFIRE L
and subsequently has became a connected person of the Company 5 B 14A 201648 RN A B [1R1E
since Mr. Ng Ching Ho became the sole shareholder of Warwick BEALT] ARRBALTEEKA
Building Material Limited. MESEMBR AR —RR - Ft

M EM AR AT AR FEE
At

4. Goldin Innovation Development Company Limited was incorporated 4 BB BRERERAAAN_-ZT
on 16 March 2016 in Hong Kong with limited liability and has been —RNE=ZA+ABEEBFEMRTL
principally engaged in general trading during the year ended 30 WAERAR  REE_ZT_MFA
June 2024. During the year ended 30 June 2024, Goldin Innovation “THEFEFEREZ—RED - R
Development Company Limited was held as to 20% by Mr. Ng HE_ZZWFAA=THIEFE -
Wing Woon Dave and 80% by three independent third parties. BRI EERAER AR ARKIERE
Mr. Ng Wing Woon Dave is also one of the four directors. Goldin ER=ZBFIE=FHANFEE20%
Innovation Development Company Limited is considered a “deemed N80% s o REM ST E N ATRHAR
connected person” of the Company pursuant to Rule 14A.20 of the BRONEEE, — - BHAREERE
Listing Rules. RN AR IR B 4R RIS 14A.201K 38

RAQRRIEMEAL]

5. Dongguan Tanda Co., Ltd. was established on 26 June 2019 in 5 REMAERSAERRAAANRCE
the People’s Republic of China with limited liability and has been —NFRA-_+TRBEREARHS
principally engaged in trading of metal components during the MBI BRAR  REBEE_T
year ended 30 June 2024. During the year ended 30 June 2024, “HEAA=TRALFEFERS
Dongguan Tanda Co., Ltd. was held as to 99% by Goldin Innovation EESBRE -REE_T_MFX
Development Company Limited and 1% by an independent third A=1TRILEFE REMRKEREE
party. Hence, Dongguan Tanda Co., Ltd. is a subsidiary of Goldin RARBAMAMEERARARR
Innovation Development Company Limited is considered a “deemed —EBILE=TDAFEI% K%
connected person” of the Company pursuant to Rule 14A.20 of the Bwm MREMRERSERIGA
Listing Rules. BRI ERERANMEAR -

WAR IR 70 48 RSB 14A 200618 B R
RAIEIEEEANL] -
Aggregate Aggregate
annual cap transaction
amount for the amount for the
year ended year ended

Connected parties Nature of transactions 30 June 2024 30 June 2024

BE-Z-_MF BRE-ZFT_-_MOF

ANB=+HI ANB=t+HIL

FEZFE FEZ

BEAL REME EIR#ZE RSB
HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Tanda International Company Limited, Purchases of fire protection 9,000 2,820

Greatec Engineering Limited, Warwick
Building Material Limited, Goldin
Innovation Development Company
Limited and Dongguan Tanda Co., Ltd.
REMBBEBRER LR - FHEIRE
NA > MamEMBRAF
MR ERAR AR RR
EhR AR

materials and components
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Listing Rules implications on the Master Purchase
Agreement

Since the terms and nature of the Master Purchase Agreement
are substantially the same and the counterparties and/or the
ultimate beneficial owners of the counterparties under the
Master Purchase Agreement are connected persons or deemed
connected persons of the Company pursuant to Rule 14A of
the Listing Rules, the transactions contemplated under the
Master Purchase Agreement constitute continuing connected
transactions of the Company and should be aggregated
pursuant to the Listing Rules.

Since the highest applicable percentage ratio (other than
the profits ratio) under the Listing Rules in respect of the
Master Purchase Agreement, when aggregated as a series of
transaction for the years ended 30 June 2023, and for the year
ending 30 June 2024 and 2025 calculated for the purpose
of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules exceeded or expected
to exceed 5% but below 25% and the annual aggregated
transaction amount will be less than HK$10 million, the
transactions contemplated under the Master Purchase
Agreement will constitute continuing connected transactions
of the Company subject to annual reporting requirements
under Rule 14A.49 and Rule 14A.71 of the Listing Rules
and the announcement requirement under Rule 14A.35 of
the Listing Rules but will be exempt from the independent
Shareholders’ approval requirement under Rule 14A.76 of the
Listing Rules.

Upon the Company’s application for the Listing, the Company
has applied to the Stock Exchange for, and the Stock
Exchange has granted, a waiver to the Company under Rule
14A.105 of the Listing Rules from strict compliance with the
announcement requirement under Rule 14A.35 in respect
of the transactions contemplated under the Master Purchase
Agreement, provided that the total transaction for each of the
years ending 30 June 2023, 2024 and 2025 will not exceed
the aggregate annual cap of HK$9.0 million.
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2. Employment agreement with Ms. Wong Kwai Ying 2. BHEFIHZuzt+i VN EEHS

Date of agreement: 9 May 2023

ZEA=RE —ZE=FHhANH

Parties of the agreement: (@)  Easy Smart Engineering Limited as employer
BT H 77 @@ MBEIRERIFAUESEE)

(b)  Wong Kwai Ying (Note) as employee
by EE&MF) ERREE)

Term: commencing from 9 May 2023 (i.e. the Listing Date)
and ending on 30 June 2025
FH H-E_=FEANB (A LTRAHALE-_T_A
f'E/\ H :+ El _IJ:
Transaction nature: Employment of Wong Kwai Ying as the Group'’s
secretary
ZHMHE ERIEZEA/AEBRMWE
Note: Ms. Wong Kwai Ying is the spouse of Mr. Ng Wing Woon Dave and BT E&%ﬁi?%%%@?ﬁiﬁ@ﬁﬂ{% ’
thus a connected person of the Company under Rule 14A.12(2)(a) it ARR EWARRIZE14A12(2)) 15
of the Listing Rules. She has been a secretary of the Group since BRARAHNBEAL - BE-F
1 January 2018 and has been responsible for providing secretarial —NF-A-BRETAEELE
support to the Group. AERAASEERBWESLE -
Annual cap Transaction
amount for the amount for the
year ended year ended
Connected party Nature of transaction 30 June 2024 30 June 2024

BE-ZT-MF HE-T-MNF
ANA=+HL ANA=+HL

FEZFE FEZ
BEAL REME tRE®E REEH
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET
Wong Kwai Ying Employment as the Group's 450 450
secretary
T XE/AEEWE
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3. Employment agreement with Ms. Lim Ming Ngar 3.

Date of agreement:
iEA=E

Parties of the agreement:
BT H 77

Term:

FH

Transaction nature:

RHME -

9 May 2023

B2 AR BA M 22 + 5] U MY E R HHh R

—E-=FRAANH

(@)  Easy Smart Engineering Limited as employer

=

(a

(b)
(b)

BETIRERAR (ERREE)

Lim Ming Ngar (Note) as employee
AR (BE) (tERER)

commencing from 9 May 2023 (i.e. the Listing Date)
and ending on 30 June 2025
H-_ZT_=FHAANR (B ETmEMEE_ZT_F

FRA=THILE

Employment of Lim Ming Ngar as the Group's senior
administrative manager

EAMPARESARESRITHEE

Note: Ms. Lim Ming Ngar is the mother of Mr. Ng Wing Woon Dave and
Mr. Ng Wing Shing and thus a connected person of the Company
under Rule 14A.12(2)(a) of the Listing Rules. She is a director of
E-Build Technology Limited (an indirect wholly owned subsidiary
of the Group) and has been a director of Easy Smart Engineering
Limited up to September 2021. Ms. Lim Ming Ngar serves the
Group by overseeing the Group’s overall general administration and

operation of the Group.

Mist: ML LT RRAKBRELERRERE
AR - Bt REBELTRAE
14A12Q2)(@)% » 18 B A R~ R # B &
At BERAEEREZENE QA
MEMBERARMNES I —E#E
THEEIRBERAFGNESTFE_TF
T FNA - MARLTEEREEAR

SEEE—

MRITHTIERZE -

Annual cap Transaction
amount for the amount for the
year ended year ended
Connected party Nature of transaction 30 June 2024 30 June 2024
BE-_Z_NF BE-_Z-_NF
RA=tTHL RA=tTHL
FEZFE FEZ
BEAL REMHE tR&EE RBEHE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Lim Ming Ngar Employment as the Group's 250 250
senior administrative
manager
MREATE REATEH
= RITHAE R
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4. Employment agreement with Mr. Ng Wing Chi 4, BRBBEERETINERHZ
Johnny
Date of agreement: 9 May 2023
IEEIEEE —E-=FHhANH
Parties of the agreement: (@  Easy Smart Engineering Limited as employer
EEENE (@ BREIRAERARGERET)

(b)  Ng Wing Chi Johnny (Note) as employee
by R&EB W7 EREER)

Term: commencing from 9 May 2023 (i.e. the Listing Date)
and ending on 30 June 2025

FH H-ZE_=FRANB AN LHHEMBE-_T -1
fF/\ ﬂ :+ El _U:

Transaction nature: Employment of Ng Wing Chi Johnny as the Group’s
senior quantity surveyor manager

RHME ERREE/AEE RIS AL

Note: Mr. Ng Wing Chi Johnny is the brother of Mr. Ng Wing Woon
Dave and Mr. Ng Wing Shing and thus a connected person of the
Company under Rule 14A.12(2)(a) of the Listing Rules. He has been
an assistant project manager of the Group since May 2003 and
a senior quality surveyor manager since April 2017. Mr. Ng Wing
Chi Johnny has been responsible for conducting costs analysis,
ascertaining quantities and handling payment applications for the
Group. Mr. Ng Wing Chi Johnny is a shareholder and a director of
one of the Group's suppliers, Greatec Engineering Limited.

M RREELERREBREERREKE

SRS Bt BRI ETHAE
T4AN2(2)(@) 5 - 18 73 78 1% ] #Y) B i

T RE-_ET=FHAR—EE
EAEEGEEALE IR _F
— L FHATFES R E A&
BB REBEE-HREARAE
BETRADN - HEHEREEN
PR REBEERAEEES—
AHEHERETIREZRRQAANBKRE
RE=S-

Annual cap Transaction
amount for the amount for the
year ended year ended
Connected party Nature of transaction 30 June 2024 30 June 2024
BE-Z-NF BE-ZT-OF
ARA=THL ARA=THL
FEZFE FEZ
BEALT XEME LREH RECHE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Ng Wing Chi Johnny Employment as the Group's 550 550
senior quantity surveyor
manager
RER REA/AEEZRIEDA
BAbAEE
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Listing Rules implications on the Employment
agreement with Wong Kwai Ying, the Employment
agreement with Lim Ming Ngar and the
Employment agreement with Ng Wing Chi Johnny
Since the terms and nature of the Employment agreement
with Wong Kwai Ying, the Employment agreement with Lim
Ming Ngar and the Employment agreement with Ng Wing
Chi Johnny are substantially the same, and Ms. Wong Kwai
Ying, Ms. Lim Ming Ngar and Mr. Ng Wing Chi Johnny are
family members and are connected persons of each other,
the transactions completed under the Employment agreement
with Wong Kwai Ying, the Employment agreement with Lim
Ming Ngar and the Employment agreement with Ng Wing Chi
Johnny should be aggregated pursuant to the Listing Rules.

Since all the applicable percentage ratios (other than the
profits ratio) for the Employment agreement with Wong Kwai
Ying, the Employment agreement with Lim Ming Ngar and
the Employment agreement with Ng Wing Chi Johnny are
less than 5% and the total consideration is less than HK$3
million, the Employment agreement with Wong Kwai Ying,
the Employment agreement with Lim Ming Ngar and the
Employment agreement with Ng Wing Chi Johnny are fully
exempt under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

EASY SMART GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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5. Tenancy Agreements

The Group has entered into three tenancy agreements
respectively with Mr. Ng Wing Woon Dave, Mr. Ng Wing
Chi Johnny and Ms. Lim Ming Ngar for the following landed
properties in Hong Kong, details of the tenancy agreements

5. HEW=R
AEBEOREIKREE  RE
BRERMARTEL L] T IR E
BHMEMEITL=HEEHH
BRAHEEBZRNFBHINAT

are set out as follows:
Approximate
Date of tenancy size of Total rental under
agreement Property address Parties property the tenancy ~ Term of tenancy Actual usage
HEBHAS Wy B WEBHER HAETHESLAE #HE ERAR
(sq. ft.) (HKS)
(FAR) (B7)
25 May 2022 Factory E on 7 Floor of Landlord: 3,374.9 900,000 (inclusive of 1 June 2022 to Workshop and
Kingsway Industrial Building ~ Mr. Dave Ng government rates, 30 June 2024 warehouse
Phase Il, Nos. 167-175 Wo Yi government rent
Hop Road, Kwai Chung, New  Tenant: and management
Territories, Hong Kong Easy Smart Engineering fees) (i.e. HK$36,000
per month)
—T--F BEMRLR EEE 900000 ZE-ZF;A-BHE T5REE
BAZTHEA  MEABI6T-175% REBRE (BERRFE ZE-MERAZTA
SRIXRE WERERE)
2TFBER il (BN A36,000% 7T)
IR
25 May 2022 Factory F on 7" Floor of Landlord: 2,243.6 600,000 (inclusive of 1 June 2022 to Workshop and
Kingsway Industrial Building ~ Mr. Johnny Ng government rent 30 June 2024 warehouse
Phase Il, Nos. 167-175 Wo Yi and government
Hop Road, Kwai Chung, New  Tenant: rates but exclusive
Territories, Hong Kong Easy Smart Engineering of management
fees) (i.e. HK$24,000
per month)
—Z-CF BENRLR ¥x: 600000 =—T-ZFRF-BE T5REE
BAZTHEE  MEARBI6T-175% REBRE (BFEER ZE-MERAZTA
SHIEAE BZM
2HTFEFE i ETBEERE)
REIR (BN R24,000% )
25 May 2022 Factory G on 7" Floor of Landlord: 33723 850,000 (inclusive of 1 June 2022 to Workshop and
Kingsway Industrial Building ~ Ms. Lim Ming Ngar government rent 30 June 2024 warehouse
Phase I, Nos. 167-175 Wo Yi but exclusive of
Hop Road, Kwai Chung, New  Tenant: government rates
Territories, Hong Kong Easy Smart Engineering and management
fees) (i.e. HK$34,000
per month)
kSt 4 TENRELR EE 850,000 ZTZZ#7XA-HZE T5REE
RAZTHEE  MEABITEITSH MR L L (B4R “ECMERAZTHE
SHTIEAE e B EHAT
277 EGE ESE ERERE)
i (B0 A34,000%7T)
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Listing Rules implications on the Tenancy
Agreement with Mr. Ng Wing Woon Dave, the
Tenancy Agreement with Mr. Ng Wing Chi Johnny
and the Tenancy Agreement with Ms. Lim Ming
Ngar

As the landlords of the tenancy agreements are Mr. Ng Wing
Woon Dave, Mr. Ng Wing Chi Johnny and Ms. Lim Ming
Ngar are family members and are connected persons of
each other, the transactions contemplated under the three
tenancy agreements are required to be aggregated pursuant
to Rule 14.22 and Rule 14A.81 of the Listing Rules. As each
of the relevant percentage ratio calculated for the purpose of
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the aggregated
value of the right-of use was less than HK$3 million, the
relevant transactions would constitute de minimis connected
transactions under Rule 14A.74 of the Listing Rules and
would be fully exempt from the reporting, annual review,
announcement, circular and independent Shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Auditor letter on continuing connected transactions
The Company’s auditor, SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited, was
engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected
transactions in respect of the purchases of fire protection
materials and components under the Master Purchase
Agreement in accordance with Hong Kong Standard
on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note
740 "Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

The Company’s auditor has issued an unqualified letter
containing the auditor’s findings and conclusions in respect of
the continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group
in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

Confirmation of independent non-executive Directors
The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
above continuing connected transactions and confirmed that
these transactions have been entered into (i) in the ordinary
and usual course of business of the Group; (i) on normal
commercial terms or better or on terms no less favourable to
the Group than terms available to independent third parties
(as defined in the Listing Rules); and (iii) in accordance with
the relevant agreements governing them on terms that are fair
and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders of the
Company as a whole.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES
During the year ended 30 June 2024, the Group did not have
any significant investment held, any material acquisitions or
disposals of subsidiaries and associated companies apart from the
corporate reorganisation in relation to the Listing as disclosed in the
Prospectus.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to the written resolutions of the sole shareholder of the
Company on 12 April 2023, the Company adopted a share option
scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) with effect from 12 April
2023. The terms of the Share Option Scheme are in accordance with
the provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules and are summarized
in the Prospectus. The main purpose of the Share Option Scheme
is to motivate employees to optimize their performance efficiency
for the benefit of the Company, to attract and retain best available
personnel, to provide additional incentive to employees (full time or
part time), directors, consultants, advisers, distributors, contractors,
suppliers, agents, and service providers of the Group and to promote
success of the business of the Group.

The total number of Shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme is not permitted to exceed
10% of the Shares in issue at any point in time, without prior
approval from the Shareholders. The number of Shares issued and
to be issued in respect of which option granted and may be granted
to any individual in any one year is not permitted to exceed 1%
of the Shares in issue at any point in time, without prior approval
from the Shareholders. Options granted to substantial shareholders
or independent non-executive Directors or any of their respective
close associates (including a discretionary trust whose discretionary
objects include substantial shareholders, independent non-
executive Directors, or any of their respective close associates) in any
12-month period representing in aggregate in excess of 0.1% of
the Company’s shares in issue must be approved in advance by the
Shareholders.

Options granted must be taken up within seven business days
inclusive of the day on which such offer was made, upon payment
of HK$1 per option. Options may be exercised at any time during a
period as the Directors may determine which shall not exceed ten
years from the date of grant. The exercise price is determined by the
Directors, and will be at least the higher of (i) the closing price of the
Shares on the date of grant; and (i) the average of the closing prices
of the Shares for the five business days immediately preceding the
date of grant.

EXARE -EARBEIHER
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The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of
ten years commencing on the date of the adoption (i.e. 12 April
2023) and shall expire at the close of business on the business
day immediately preceding the tenth anniversary thereof unless
otherwise terminated earlier by the Shareholders in general meeting.

No share options had been granted under the Share Option Scheme
since the adoption of the Scheme. During the Year, no share option
has been granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed. As at the date of
this annual report, the total number of shares available for issue
under the Share Option Scheme was 40,800,000, representing 10%
of the entire issued share capital of the Company.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report relating to the Share Option
Scheme, no equity-linked agreements were entered into for the year
ended 30 June 2024.

BORROWINGS
There are no borrowings of the Group as at 30 June 2024 and 30

June 2023.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the amended and
restated memorandum and articles of association of the Company
and there was no restriction against such rights under the laws
of Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer
new Share on a pro-rata basis to the existing shareholders of the
Company.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefits schemes are set out in Note 26 to
the consolidated financial statements.

REMUNERATIONS OF THE DIRECTORS AND
THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the Directors’ remuneration and the five highest paid
individuals are set out in the Note 10 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management of the
Group are determined by the Remuneration Committee of the
Company with reference to their relevant qualifications, experience,
competence and the prevailing market conditions. None of the
Directors waived or agreed to waive any emoluments for the Year.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

In order to attract and retain high quality staff and to enable
smooth operation within the Group, the Group offered competitive
remuneration packages (with reference to market conditions and
individual qualification, position, seniority and experience) and
various in-house training courses. The Company has adopted share
option schemes as incentive to eligible employees, details of the
schemes are set out in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”.

Remuneration Committee is set up for reviewing the Group's
emolument policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors
and senior management of the Group, having regard to the Group's
operating results, individual performance of the Directors and senior
management and comparable market practices.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and five highest paid
individuals are set out in Note 10 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively. Details of the remuneration of senior
management by band are set out in Note 10 to the consolidated
financial statements. Details of the retirement benefit scheme are set
out in Note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining the highest standard
of corporate practices. Information on the corporate governance
practices adopted by the Company is set out in the section headed
“Corporate Governance Report” on pages 16 to 32 of this annual
report.

DISCLOSURES UNDER RULES 13.20 TO 13.22 OF
THE LISTING RULES

As at 30 June 2024, the Group had no circumstances which would
give rise to a disclosure obligation under Rule 13.20 to 13.22 of the
Listing Rules.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the audit committee on 12 April 2023
in accordance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules with the written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG code as set out in
Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules. The audit committee consists of
three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Professor Pong
Kam Keung, Ms. Cheng Shing Yan and Mr. Lo Chi Wang. Mr. Lo
Chi Wang currently serves as the Chairman of the audit committee.

The Audit Committee had reviewed, together with the management
and the Company’s auditor, SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited, the
accounting principles and policies adopted by the Group and the
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30
June 2024.

The Group's audited consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 30 June 2024 have been reviewed and approved by the
Audit Committee. The Audit Committee was of the opinion that the
preparation of such results complied with the applicable accounting
standards and requirements as well as the Listing Rules and that
adequate disclosures have been made.

AUDITORS

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu has been the auditor of the Company
for the years ended 30 June 2022 and 2023, and has resigned as
auditor of the Company with effect from 20 May 2024. Following
the resignation of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, SHINEWING (HK)
CPA Limited has been appointed as auditor of the Company with
effect from 20 May 2024. Please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 20 May 2024 for details.

By order of the Board

Ng Wing Woon Dave
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 20 September 2024
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Independent Auditor’s Report
18 M % BLAD R B

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF EASY SMART GROUP HOLDINGS
LIMITED
(incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Easy
Smart Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 74 to 154,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 30 June 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
30 June 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code"”) and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

® . SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
... 17/F, Chubb Tower, Windsor House,
311 Gloucester Road,

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
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Independent Auditor's Report
By BT &

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our

BAEETEE
BRRBEAFENDESREEXRAE AR
HAPE 2GRN BRRBARRERZ
FR-HEAREEFHEAVBHRRE
RBETRIMHASRABETRE m&E
ETeHEEHREFERER

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these

matters.

Revenue recognition from provision of passive fire

protection works

Refer to note 5 to the consolidated financial statements and the

accounting policies on pages 87 — 89.

The key audit matter
ARETEE

BREHEEER IR ZWE

B2 R A WS MR 5 R 587289
AMEFTHER -

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EEzENAERERRETSE

During the year ended 30 June 2024, the Group
recognised revenue from passive fire protection works of
HK$352,712,000.

REBEE_ZE_NEA=THILFE  S£EBEEIW
FSH P T2 2 W 5352,712,0005 7T

As stated in note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group recognised contract revenue
using input method. Accordingly, revenue recognition
from passive fire protection works involves a significant
degree of management estimates and judgements,
with estimates being made to assess the total budgeted
contract cost and stage of completion of the contracts.

MR E M B MRM AL - EEEEARAER
RENMWKD - Fitt - BREBEH IR 2K PR E
RIZE 2 BB Mt RAE - e Z fhet BT
RIEHBHRARE K TERBEE -

We have identified revenue recognition from passive
fire protection works as a key audit matter because
the amount is significant to the consolidated financial
statements as a whole and there is involvement of a
significant degree of judgements and estimates made by
the management of the Group.

BEHERKEEH T2 2 Watsih R ETF8
EREHSHURAMBEBRERBMSBEN BY
& BEEBEEEELDERZEEOHE KRG -

Our audit procedures were designed to review the
management’'s assessment, and its estimates and
judgements used in the revenue recognition from passive
fire protection works.

BEEZENAREFEAEBRERE 2 AREAR
FERRAR BN H D TR MR e w0 il ot Je I

We have discussed with the project managers and the
management of the Group and sample checked the
supporting documents, such as signed contracts, variation
orders, work certificates, budget costs calculation
and actual costs to assess the reasonableness of the
management’s estimation of the budgeted revenue and
total budgeted contract cost.

EECE BEEEMNBEAKEREREELETHR X
MEREFAXXS  PINEREH BES TR
B RERAAERERRAE  UAFGEREENEE
Was MARRE SO G NA R -

We have recalculated the percentage of completion
based on accumulated actual cost incurred to date over
the total budgeted contract cost.

BERBLCIBLEEENERKARABERE S OK
AREFHFAETKADLL

We have assessed the reliability of management'’s
assessment in total budgeted contract cost by considering
the historical actual costs and past estimation of total
budgeted contract cost of completed projects.

BEEEBEREENABEMNBEERKAUALBEES
BHARAZBEGBMAZERERBEES KA
ZRHEH A SELE -
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Independent Auditor's Report
BB RS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Impairment of trade receivables and contract assets
Refer to notes 15 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements

and the accounting policies on pages 100 — 107.

The key audit matter
BRETEE

BRETEE®
ESREWRERGHNEERE
FLHRAMIERERWE15 RIS K E
1002107 B M2 5T R ©

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EE2 BT NNEERARETSR

As at 30 June 2024, the Group has net trade
receivables and contract assets of HK$11,205,000 and
HK$123,051,000 respectively.

R-Z-_MESA=1TH S£EENEZEKFEF
B RAHNEBESD R A11,205,000/% 7T & 123,051,000
7T|: o

We identified the impairment of trade receivables
and contract assets as a key audit matter due to the
significance to the Group’s consolidated financial
statements and the involvement of subjective judgement
and management estimates based on the historical
default rates, past-due status and ageing information
of the grouped debtors, current economic conditions,
operating environment and the forward-looking
information in evaluating the expected credit losses
("ECL") of the Group’s trade receivables and contract
assets at the end of the reporting period.

BEEREBEHREFARGNEEREHR SHESRET
£H EREEY BEXESRAMBHERM=BEX
BREAGEBABEENER - B KRR ER -
BREBEIRR €BRFUARANEEERAFGE &
SEBEHREZBRURFAMEHNEENTAHEER
BRBEEBR K SRIBHEREERE M -

Our procedures were designed to review the management’s
assessment of the impairment of trade receivables and
contract assets.

BEZENEFEERHNEEBHEIREGERA
#EERER TG

We have obtained an understanding of the methodology
adopted in the ECL model. We have also tested the
accuracy of the ECL allowance made by the Group at the
end of the reporting period and the information used by
management to develop the provision matrix, including
ageing analysis of trade receivables and contract assets,
on a sample basis, by comparing individual items in the
analysis with the relevant contracts, invoices and any
appropriate supporting documents.

EEREAHEERBEREMRRZTE - BF
Bl ERERHRERRIELNBBREEERBRBEAR
BHRYFEARENEEN KRR DN ERNGIE &G
B ERHET RS BB/ T e ERIE B
HABAK  BEREREFEAFRAETLR A
B LR -

We have challenged management’s basis and judgement
in determining ECL allowance on trade receivables
and contract assets at the end of the reporting period,
including the reasonableness of management’s grouping
of customers into different categories in the provision
matrix, and the basis of estimating loss rates applied in
each category in the provision matrix (with reference to
historical default rates and forward-looking information).

BEEEREEENRENARECESREFAREGHN
BENEHEEBENEERAE BREEBNE
BEEPEEFDANSEY  URBEHEERST XA
FERMGFERENELE(K2EBETEOXR
RIREMEEHL) -
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Independent Auditor's Report
By BT &

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS OF THE
COMPANY AND THOSE CHARGED WITH
GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors of the Company determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor's Report
BB RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement to the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors of the Company.

BREMH GRSV BERRETZ

B

BEEZERRERAMBEHRREEBRS T
TFHEARARFFEERMEH 2 EREHRR
BERGEERE  UIRRESHEZERE
FRERNE2ERRLABRESFER 2%
BB S © BRULLASN  BEFZRET A A
EREMAE - BEFL TR ARE 2ARTY
EREMALTAREAEEFREREMNE
T AaBRIFRSKEZRE BHTRE
BIREBBEFTEAETZET  BEX
—BABRBRAFERBEEER - 8RR
AR A BFF SRR Bl - A ERHE
P sk E AR IR A BE R B A & T IS R
15 A & R AR B TS R PR LR 2 SR E
A B RS AR FTARIEE K o

ERBEEBETENETES 2 BIEF
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o HPIRFHEARERGFRERME N
FAVMBBRFEENERRL
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BER ERRL Z2ERAM
mHle £ R REEE R ERFEM
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Independent Auditor's Report
By BT &

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMEEEMBERREFTZ
RaC )

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group'’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

 ERTEERAFELES
HEPE 2t EMEFLEm - RIBPTE
ReBFER BESEAFERES
BHBEREEZERTHEEE 1
MARERY BEXEBEZFELE
RNELBEARBE - WESERAF
EERTHEEN  MALRERE
MR ETRFERAEIESEAUE
BERPZHEBEE REEARE
TE‘t A ESRERRIFEREE
cBEZEmEERNZBENRE
EI,H\HJtFﬁHM%Zﬁqu’%ﬂ YT
AREBELBERATEEY EEH
TR R R -
%1#“\97}?% BRERBEHRSTA
BBELRAT BREREEER AR
i?éﬁﬁik#&i%% Y R R R AE B R
ZHRFEIR -

B BEERERNERBAEXHEI Y
BERERGER - E@E 2 ERE -
NHGEAMBHREBRER - BF
BE EREEFZIA -EER
T - BEERBHERALERZIEA
-

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies

in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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Independent Auditor's Report
BB RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Lau Kai Wong.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Lau Kai Wong

Practising Certificate Number: P06623

Hong Kong
20 September 2024

BREMH GRSV BERRETZ
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

GRREREMZARER

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HZE =T —NF A =FTHILFE

2024 2023

—E-MEF —E_=F

NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000

MIaE F#ET FET

Revenue Wz 5 352,922 336,503

Cost of services P& 75 B AR (289,337) (257,039)

Gross profit EH 63,585 79,464

Other income H AW A 6 2,360 1,588

Other gain B W e 23 - 85

Impairment losses, net of reversal BAEEE - kR (2,088) (115)

Administrative expenses TR X2 (20,844) (14,570)

Finance costs =Y PN 7 (33) (60)

Listing expenses WX - (11,786)

Profit before taxation FR 35 A5 A 8 42,980 54,606

Income tax expenses FriS#i X2 9 (7,154) (10,762)

Profit and total comprehensive F s M & 2 s B 5 35,826 43,844

income for the year

Earnings per share: Far :

— Basic (HK cents) — &R B 12 8.78 13.67

— Diluted (HK cents) — 855 (Bl 12 8.78 13.66
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

RE MR R 3R

As at 30 June 2024 R _FEA=+H

2024 2023
—E-NE ST
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
Nz FET FET

Non-current assets RBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y% - BB k&G 13 3,034 837
Right-of-use assets EAERE 14 2,868 1,124
Rental deposits HEZS 16 174 174
A financial asset at FVTPL BEAFEFABZHN SR 17 3,179 3,179

BE
Deferred tax assets EERIAE E 24 34 104
9,289 5,418
Current assets REEE

Trade receivables Z 5 e WGRIE 15 11,205 17,220
Other receivables, deposits and HMmEWsIE  Ze Rk 16 16,182 8,842

prepayments FE FIE
Contract assets BHEE 18 123,051 121,556
Amount due from ultimate holding & Ui & 42 #22 B A 7 F00E 19 122 100

company
Pledged bank deposits SR ITIER 20 1,034 1,025
Bank balances and cash WITHEBR NS 20 158,011 128,549
309,605 277,292
Current liabilities REEE

Trade and other payables B 5 & E b AT 5R8 21 13,083 12,245
Contract liabilities AHEE 18 387 751
Income tax payable FE(S FR 1S AR 9,842 11,688
Lease liabilities HEARE 22 1,475 1,143
24,787 25,827
Net current assets REBEEFE 284,818 251,465
Total assets less current liabilities ZEER RS EE 294,107 256,883

Non-current liability FRBEME
Lease liabilities HEEE 22 1,398 —
1,398 -
Net assets HERE 292,709 256,883
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

mE BRI R

As at 30 June 2024 KT _FEA=+H

2024 2023
“E-EF =4
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt 5 FTER FHET

Capital and reserves BEARR#E
Share capital & A 25 4,080 4,080
Reserves i 288,629 252,803
Total equity A 292,709 256,883

The consolidated financial statements on pages 74 to 154 were
approved and authorised for issue by the directors of Easy Smart
Group Holdings Limited on 20 September 2024 and are signed on
behalf of the board of directors by:

Ng Wing Woon, Dave
Director

EF
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Ng Wing Shing
REERE
Director
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
MEERBER

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THILFE

Share Share Other Retained
capital premium reserve profits Total
[N v Hitn HRE R F #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET FHET
At 1 July 2022 i
+H—H —* - (1,267) 99,644 98,377
Profit and total FRRNREE
comprehensive e 4258
income for the year — — — 43,844 43,844
Shares issued upon RAREER
public offering BEITRRD
(Note 25(jii)) (Bt &E25(iii)) 1,020 129,540 - - 130,560
Capitalisation issue BERLET
(Note 25(ii)) (HFEE25(i)) 3,060 (3,060) - - -
Costs of issue of new  ZEFTH IS 2
shares DN = (15,898) = - (15,898)
At 30 June 2023 P ——
NA=+H 4,080 110,582 (1,267) 143,488 256,883
Profit and total FRRMNEEE
comprehensive W858
income for the year - - - 35,826 35,826
At 30 June 2024 M_ZE M
~NAZ=+H 4,080 110,582 (1,267) 179,314 292,709

* Less than HK$1,000

A F1,0007 7T
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERTRER

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THIEFE

2024 2023
—E_E =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES KL EE
Profit before taxation B B A& A 42,980 54,606
Adjustments for: AT SIEEL FHE
Interest income B UL A (2,278) (886)
Depreciation of property, plant and W - BEREREBETE 1,114 472
equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERAEEENE 1,272 1,287
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEWE - WEREHE2 (7) =
equipment Wz
Impairment losses, net of reversal REEIE - R EE 2,088 115
Finance costs BhE AR 33 60
Reversal of over-provision of tax penalty 151 B4 75 e &1 R BE BB - (85)
Operating cash flow before movement in LEECEFHRINLE 45,202 55,569
working capital RERE
Movements in working capital: LEEE
Increase in trade and other receivables, 5 KEMEWFIE (2,400) (12,110)
deposits and prepayments e MBI FRIAE N
Increase in contract assets BHEEE I (2,508) (56,884)
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 N H b e 5RIE L AN 838 630
(Decrease) increase in contract liabilities EHaECRD) 8B (364) 393
Net cash generated from (used in) operations &% Fr{3 (BT ) 3R & %58 40,768 (12,402)
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid BERBEBNEH (8,930) (10,330)
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) OPERATING rREEBmE (R AE 31,838 (22,732)
ACTIVITIES Pt
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEE
Interest received 2 U F S 2,278 886
Placement of pledged bank deposit FABEBEITER 9) (1,025)
Advance to ultimate holding company B A 2 NI = (22) (100)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  EE Y% - BE K& E (3.311) (20)
Proceeds on disposal of property, plantand HE¥E - BENE&EZ 7 =
equipment FT18 5038
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES 2 &EEBFTAIRE F5E (1,057) (259)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mERTRER

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THILFE

2024 2023
—E_NE —E =4
HK$"000 HK$'000
FET FET
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BEEE
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEAE (1,286) (1,273)
Interest paid BT E (33) (60)
Proceeds from issue of new shares BT D BT S F0E = 130,560
Issue costs paid for initial listing of shares A& B8R LT AT BT A AR - (12,769)
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM FINANCING MEES (FTA) SR E (1.319) 116,458
ACTIVITIES FEE
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH He MR ZE WL 29,462 93,467
EQUIVALENTS FE
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FURERBFEEFEY 128,549 35,082
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ATEND OF E R & KBS ZEY
THE YEAR,
represented by bank balances and cash BRITERRE S 158,011 128,549

HREREEZERERAE  FIR 2024

79



80

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B ISR M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THIEFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Easy Smart Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is
incorporated in the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed
on Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) on 9 May 2023. The addresses of
the registered office and the principal place of business of
the Company are 71 Fort Street, PO Box 500, George Town,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1106, Cayman Islands and Unit A, 10/F,
Ming Tak Centre, 135-137 Tung Chau Street, Kowloon, Hong
Kong, respectively.

The directors of the Company consider Lofty Profit Investments
Limited (“Lofty Profit”), a company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”), as the immediate holding
company and ultimate holding company of the Company and
its subsidiaries (the “Group”) and Mr. Ng Wing Woon Dave
(“Mr. Dave Ng”) as the ultimate controlling shareholder of
the Company.

The Company is an investment holding company and the
principal activities of the operating subsidiaries, as set out in
the note 30, are provision of passive fire protection works
and provision of passive fire protection information services in
Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements are expressed in Hong
Kong dollar (“HK$"), which is the functional currency of the
Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs"”) AND CHANGES IN
OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first time,
the following new and amendments to HKFRSs issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
"HKICPA") which are effective for the Group’s financial year
beginning on 1 July 2023:
HKFRS 17 (including Insurance Contracts
the October 2020

and February 2022

amendments to

ERMAIEBMBREE
Al ([&BMBE®REER]
REBITAUREMEST
BERE

RAFE  AEEEERBANT
MEBGHMAE (ERRTHL
B EBERAEER T -=F
£ A — B B B0 B BUF [ A R 3T
SEBHBREEAREEITA

ERUBREERN RBREW
FN75 (BEEE
B 75 R 5 A2 I 581757
RZZE-ZEF+AR

HKFRS 17) —E__F AW
EHEN)
Amendments to HKAS Disclosure of Accounting Policies BEREHENSIRR SHBRNER
1 and HKFRS Practice BAM RS ER
Statement 2 EBmE 2R
CCHEN)
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting EREGTEAES  LIAINES
Estimates (1&ETA)
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets BEGTEAE12S HE-XFEL
and Liabilities arising from a (1&ETA) MEERARE
Single Transaction R RE YR AT
bl
Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar BREGFTEAE125 BEEHERE
Two Model Rules (EETA) FE-THEAR
# 81

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material
effect on the Group’s financial performance and positions for
the current and prior periods and/or on the disclosures set out
in these consolidated financial statements.

Impact on application of Amendments to HKAS

1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 — Disclosure of
Accounting Policies

The amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement
2 Making Materiality Judgements provide guidance and
examples to help entities apply materiality judgements to
accounting policy disclosures. The amendments aim to help
entities provide accounting policy disclosures that are more
useful by replacing the requirement for entities to disclose
their ‘significant’ accounting policies with a requirement
to disclose their ‘material’ accounting policies and adding
guidance on how entities apply the concept of materiality in
making decisions about accounting policy disclosures.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e KRR

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE =T —NF A =FTHILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs"”) AND CHANGES IN
OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impact on application of Amendments to HKAS

1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 — Disclosure of
Accounting Policies (Continued)

The application of the amendments has had no material
impact on the Group’s financial performance and positions,
but has affected the disclosures of accounting policies as set
out in note 3.

Impact on application of Amendments to HKAS 8 -
Definition of Accounting Estimates

The amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates, and changes in accounting
policies and the correction of errors. They also clarify how
entities use measurement techniques and inputs to develop
accounting estimates.

The amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.

Impact on application of Amendments to HKAS

12 - Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction

The amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exemption of deferred tax liabilities and deferred
tax assets so that it no longer applies to transactions that, on
initial recognition, give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences, such as leases and decommissioning
liabilities. Therefore, entities are required to recognise a
deferred tax asset (provided that sufficient taxable profit is
available) and a deferred tax liability for temporary differences
arising from these transactions. The amendments shall be
applied to transactions related to leases and decommissioning
obligations at the beginning of the earliest comparative
period presented, with any cumulative effect recognised as
an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings
at that date. For all other transactions, the amendments are
applied to those transactions that occur after the beginning of
the earliest period presented.

The amendments had no material impact on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs"”) AND CHANGES IN
OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Change in accounting policy

New HKICPA guidance on the accounting implications of the
abolition of the mandatory provident fund (“MPF”) — long
service payment (“LSP") offsetting mechanism

As disclosed in note 26, in June 2022, the Hong Kong SAR
Government (the “Government”) gazetted the Hong
Kong Employment and Retirement Schemes Legislation
(Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the
“Amendment Ordinance”), which will come into effect from
1 May 2025 (the “Transition Date"”). Once the Amendment
Ordinance takes effect, an employer can no longer use any of
the accrued benefits derived from its mandatory contributions
to MPF scheme to reduce the LSP in respect of an employee’s
service from the Transition Date (the abolition of the
“offsetting mechanism”). In addition, the LSP in respect of
the service before the Transition Date will be calculated based
on the employee’s monthly salary immediately before the
Transition Date and the years of service up to that date.

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting implications
of the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in Hong
Kong” that provides accounting guidance relating to the
offsetting mechanism and the abolition of the mechanism.

The Group has considered the accrued benefits derived
from mandatory MPF contributions that are expected to be
used to reduce the LSP payable to an employee as deemed
contributions by that employee towards the LSP. Historically,
the Group accounted for the offsetting mechanism by
applying the practical expedient in HKAS 19.93(b). Based on
the HKICPA guidance, upon the enactment of the Amendment
Ordinance in June 2022, these deemed contributions should
be attributed to periods of service in the same manner as the
gross LSP benefit applying HKAS19.93(a).

There is no material impact on the Group’s results and
financial position for the current or prior years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e KRR

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE =T —NF A =FTHILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. ERAH:IIE B BREE

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING A (ERMBHRESED]D
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) AND CHANGES IN FEHETFTAULEEM=ST
OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) BEREH (@)
Amendments to HKFRSs issued but not yet 2 MR 1B 1 R £ M E B B I IR
effective HEAMBFT AR
The Group has not early applied the following amendments to AEBWEEZER T2 EME
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective: 8] R AR A B S B 1% S 2B A AT
N
Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets BAVBEHREER KEEEER
HKFRS 10 and between an Investor and its FIORRB B ZRRIRA
HKAS 28 Associate or Joint Venture? FHEERIE285: (8 & ECH
HEY) WEELE
g A3
Amendments to Lease Liability in a Sale and BEAMBEHREER SRHEBAHE
HKFRS 16 Leaseback! F165 BFTA) BEBE
Amendments to Classification of Liabilities as BB ERNEIR BEEIER
HKAS 1 Current or Non-current and ({&8ET4) ek IE
the related amendments to AR BB
Hong Kong Interpretation ZREELR
5 (2020) Presentation of —ZT=F
Financial Statements — ) WS
Classification by the Borrower FI—ERA
of a Term Loan that Contains HE Ak
a Repayment on Demand B EsREE
Clause! 7 E HAE K
Eopak L
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with BB %R B 7522 58 B JE
Covenants' 15 (BETAN) mBEE
Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements' BB G ERFETR HREFRER
and HKFRS 7 REBT RS HE
R E 75 (B35
)
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability? BB GFERIE21 B 0] KR
VACCHEN)
L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024. t RZZE_OE—-—HA—Hkz&HA%B
B 4F [Z B AE 2
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025. 2 R-ZE-_AF—HA—HAziz&ERARK
9 £F [Z HAfE A2 AR
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be 3 RFE B Bisk 2 1% s 8 F Z B
determined. Ed
The directors of the Company anticipate that the application RAAREEHFEABEBM B ]MSE
of the amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on EH N eHAREBXENEAE
the results and the financial position of the Group. BREREEEATE o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e I HRREE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THILFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For
the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange and
by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost basis except for certain financial
instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of the
reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies set
out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if the market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in the consolidated
financial statements is determined on such basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of
HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”, leasing transactions that are
within the scope of HKFRS 16 “Leases”, and measurements
that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value,
such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value
in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e P RRME

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THIEFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted price (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The material accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

. has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if

facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the consolidated
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between the members
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised
goods or services to customers at an amount that reflects
the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services. Specifically, the Group
uses a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

. Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

o Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the
contract

o Step 3: Determine the transaction price

o Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract

o Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the Group
satisfies a performance obligation

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to customers.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e KRR

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THIEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced; or

. the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct goods or service.

A contract asset represents the Group'’s right to consideration
in exchange for goods or services that the Group has
transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is
assessed for impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9 “Financial
Instruments” (“HKFRS 9”). In contrast, a receivable represents
the Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration from the customer.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract
asset or a net contract liability is presented. For multiple
contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated
contracts are not presented on a net basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
Over time revenue recognition: measurement of
progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation

Input method

For provision of passive fire protection works, the progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation
is measured based on input method, which is to recognise
revenue on the basis of the Group’s efforts or inputs to the
satisfaction of a performance obligation relative to the total
expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance
obligation, that best depict the Group’s performance in
transferring control of goods or services.

Output method

For passive fire protection information services, the progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation
is measured based on output method, which is to recognise
revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the value
of the goods or services transferred to the customer to date
relative to the remaining goods or services promised under
the contract, that best depict the Group’s performance in
transferring control of goods or services.

As a practical expedient, if the Group has a right to
consideration in an amount that corresponds directly with
the value of the Group’s performance completed to date
(service contracts in which the Group bills a fixed amount for
each month of passive fire protection information services
provided), the Group recognises revenue in the amount to
which the Group has the right to invoice.

Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable consideration such as
variation order in provision of passive fire protection works, the
Group estimates the amount of consideration to which it will be
entitled using the most likely amount, which better predicts the
amount of consideration to which the Group will be entitled.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is included
in the transaction price only to the extent that it is highly
probable that such an inclusion will not result in a significant
revenue reversal in the future when the uncertainty associated
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group updates
the estimated transaction price (including updating its
assessment of whether an estimate of variable consideration
is constrained) to represent faithfully the circumstances
present at the end of the reporting period and the changes in
circumstances during the year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e KRR

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THIEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified, the Group assesses
whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the
definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, or modification date,
as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

As a lessee

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases of machines that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option. Lease payments on short-term leases are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use assets includes:

3 the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

BERSFTHEER @)

Leases (Continued) HE B
As a lessee (Continued) EBREA (&)
Right-of-use assets (Continued) EHEELE (&)

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments
and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever the lease term has changed or there is a change
in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which
case the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting
the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the
date of reassessment.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e KRR

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THIEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs not directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they become receivable. Such
grants are presented under “other income”.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments made to MPF are recognised as expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as
and when employees rendered the services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefits
in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such
as wages and salaries) after deduction of any amount already
paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee
benefits are measured at the present value of the estimated
future cash outflows expected to be made by the Group in
respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting
date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e I HRREE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THILFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from “profit before taxation”
because of income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible.
The Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit and at the time of the transaction does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e KRR

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THIEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
requirements to the lease liabilities and the related assets
separately. The Group recognises a deferred tax asset related
to lease liabilities to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
difference can be utilised and a deferred tax liability for all
taxable temporary differences.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment less their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method.
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of the reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss.
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of
the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THIEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets (Continued)

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be established. The recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or group
of cash-generating units to which the corporate asset belongs,
and is compared with the carrying amount of the relevant
cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or
portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit,
the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of
cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to
that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group
of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is
not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise
have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the
other assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a
group of cash-generating units) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group
of cash-generating unites) in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(@ cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits; and

(b)  cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term deposit
(generally with original maturity of three months or less).

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of
the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle
the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value
of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of
money is material).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e KRR

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THIEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the market
place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance
with HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate,
a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THILFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at fair
value.

(i)  Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective e interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial assets, except for financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial assets
from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

(i) A financial asset at FVTPL

Financial asset that does not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) or designated as
FVTOCI is measured at FVTPL.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e KRR

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THIEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continueq)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

(i) A financial asset at FVTPL (Continued)

A financial asset at FVTPL is measured at fair value at
the end of the reporting period, with any fair value gain
or loss recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss includes any interest earned
on the financial asset.

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL"”) model on financial assets (including trade
receivables, other receivables and deposits, amount due from
ultimate holding company, pledged bank deposit and bank
balances) and contract assets which are subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL")
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result
from default events that are possible within 12 months after
the reporting date. Assessment are done based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting
date as well as the forecast of future conditions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

BERSFTHEER @)

Financial instruments (Continued) £@TE(E)
Financial assets (Continued) TEHEE (&)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

The Group always assesses lifetime ECL for trade receivables
and contract assets. Except for those balance due from
multinational companies/listed companies and credit-impaired
debtors that are assessed individually, the lifetime ECL on
remaining debtors are assessed on a collective basis through
grouping of debtors based on group’s internal credit ratings.
The contract assets relate to unbilled work in progress and
retention receivables withheld by customers have substantially
the same risk characteristics as the trade receivables for the
same types of contracts. The Group has therefore concluded
that the expected loss rates for the trade receivables and the
contract assets are estimated on the same basis.

For all other financial instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in
which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment
of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

WRIEE B 58 EERFEIR AR
EFF 16 B & E R A R EE 8B
5 (&)
AEE-EREIREKEAREN
EEFE2MAHEEER KX
SEEBTHOBKREBEAR L
AR SRREERER KRR -
BTSRRI ERBEMEEESR
RIZ S E B A RS B R AR B AR
ROEREBEEFN(E - BAFH
RETHPIREENANEERE
FEMnELRRESRZERELS
HWE ZRYGREAE ABAER W
R EE - Bt - AEEGH SR
BHRWFIBARAEHNEENTAHE
BRI RE A

RAEEMEMTAME A& H
BREABRBMEEBRESHEIES
BEE RIECERR B NHHER
ARKIE LT Al AR EE®RE
HEREEBRR BEAERZHE
HEEBRNMGRER M5
RARE L E MR A REE KA R
BAME LML -

() FEERBRAEL

KRGS 5 R b B 718 HERR LA
RRBRE AR AEEL
ReMTARNREARELE
#IE R e R B T B 4] 45 B
RARBLZEONER - RME
HILFHAEE - AEEEEAE
RBEBAKNEEREESR
B BEBELARNMERM L
B ERATNE S B R EEH
RIREMEEHL o

HREREEZERERAE  FIR 2024

101



102

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e KRR

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continueq)
Impairment of financial assets and contract assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether the credit risk has
increased significantly:

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor; and

o an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic or technological
environment or the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THILFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continueq)
Impairment of financial assets and contract assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a debt instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the debt instrument is
determined to have low credit risk at the reporting
date. A financial instrument is determined to have low
credit risk if i) the financial instrument has a low risk of
default, ii) the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term, and
iii) adverse changes in economic and business conditions
in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce
the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash
flow obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument
to have low credit risk when the asset has external credit
rating of ‘investment grade’ in accordance with the
globally understood definition or if an external credit
rating is not available, the asset has an internal credit
rating of “A”. The internal credit rating of “A” means
that the counterparty has a strong financial position and
there is no past due amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e P RRME

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continueq)
Impairment of financial assets and contract assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)  Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including
the Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
defaults has occurred when a financial assets is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

The Group has rebutted the presumption of default
under ECL model for trade receivables over 90 days
past due based on good repayment records for those
customers and long-term/continuous business with the
Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THILFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continueq)
Impairment of financial assets and contract assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial assets is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(¢) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivable, when the
amounts are over three years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedure, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A written off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in
profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e KRR

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continueq)
Impairment of financial assets and contract assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at defaults.
As for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this
is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at
the reporting date. The assessment of the probability of
default and loss given default is based on historical data
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for trade receivables and contract assets are
considered on a collective basis taking into consideration
past due information and relevant credit information
such as forward looking macroeconomic information.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THILFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. EAXASTBERER®

INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) £@TE(E)
Financial assets (Continued) TEHEE (&)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
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(%)

PERNFEMS  AKREED

consideration the following characteristics when AR REET M DA T A
formulating the grouping:
e Past-due status; o BHIAR

o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by the management
of the Group to ensure the constituents of each group
continue to share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments by
adjusting their carrying amount with the exception
of trade receivables and contract assets where the
correspondence adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e KRR

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THIEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of a group entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the group entities are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade payables and other
payables) are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, management is required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THILFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
The followings are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies and that have most significant effect
on the amounts recognised and disclosures made in the
consolidated financial statements.

Judgments in determining the timing of satisfaction of
performance obligations

The recognition of each of the Group’s revenue stream
requires judgment by the directors of the Company in
determining the timing of satisfaction of performance
obligations.

In making their judgment, the directors of the Company
considered the detailed criteria for recognition of revenue set
out in HKFRS 15 and in particular, whether the Group has
satisfied all performance obligations over time or at a point
in time with reference to the details terms of transactions as
stipulated in the contracts entered into with its customers.

For the Group’s provision of passive fire protection works
business, the directors of the Company has assessed that
the Group’s performance creates and enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group performs. Therefore, the
directors of the Company have satisfied that the performance
obligation is satisfied over time and recognised the revenue
over the period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e KRR

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THIEFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
the reporting period that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets within
the next financial year.

Revenue recognition from provision of passive fire
protection works

The Group recognises revenue from provision of passive fire
protection works using input method. The Group reviews
and revises the estimates of contract revenue and budgeted
contract costs prepared for each passive fire protection works
contracts as the contract progresses. Budgeted contract
costs are prepared by the management of the Group on
the basis of quotations from time to time provided by the
major subcontractors, suppliers or vendors involved and the
experience of the management. In order to keep the budget
accurate and up-to-date, the management of the Group
conducts periodic reviews of the budgets of contracts by
comparing the budgeted amounts to the actual amounts
incurred. Changes in significant estimate may have impact on
the profit or loss recognised in each period.

Recognised amounts of revenue from provision of passive
fire protection works and related contract assets reflect the
management’s best estimate of each contract’s outcome
and stage of completion, which are determined on the basis
of a number of estimates. This includes the assessment of
the profitability of on-going passive fire protection works
contracts.

The contract revenue generated from provision of passive
fire protection works amounting to HK$352,712,000 (2023:
HK$336,164,000) was recognised in the profit or loss during
the year.

EASY SMART GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2024

4.

et HE R AR TE
EREZMEERFR @)

A TREEENETERIR
ATRERKRENEEBRRALR
BERROB TEERZOEM
FERFR RFBERERFER A
ERT—RBRFERNEREENK
EEEHERFHE -

758 18 (IR B 5 By T 72 79 W 25

AEBRARANEERREH KRS H
mIRmks AKERBEAENEE
EHRETREBAREENIRE
HWRHENEFTEHNRERAESD
A - FBEAHKRARANEEE R
BERSERNITEDERE HER
HETTHRHENBEARETEE
MRREH RRBAEEEELE
HOASEEREEBLREES
BEEANERESR THERS
HWHTEE - EXEETNE B A e
EHREANERELTE -

REHSEN ITREERBEEH
EENHERATERREEEHEIR
BRHER R TS B REMS
HERZHAMGFEE B+ 8&F
HETHEBEH TREANNAN

N
BE °

RAFE  RNIESEREOREEES
HBI ITRFMEEAEMNAN KD B
352,712,000 T (=T = = 4 :
336,164,000 7T) °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THILFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Onerous contracts

The Group determines whether contracts with customers
are onerous contracts based on the latest available budgets
of those contracts with reference to the overall contracts
consideration of each contract which requires management’s
best estimates and judgements. Revenue from provision of
passive fire protection works is estimated in accordance with
the terms set out in the relevant contracts. Because of the
nature of the industry, the management regularly reviews
the progress of the contracts and the estimated revenue and
budgeted costs. Any change in the estimates of revenue or
budgeted cost will affect the amount of foreseeable losses
arising from onerous contracts recognised in the profit or loss
in the year of the change. No provision was made for the year
ended 30 June 2024 (2023: nil).

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. Right-of-use
assets (i.e. workshop and warehouse premises and general
office) are depreciated using the straight-line method over
the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term
of the underlying assets. The determination of the useful
lives involves management’s estimation. The Group assesses
annually the useful lives of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets (i.e. workshop and warehouse premises and
general office) and if the expectation differs from the original
estimates, such a difference may impact the depreciation in
the year and the estimate will be changed in the future period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e KRR

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THIEFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Impairment assessment on trade receivables and
contract assets

Trade receivables and contract assets which are multinational
companies/listed companies or are identified as credit-impaired
are assessed for ECL individually. For the remaining trade
receivables and contract assets, collective assessment is
performed by grouping debtors with reference to the past
due condition and scale (including whether they are listed
or unlisted) of the debtors based on the group’s internal
credit ratings. Estimated loss rates are estimated based on
historical observed default rates of the debtors with the
study of other corporates’ default and recovery data from
international credit-rating agencies including Moody’s and
forward-looking information (for example, expected gross
domestic product growth). The provision of ECL is sensitive to
changes in estimates. The information about the Group’s trade
receivables, contract assets and ECL assessment is disclosed in
notes 15, 18 and 28.

The carrying amount of trade receivables at 30 June 2024 is
HK$11,205,000 (2023: HK$17,220,000), net of accumulated
loss allowance of HK$1,758,000 (2023: HK$683,000). During
the year ended 30 June 2024, net impairment loss on trade
receivables of HK$1,075,000 (2023: net reversal of impairment
loss HK$16,000) was recognised.

The carrying amount of contract assets at 30 June 2024
is HK$123,051,000 (2023: HK$121,556,000), net of
accumulated loss allowance of HK$1,481,000 (2023:
HK$468,000). During the year ended 30 June 2024, net
impairment loss for contract assets of HK$1,013,000 (2023:
HK$131,000) was recognised.
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AFREE (BREBAF) WIER KB
A BURRBTR) RATHEEE R (T8
HIZRH A E AR ) fhaT - TBHIE
EERBRBEIXGAEDRE -
FRASBEESRERURE  GHE
ENBEREEBERFENERNH
FE15 - 18228455 -

R-ZZE-_WMESA=1+H BHE
W % 78 BR H {8 A11,205,0005 7T (=
T — =4 : 17,220,000/ 7T) * W E
Rt B 1,758,000 L (=
— =4 : 683,000 7C) c REZE—
ZoNENA=TBHILEE O
RESHEWFEREEIBFE
1,075,000 L (ZE == : BEH
1B [0;F 58 16,0008 7T) °

RZE_MFENA=TH B4HE&
EIRMEEA123,051,0008 7 (=&
— =% :121,556,000/& 7T) * i =
25t E 18 B 51,481,0008 T (= F
— =4 : 468,000 T) c REZE =
E_WNEXAZTHILEFE B
RE #E E R EEEF%1,013,000
BIL(ZZF =4 : 131,000/ 7T) °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e I HRREE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Group has two principal activities: provision of passive
fire protection works and provision of passive fire protection
information services. Revenue represents the fair value of
amounts received and receivable from provision of (i) passive

services.

W 22 & 7 2R & ¥

AEEEMEIEEY  RERD
BB TA2 RIBERENHIT AR -
i3 35 HR L) B B T AR (i B
BB A SR B I R BRI A

fire protection works and (ii) passive fire protection information F1E -
(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts () BEFEHANKRESD
with customers
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER THT
Type of service B 7% %8 5l
Passive fire protection works WEHED T2 352,712 336,164
Passive fire protection information %% B 5 7 & &7 AR 7 210 339
services
352,922 336,503
Type of project 15 B E 5l
Private sector projects FLEIEE 54,716 194,059
Public sector projects NEIEE 298,206 142,444
352,922 336,503
(i) Performance obligations for contracts with (i) BEFEHNNEHNERT

customers

Revenue from provision of passive fire protection
works are recognised over time as the Group creates
or enhances an asset that the customer controls as
the Group performs. Revenue is recognised based on
the stage of completion of the contract using input
method. The stage of completion is determined as the
proportion of the costs incurred for the works (i.e. direct
labour costs, subcontracting costs and costs of materials
incurred) performed to date relative to the estimated

total costs to complete the services.

XA R EE T2M WS
BERREER REAQEEARS
BREAD  AEBAIEHEN—
HHEFEFNEE - AR
BA K TP BB IR AL E
R-TIEBRZESEETT
A2 P EE A Y RS (BD P E AR B9
ERBTITRA D BRARN
FEACAS) #8817 52 A AR 75 O 1

AT AR ANH L BIHESE ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e P RRME

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #ZE —Z - FE B =+HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. W@ KkoEER (@)
(Continued)
(i) Performance obligations for contracts with (i) BEFEHNNBEHNERE®E)
customers (Continued)
Revenue from passive fire protection information services K B 4% B8 ) & A AR S HY s
is recognised over time as the customer simultaneously BERF MR REASEEARE
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the HEREA TP RRERSILEREE
Group'’s performance as the Group performs. The Group REBREAMBHERONZ - A
bills a fixed amount for each month of service provided. SEHETARENREHFD
The Group elected to apply the practical expedient by ERRERE ANEEEEZEEM
recognising revenue in the amount to which the Group BERET L UAEEG#
has right to invoice. MEZEENSERERKE -
(iii) Transaction price allocated to the remaining (i) ?BMEEFEHNBRTEN
performance obligation for contracts with EENXZEROT :
customers are set out as below:
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$’000
FTHET FAET
Provision of passive fire protection 2 L4 E)jE B T 12
works
e Within one year o — X 173,745 228,566
e More than one year but not o —F L\ FETEEB 128,030 102,689
more than two years M
301,775 331,255

EASY SMART GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2024



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e I HRREE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THILFE

5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

Segment information

Information is reported to the chairman and chief
executive director of the Company, who is also the chief
operating decision maker (“CODM") of the Group, for
the purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment. The CODM reviews the overall results and
financial performance of the Group as a whole. No
analysis of the Group’s assets or liabilities and no other
discrete financial information is regularly provided to
the CODM. Accordingly, only entity-wide disclosures on
revenue, major customers and geographical information
are presented in accordance with HKFRS 8 “Operating
Segments”.

Geographical information

The Group principally operates in Hong Kong, which
is also its place of domicile. The Group’'s revenue is
generated in and non-current assets are all located in
Hong Kong.

Information about major customers

The revenue from customers individually contributing
over 10% of the total revenue of the Group during the
year is as follows:

5.

Wk oIBER @

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

7 ERE

RRRERERITBRAR AN
SETBLERRE((XEE
BRRE|) HBEERE
B AETEIRD i KRB
e TRLERREFHAE
EEENEREERMBR
Ro-METHRNEIRLERE
ERHARBEERAGBHND
A DA B EL At {8 51 B 75 B Y
o ERRBEY KRS ER
FeW[EEn ] 2 ERE
EHRE TEXTPRMER
KR

b ¥ E

AEEXTENEE (FAEE
fit i) B X - REEAK
REBEBEL BIERDHEE
BEIRES °

EBEEEEFHNER
RAFEEBAAEE BN
BRM0% A EMRFE BRI
WA

2024 2023

—E-NF —E=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

F&T FABT

Customer | = 126,929 110,532

Customer |l ZEI 124,562 44,663

Customer Il ZEI N/A* B * 95,434
* Revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total revenue of @ W as W AR E B R AR R S

the Group for the respective reporting year.

FEMBERZTI10%A £ -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e P RRME

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE =T —NF A =FTHILFE

6. OTHER INCOME 6. HfplgA
2024 2023
“E-EF —ET=F
HK$'000 HK$’'000
THET FHET
Interest income FEHBA 2,278 886
Government subsidies (Note) B 478 Bl (BfT ) = 701
Sundry income LA PN 82 1
2,360 1,588

Note: Government grants mainly include subsidies from the Hong Kong iz - BUNfB = EBE KRB B EBM K
Government’s Employment Support Scheme, all are compensations HEIGTENME M AREEEER
for incurred expenses and not asset related. REVHE  EEEER -

7. FINANCE COSTS 7. BAERA
2024 2023
—E-ImEF —T=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHTT
Interest on lease liabilities HEBGBANE 33 60

8. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 8. KR¥imIER

2024 2023
“E-EF —T=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET

Profit before taxation has been arrived at  Bx %% B @ A1) 48 305 T 71

after charging: BIRRIFH -
Directors’ remuneration (Note 10) BE=HM (FHzE10) 2,556 1,252
Other staff costs H b8 TR
— Salaries and other benefits — e kEMEF 18,395 18,101
— Contributions to MPF — BB R K 791 733
Total staff costs B TR AR 21,742 20,086
Auditors’ remuneration 1% 24 R 357 B 850 1,450
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BEREBITE 1,114 472
equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEENE 1,272 1,287
and after crediting: WA TG FIBEED ¢
Reversal of over-provision of tax penalty  F 7% iz 51 8 58 55 5 £ O - (85)
(Note 23) (MF5E23)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THILFE

9.

INCOME TAX EXPENSES 9. FiBMBEX

2024 2023
—E_E ==
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FAET

Income tax expenses comprises: A8

Hong Kong Profits Tax BERENEH

— Current tax — BVHARE 18 7,084 10,870
— Over-provision in prior year —BAFEBRERE - (62)
7,084 10,808
Deferred tax (Note 24) EIEFRTE (M 7E24) 70 (46)
7,154 10,762

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong
Profit Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying
group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2
million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities
not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%. Accordingly,
for the years ended 30 June 2024 and 2023, the Hong Kong
Profits Tax of the qualifying group entity is calculated at 8.25%
on the first HK$2 million of the estimated assessable profits
and at 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits above HK$2
million.

£ &S FF T A RIS B M AR 6T

BEBE EESEZEE/%TE@?‘JE’J
FHE % A8.25%  MiBE2E S8 T
RRE MR EE E165% - TFA
15 %RW&%JE’JEIEHE%%ZE&
2| —FHE16.5% =% - ALtk > HZE

E_NER_ZT-_=F,A=1+H
IEFE AERESEEEE2BEED
T B9 iy 51 FE 2R Bt s F 3%28.25% 5T &
EEFEH  BiE2E &8 TrEE
FERR B A R4216.5% T & o

2024 2023

—ZE_E —T-=F

HK$'000 HK$ 000

FTET T

Profit before taxation BR B A& A 42,980 54,606

Tax at applicable tax rate of 16.5% LE A E16.5%5 EH 7,092 9,010

I8
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax /AR HL UL A B T 76 7 22 (420) (276)
purpose

Tax effect of expenses not deductible for A~ B $0 %4 B 52 B9 B 76 52 28 647 2,255
tax purpose

Over-provision in respect of prior year BT FEBERE = (62)

Tax effect on two-tiered tax rate MAERENHEZE (165) (165)

Income tax expenses for the year FRAEFHAS 7,154 10,762

Details of deferred tax are set out in note 24.

EIE B IR R B B DA B E24

HREREEZERERAE  FIR 2024
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e P RRME

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BE =T

MERA=ZTRALEFE

10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

EMOLUMENTS AND EMPLOYEES’

REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’'s emoluments
Mr. Dave Ng and Mr. Ng Wing Shing (“Mr. Vincent Ng”)
were appointed as executive directors of the Company on 19

October 2021.

10.

Prof. Pong Kam Keung, Ms. Cheng Shing Yan and Mr. Lo Chi
Wang were appointed as independent non-executive directors
of the Company on 12 April 2023.

EERESTBRAEME
K & & % p

EERESTHRAEHE
REMAERRBETE ([REH
REDR-_ZT-_—F+A+LB%E
ZERRRAEMITES -

fEE 57 58 2 Y~ BB AR IR Z2 = K 2B & 5
EEEBNR-_ZE-_=FMA+=-H
BEZEBRNRABIYIERNITES -

Year ended 30 June 2024 BE—FE-_WENA=1+HIFE
Allowances
and benefits  Discretionary
Salaries in kind bonus Contributions
(Note i) (Note ii) to MPF Total
BER
ENEAN MiETEA
it CED) (Hraki)  BESEX @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TR THET TR THER
Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Dave Ng (chairman and REMEE(ZR 720 98 500 18 1,336

chief executive officer) ROBBE)
Mr. Vincent Ng REBEE 582 - 80 18 680

Independent Non-executive =~ BUFHTES

Directors

Prof. Pong Kam Keung EEfR iR HIT 180 - - _ 180
Ms. Cheng Shing Yan Bt 180 - - _ 180
Mr. Lo Chi Wang e 180 - - _ 180
1,842 98 580 36 2,556
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B RRME

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #{Z —Z - FE B =+HILFE

10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 10. ESERESTHRAEME
EMOLUMENTS AND EMPLOYEES’ RESHM =)
REMUNERATION (Continued)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments EERBEITHRAEMS (B)
(Continued)
Year ended 30 June 2023 BE—_E_=—FENF=+HIEE
Allowances
and benefits  Discretionary
Salaries in kind bonus  Contributions
(Note i) (Note ii) to MPF Total
2E R
ENER [ijpraa
5 (B ) (ki) BEEHN @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL T THL THEL FHL
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Dave Ng (chairman and REBSEE(ZR 444 2 115 18 599
chief executive officer) RTBEH)
Mr. Vincent Ng REBESE 429 - 128 18 575
Independent Non-executive ~ BYFHTES
Directors
Prof. Pong Kam Keung BRI 26 - - - 26
Ms. Cheng Shing Yan ARt 26 - - - 26
Mr. Lo Chin Wang AT 26 - - _ 26
951 22 243 36 1,252

Notes:

(i) Allowances and benefits in kind include leave pay and medical care.
The estimated money value of the benefits in kind are approximately
HK$98,000 (2023: HK$22,000) for the year ended 2024.

(i) The discretionary bonus is determined by reference to the duties
and responsibilities of the relevant individual within the Group and

the Group’s performance.

(i) No other retirement benefits were paid to directors in respect of
their respective services in connection with the management of the

affairs of the Company or its subsidiaries undertaking.

(iii)

RHEREDENEBRHIE RS
BRE N-_Z_NEETEE B
WDAE I (5T £ 82 (B (E 40 /5298,000/8
TL(ZZE =4 :22,000#7T) °

RISTEAE2ZHBALIRAEE
RS RBE - ARAEERER

B -
BERE SRS A ARA R A K

B AR 55 0 S5 E I /BRI A
WE T EMRAKIER o

HREEEZRERAE  FI] 2024
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e KRR

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE =T —NF A =FTHILFE

10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

EMOLUMENTS AND EMPLOYEES’
REMUNERATION (Continued)

Directors’ and chief executive's emoluments
(Continued)

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for
their services in connection with the management affairs
of the Group. The independent non-executive directors’
emoluments above were for their services as directors of the
Company.

During the year, no remuneration was paid by the Group to
any director of the Company as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. None
of the directors of the Company waived any remuneration
during the year.

Employees’ remuneration

During the year, of the five highest paid individuals, two (2023:
none) were directors of the Company whose emoluments are
disclosed above.

The remunerations in respect of the remaining three (2023:

10.

BEERERSTHAEMS
FEEFHM @)

EERESTHRAESME (B)

EXFATRATEZENMEARESR
RMEERAKREEBOREOME -
EXHRBIFFATEZTNOME S
BRERTARREFNRBOME -

RAEE ASERERAQAME
MEFEIMFHH  F/MAXEHE
S ANA R £R B 1K B 52 B ok B B A
B-RAFE BEARAEEN
RIEFHFMH

& S 5
RAFE ARRHFMALFTE

EREARNREE(ZE-_=F: %
) FHENFHER EXHE -

Eg=F (T _=F A4 &e

five) highest paid individuals during the year are as follows: A THE BT
2024 2023
—E-MEF —T-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F&ET FET
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥4 « 2R R EWEF] 2,358 3,906
Contribution to MPF BIES R 54 90
Discretionary bonus 15 TEAT 130 347
2,542 4,343
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e EHRRMEE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #{Z —Z - FE B =+HILFE

10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

11.

EMOLUMENTS AND EMPLOYEES’

REMUNERATION (Continued)

Employees’ remuneration (Continued)

The remunerations of the five highest paid individuals,
including directors, are within the following bands:

10. EERBESTHRAEHE

FEEFHM @)

EBEFHMH (&)
hEaEaFMALT (BREES) O
N E T -

2024 2023

—E-mEF —E—=
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = Z1,000,000 7T 4 3
HK$ 1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 B TE 1 2

1,500,000 % 7T

During the year, no remuneration was paid by the Group to
the five highest paid individuals of the Group as an inducement
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss
of office.

DIVIDENDS

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final dividend
of HK$0.172 per ordinary share in respect of the year ended
30 June 2024, in aggregate amount of HK$70,176,000, has
been proposed by the directors of the Company and is subject
to approval by the shareholders in the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

No dividend was paid or declared by the Company for the year
ended 30 June 2023.

11.

RAEE ASERERNAEER
FERBHWA L EMHIM - 1F
BMAREEHR INARNEEIEZR
BERpRBER A

RE

HEHKRE  AARESTEEZRE
E_E_NWFEAAZTHIEFER
R B FR T ®BAR0.1728 T -
& $£70,176,0008 7T * WAFRFRER
FEE R BRAF RE EHEAE -

RARARBE_T_=ZF A=
BLEFEMERVHERKE

HREEEZRERAE  FI] 2024
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e KRR

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THIEFE

12.

EARNINGS PER SHARE
The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to
the owners of the Company is based on the following data:

12. 3RER
AR FEE AN S REAR BT
SRR T RIRSH

2024 2023
—EC-WE —TE-=F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FTHExT FHIT
Profit attributable to owners NRTHEER AEEEF 35,826 43,844
of the Company
Number of shares g =|
2024 2023
—E-E —E-=F
Weighted average number of ordinary B EITERBRINE T HE 408,000,000 320,810,959
shares in issue
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares: B # 8 L BT £ :
Over-allotment option in relation to BHAREEB@EN = 128,402
public offering 1B RE e AR 4
Weighted average number of ordinary AR E REE 2T 8 408,000,000 320,939,361

shares for the purpose of diluted

Rk Bk 2

earnings per share

The calculation of the basic earnings per share for the year is
based on the profit attributable to owners of the Company
and the weighted average number of 408,000,000 (2023:
320,810,959) ordinary shares in issue during the years ended
30 June 2024 and 2023.

For the year ended 30 June 2024, diluted earnings per share is
the same as basic earnings per share as there were no dilutive
potential ordinary shares outstanding during the year ended
30 June 2024.

For the year ended 30 June 2023, diluted earnings per share
is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding for the over-allotment option in
relation to the public offering, which lapsed on 28 May 2023.
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KEEFREARBFNBOTETIAKR
RABEEANEBERNEBEZZ
“THMFER_ZE_=ZFAA=1+HA
1 F [E 2 hn#gE F 9 £0408,000,0004%
— T~ =4 :320,810,9590%) B %
TERRAREETE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e I HRREE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THILFE

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

13. ¥ - BERRE

Fixture Computer
and Motor and other
furniture vehicles  equipment Total
EfREM
HERERR AE B4 ] et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THT FHT TET
CoST %N
At 1 July 2022 RZE-_—_FtA—H 1,576 1,360 592 3,528
Additions NE - - 20 20
At 30 June 2023 and RZBE_=FA=1H 1,576 1,360 612 3,548
1 July 2023 kZTZ=%+H—H
Additions NE 400 - 2,911 3,311
Disposals it 2 - (1,105) - (1,105)
At 30 June 2024 R-Z-_MEXA=1+A 1,976 255 3,523 5,754
ACCUMULATED 2iiTE
DEPRECIATION
At 1 July 2022 NRZZE-__F+tH—H 830 1,276 133 2,239
Charge for the year FREH 252 84 136 472
At 30 June 2023 and RZEBE-_=FA=FH 1,082 1,360 269 2,711
1 July 2023 k=ZF-_=F+H—H
Charge for the year FRNEH 192 - 922 1,114
Disposals & - (1,105) = (1,105)
At 30 June 2024 NZE-_WENA=1H 1,274 255 1,191 2,720
CARRYING VALUES IREE
At 30 June 2024 RZEBE_NFA=1H 702 = 2,332 3,034
At 30 June 2023 NZE-_=%,A=1H 494 - 343 837

Hiltmx - BERKREBEERAE
RERRREREATIFRFE

The above items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the useful lives at the
following rates per annum:

Fixtures and furniture 20% KEREKTL 20%
Motor vehicles 30% B 30%
Computer and other equipment 20% B R H A 2R 20%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e KRR

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THIEFE

14. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

14. FREEE

Workshop and
warehouse
premises and
general office

ISEREBER
AR — M
WAE
HK$'000
FAET
COST [B#N
At 1 July 2022 and 2023 N-EBE - —FN—_E-_=F+A—H 6,895
Lease modification HERAE 3,016
Elimination on expiry of lease term THEH MR (4,621)
At 30 June 2024 RZZEZWMFA="+H 5,290
DEPRECIATION e
At 1 July 2022 N—_E-_—_F+HF—H 4,484
Provided for the year FREE 1,287
At 1 July 2023 R-ZE_=F+HF—H 5,771
Provided for the year FREE 1,272
Elimination on expiry of lease term T HA i B ) 8 (4,621)
At 30 June 2024 RZZEZWFA=+H 2,422
CARRYING VALUES AREE
At 30 June 2024 RZZEZWFA="+H 2,868
At 30 June 2023 RZE_=FA=+H 1,124

The Group leases workshop and warehouse premises and
general office during the year. Lease contracts are entered
into for fixed term of 2 to 3 years, without any extension
nor termination options. Lease terms are negotiated on an
individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms
and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing
the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies
the definition of a contract and determines the period for
which the contract is enforceable.

The Group entered into short-term lease for machines, of
which the Group applied the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of machines. During the year, the expense
relating to short-term leases were HK$7,659,000 (2023:
HK$8,362,000).

During the year, total cash outflows for the leases of the
Group were HK$8,978,000 (2023: HK$9,695,000).
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AEERAFEHRHETSRAER
AR —RPAE - HESNK2E
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AR IR ERE - HE RFIRE R E
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1 o PO E TH B H R RF A T AT R
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E&E - LHEFER KR &S HITHH
BR o

AEBFYEHKEBEE PR
CSEHKEHERAERCHEE
RN - RAFE HEHHELH
# B X 57,659,000/ 7T (—Z&F = =
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THILFE

15. TRADE RECEIVABLES 15. B Z EKRFIE

2024 2023

—E-F —E-=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FH T FHT

Trade receivables Z 5 WA 12,963 17,903
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEEIEERE (1,758) (683)
11,205 17,220

The Group grants credit terms to customers for a period
ranging from 14 — 60 days from the invoice date for trade
receivables. The following is an aged analysis of trade
receivables, net of allowance for doubtful debts, presented

AEBREZEFETHEEHAEEZE S
FE U sk IE B 2= B #i B AT T T 14E60

B-UTRARBERRREER
HIZ 510 8 5 FE WK IR 0 Bk i o0 AT

based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period: (FBr RERBE) ¢
2024 2023
—E_ME —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THT
Within 30 days 30HA 763 15,893
31 days to 60 days 31HZ60H 679 =
61 days to 90 days 61HZ90H 3,474 =
Over 90 days 90H A £ 6,289 1,327
11,205 17,220

As at 1 July 2022, trade receivables from contracts with
customers amounted to HK$12,069,000.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group has assessed
the potential customer’s credit quality and defined credit limit
to each customer on an individual basis. Limits attributed to
customers are reviewed when necessary. The Group’s trade
receivables balances that are past due over 90 days are not
considered as in default based on good repayment records
for those customers and long-term/continuous business with
the Group. As at 30 June 2024 and 2023, the Group does not
charge interest nor hold any collateral over the balances.

Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables as at 30
June 2024 are set out in note 28.

RZE_—_F+HA—HB RXBEF
B4R E F FE W FRIA £12,069,000
IT ©

EENERHEFR ASEDH
BEREFHNEEG R ETTME I
REMNEESEEREFNEESR
E-ZEFMNBEEERTERRT -
BEZERFPHWRITERGDEH K E
AEEBORE BEEBHE X
£ BB R BI0B B E 5 & W R IE
EBRTHRABEYN N_ZT_NF
F—2—_=FA=+H ' A£H
I 48 Bt 45 SR MU B SR A (R
R o

R-E-_NWNESA=+THEHNESE
WERIA R R B R S B E A B 28 ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e KRR

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE =T —NF A =FTHILFE

16. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND 16. Htt BB -ZEKHE
PREPAYMENTS NRIE

2024 2023
—E-_E —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F&ET FET
Other receivables and deposits Hi B RIES 217 215
Prepayments TEfH FRIA 16,139 8,801
16,356 9,016

Less: Rental deposits under non-current 3§ : 3ERENEEIE Y (174) (174)

assets (Note 29) HEZS (Mi5E29)

Amount shown under current assets MBEEE TARIE 16,182 8,842
Included in prepayments at 30 June 2024 are HK$1,988,000 R-ZZE_MNFNA=ZTHOEMAK
(2023: nil) to Tanda International Company Limited (“Tanda”) HEt AN REREBIBRERA A
and HK$2,100,000 (2023: nil) due to Greatec Engineering (X% ]) 181,988,000/ 70 (==
Limited (“Greatec”), both companies are controlled by a close —=F EB)RENERIREERA
family member of a director of the Company. 7 ([#£#]) 382,100,000/ 7t (=

E_=F &) ZMEAAREHA
DR —BRESNHETIOREBIT

il o
Details of impairment assessment of other receivables and RZEZMNEASA=THHEME
deposits as at 30 June 2024 are set out in note 28. W IE KR & m R E R e R =R
ffEE28 -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THILFE

17. A FINANCIAL ASSET AT FVTPL 17. B A FEFFAEZNEH

EE

2024 2023

—EoE ZTEZ=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTET T T

Life insurance policy ASIRE 3,179 3,179

The amount represents the insurance premium paid for a life
insurance policy (the “Insurance Policy”) to insure a director
of the Company. Under the Insurance Policy, the beneficiary
and policy holder is the Group. The Group can terminate the
Insurance Policy at any time and receive cash at the date of
termination based on the account value of the Insurance Policy
(the “Cash Surrender Value”), which is determined based on
the premium paid with the accrued returns after netting of the
charges (including a surrender charge) in accordance with the
terms and conditions of the Insurance Policy.

The total insured sum is approximately US$1.2 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$9.0 million). At the inception
of the Insurance Policy, the Group was required to pay an
upfront payment of approximately US$408,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$3.2 million).

Payment for the Insurance Policy is classified as a financial
asset at FVTPL as contractual rights to cash flows do not
represent contractual cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
The Insurance Policy is measured under Level 3 fair value
hierarchy. The fair value is measured with reference to the
quotation of the Insurance Policy from the insurance company.

The directors of the Company have no intention to terminate
the Insurance Policy within 12 months after the end of the
reporting period and, therefore, the amount was classified as
a non-current asset.

ZERERARA —REEFRRM
XHMASHRE(REDRE R
BRE I ARFREREALR
REE - AEEAIBERRERE
YHEXIEBHEER -—FREERP
BE(RERFREEDFENRS -
miRFEERRED M RE &L
PR AR IR 4R B8 B R SR M R AR M B e B
B (eEERER) WEST DRETE -

BIRRBHRI2EEERT HEER
#9.0AEBTT) - INMREFIBE - K
& B A X 19 & ZE 3UH 49408,000%% 7T
(HERKB2AEBT) °

MR EBRLRENA NEFTR
REAENASRAEERSSH
MFBMANRSAE  WREN
KAWARATEFABRENSE
AE-RERE=RATEEMG
£ ATESERRA A FEHR
EHBESE -

ARREFESNREHREKI2(E

ARBIERE  RBEBEBRARS R
RIERBDEE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e P RRME

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #ZE —Z - FE B =+HILFE

18. CONTRACT ASSETS/LIABILITIES

The following is the analysis of the contract assets and

contract liabilities:

18. ANEE BfE
UFRANEERAHABHAR

2024 2023
—E_NEF —E-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Contract assets BHEE 124,532 122,024
Less: Impairment loss allowance B OREEERE (1,481) (468)
123,051 121,556
Contract liabilities AHEE
— Current construction and information —BNEf T 12 & B s AR 7% 387 751
service contracts =

As at 1 July 2022, contract assets and contract liabilities
amounted to HK$64,803,000 and HK$358,000, respectively.

Contract assets and contract liabilities arising from the same
contract are presented on a net basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THILFE

18. CONTRACT ASSETS/LIABILITIES (Continued) 18. BREE B&E®Wm)

Contract assets

Amounts represent the Group's rights to considerations from
customers for the provision of passive fire protection works
services, which arise when: (i) the Group completed the relevant
services under such contracts which is not billed because the
rights are conditional on the Group’s future performance; or (ii)
the customers withhold certain amounts payable to the Group
as retention money to secure the due performance of the
contracts for a period of generally 12 months (defect liability
period) after issuance of the practical completion certificate of
the project. Any amount previously recognised as a contract
asset is reclassified to trade receivables at the point at which it
becomes unconditional.

The Group's contract assets are analysed as follows:

EHEE
REEAEE IR B TR
fREmEFMEBRRENET  EE
B ()AEEZERZEAHTHIEE
fR7% - BRIAE XEHFBEEFRARE
B RRBELABKEMARESE : k(i)
EEMBENAEBITDSREIES
RBECURBZERBTEH  — K
ABERIBEEMNER T IERERI2
B AREM (REH) - LATER A
BHEENEMNSBEEKBEK
HEREFTPEEZE S ERZA -

AEBENEGHNEESTAOT :

2024 2023
—E_OE —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FABT

Construction contracts — current BESH—AH
— Unbilled revenue —AABERE 80,773 95,755
— Retention receivables —EWIRES 42,278 25,801
123,051 121,556

Unbilled revenue represented the revenue not yet been
billed to customers which the Group has completed the
relevant services under such contracts but yet certified by
representatives appointed by customers.

Changes of contract assets during the year were mainly
due to (i) increase in the amount of retention receivables
in accordance with the number of ongoing and completed
contracts under the defect liability period during the year; and
(ii) decrease in the size and number of contract works that
the relevant services were completed but not yet certified by
representatives appointed by the customers at the end of the
reporting period.

AREZRGEHERAARATPRAER
Ml ARBEZKZFEENT
MAEERBERAREFEF KK
RIZAE °

BHEERAFENEHTIELH
RATEEMEK : (MRBERAFER
EHRRNEETRETKAHEE
B MR E 2 S RRIE 0 - RN ]
ERREZTKEBARBEEREEP
BERRERZENEOTRENRER
gERD -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B R M

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #HZE—

ll\li\

18.

19.

20.

T_MEARNA=THLEFE

CONTRACT ASSETS/LIABILITIES (Continued)
Contract assets (Continued)

The Group’s retention receivables included in the Group’s
contract assets will be settled at the expiry of the defect
liability period of the relevant contracts or in accordance with
the terms specified in the relevant contracts. The balances are
classified as current as they are expected to be realised in the
Group’s normal operating cycle.

Contract liabilities

The contract liabilities represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer services to customers for which the Group has
received consideration from the customers.

The decrease in contract liabilities during the year ended 30
June 2024 is mainly due to the decrease in receipt in advance
as a result of the decrease in upfront fee received for the
passive fire protection works.

The following table shows how much of the revenue
recognised during the year that relates to contract liabilities
carried-forward from preceding years.

18.

BREE BE®Wm
EHEE (B)
KEEGALNEENBKRES
45 B B A #0112 2 B B W B IR
RRAARE A 4T M IR A1 - %2
SRS E AR BEAERER
AEEMES S EARNES -

BHER
BHNABEAKERERZTF KR
MREMmMAEFERRENEL -

HE—_ZT-_WFA=THLEFE
AHBEERSEZARRBEER
TREWBENEZER D ERTEWRZIE
Ve

TRINTIRAFEABRELEES
BEFEANABEANKESHE -

2024 2023

—E-nmE —E-=F

HK$'000 HK$’'000

FERT FAET

Revenue recognised that was included in T AFHI & L B EEBLD 751 358

B iR Y an

the contract liabilities balance at the
beginning of the year

AMOUNT DUE FROM ULTIMATE HOLDING
COMPANY

The amount is non-trade in nature, unsecured, interest-free
and repayable on demand.

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSIT/BANK BALANCES

AND CASH

Pledged bank deposit represents deposit placed in a bank to
secure a general banking facility granted to the Group and
carries fixed interest rate of 0.9% (2023: 0.775%) per annum.

The bank balances are at nominal rate as at 30 June 2024 and
2023.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THILFE

21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 21. EZ R EMEMARE
2024 2023
—E_MEF —F-=

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET FHTT

Trade payables B 5 M I8 9,305 8,366
Payroll and MPF payables TEREESENRIE 2,285 1,818
Accrued expenses FERTHAX 1,397 1,964
Others H 96 97
13,083 12,245
The credit period on purchases from suppliers is generally FEEERELHBEENEESR —RKA

ranging from 30-60 days or payable upon delivery. 30260 H ok B R AT AT ©
The following is an aging analysis of trade payables presented TXHINRNBERARKEZAHZ

based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period: FIHE 5 ZUE R BR R D AT

2024 2023

—E_F T =F

HK$’'000 HK$'000

FTHET FHET

Within 30 days 30HA 9,305 7,267
31 days to 60 days 31HZE60H - 1,099
9,305 8,366
Included in trade payables at 30 June 2023 are HK$14,000 RZE—_=FNA=+HHNESE
(2024: nil) due to Tanda; HK$54,000 (2024: nil) due to 3 FRIA FF A FE S R 2 5K 7714,000/8
Greatec; HK$104,000 (2024: nil) due to Warwick Building T(ZE-4F : &) EMNEER
Material Limited, a company jointly controlled by a close family JA54,0008 T (ZZE M : |\)
member of a director of the Company; and HK$80,000 (2024: JERtAEEZM AR AR (BAAF—
nil) due to Goldin Innovation Development Company Limited, LEENBEERZYNREB L RIES
a company in which a director of the Company has significant B A &) FIE104,0008 T (ZE =M
influence, respectively. F /) RENBRERZERER

NE( AR —BREEREFAEBE
R ENHAR]) X IES0,00078 7T (=
T PULF ) o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e KRR

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THIEFE

months shown under non-current

R+ EA &2

liabilities R FRIE

22. LEASE LIABILITIES 22. HEAE
2024 2023
SN E —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAETT
Lease liabilities payable JENAEaE
Within one year —F R 1,475 1,143
Within a period of more than one year, —FLAEETBBRTH 1,398 -
but not exceeding two years HA
2,873 1,143
Less: Amount due for settlement within B ORBAEE TR (1,475) (1,143)
twelve months shown under J\EAJr:fI HAEH
current liabilities R A
Amount due for settlement after twelve ERFHEEETIR 1,398 =

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to
lease liabilities was 5.67% (2023: 3.24%).

Restrictions or covenants on leases

As at 30 June 2024, lease liabilities of HK$2,873,000 are
recognised with related right-of-use assets of HK$2,868,000
(2023: lease liabilities of HK$1,143,000 and related
right-of-use assets of HK$1,124,000). The lease agreements
do not impose any covenants other than the security interests
in the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets
may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e I HRREE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THILFE

23. PROVISION

23. B1E

Provision for
tax penalty
RIE RS RE
HK$'000
THET

At 1 July 2022
Reversal of over-provision of tax penalty

R-ZE-_—F+tH—H 85
188 0] 7 755 b ST AR BB B 1 (85)

At 30 June 2023 and 2024

R =FR_T_MFA=1+H -

The provision for tax penalty represents the management
best estimate of the Group's liability for failure to inform
the tax chargeability and late submission of the profits tax
returns to the Inland Revenue Department (the “IRD"”). During
the year ended 30 June 2022, the IRD issued an additional
tax assessment for an amount of HK$420,000 in respect
of the above offence for a subsidiary of the Company. The
Group fully settled the amount of HK$420,000 in relation
to the above additional tax assessment and reversed the
over-provision of tax penalty for the above offence. During
the year ended 30 June 2023, the management of the Group
made an enquiry with the tax officer of IRD and understood
that there was no other tax penalty owned by the Group and
the remaining over-provision of tax penalty amounting to

HK$85,000 was reversed accordingly.

24. DEFERRED TAXATION

The following are the deferred tax liabilities (assets) recognised

HEESBREEEEBYAEER
semB SR ((HER]) B0 E U &
BAREBEIFNERMmMEBEN R
FEHFF - HE-_T—_—_FXA=1
HIEFE MBBHAR A —HEH
B\ & i 2 5] 2% 11420,000 T
RN - NEBEEEEH
=t % hn A ST A &9 5X18420,000 45
- JEI NS B R I e O
ERBERE BHE_T_=ZF
B=THLFE AEBEETEER
MPREEHREETERWERAE
Bl ERBEMT BRI - w2
H A 7% bR 21 68 58 £ 1885,000% 7T
T UAMEFERE ] ©

24. EFERIIE
CDRREEHEEEEE) RES

and the movements thereon: BEIAT :
Accelerated
tax
depreciation
and other
temporary ECL Right-of-use Lease
differences provision assets liabilities Total
MEBE
TERAM RAEE A%
ERER EREE BE HEAR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THEx FHET THx THET
At 1 July 2022 R-ZE-—%+H—H 9 (67) - = (58)
Credited to profitor loss ~ F Rz AR
for the year (28) (18) - - (46)
At 30 June 2023 R-ZE-_=F A=+H (19) (85) = = (104)
Charged (credited) to profit Rk E (GFA) B
or loss for the year 403 (333) 473 (473) 70
At 30 June 2024 RZZ-WERA=TH 384 (418) 473 (473) (34)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e P RRME

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE =T —NF A =FTHILFE

25. SHARE CAPITAL 25. [
Details of movements of authorised and issued capital of the KARNEERBETRAN 2 EB)FF
Company are as follows: BET :
Number of
ordinary
share of
HK$0.01 each Amount
BREE
0.013 8 TH
ZEREAE k]
HK$'000
FHIT
Authorised: ETE
At 1 July 2022 R-ZZE-__F+H—H 38,000,000 380
Increase in authorised share capital N T AR AR (BT i) 4,962,000,000 49,620
(Note i)
At 30 June 2023, 1 July 2023 and RZZE-_=FA=1+H" 5,000,000,000 50,000
30 June 2024 —E-=F#t+HA—HK
—E-mFEAA=+AH
Issued and fully paid: BEBEITRER
At 1 July 2022 R-ZE-_—F+H—H 10,000 —*
Capitalisation issue (Note ii) & b 31T (ki) 305,990,000 3,060
Issue of new shares upon public RAFRBEREITHRMD 102,000,000 1,020
offering (Note iii) (Bt =i )
At 30 June 2023, 1 July 2023 and M-T-—=#XHA=+H- 408,000,000 4,080
30 June 2024 —E=FtHA—BRK
—E_MEANA=1H
o Less than HK$1,000 * L 1,0007 7T
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e I HRREE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THILFE

25.

26.

SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes:

(i) Pursuant to the written resolutions of the shareholder passed on
3 May 2023, the authorised share capital of the Company was
increased from HK$380,000 to HK$5,000,000,000 by the creation
of additional 4,962,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each.

(i) Pursuant to the written resolutions of the shareholder passed on 3
May 2023, the Company allotted and issued a total of 305,990,000
shares, credited as fully paid at par, to Lofty Profit on 9 May 2023
by way of capitalisation of the sum of HK$3,060,000 standing to
the credit of the share premium account of the Company.

(iii) On 9 May 2023, the Company’s shares have been listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange by issuing 102,000,000 new
shares of HK$0.01 each at a price of HK$1.28 per share for a total
cash consideration, before deducting underwriting commission and
expenses relating to the issue of new shares, of HK$130,560,000.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLAN

The Group operates a MPF Scheme under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all
qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the schemes
are held separately from those of the Group, in funds under
the control of trustees. Under the scheme, the employer and
its employees are each required to make contributions to the
plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a
cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. The Group
contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs to the MPF Scheme, in
which the contribution is matched by employees. No forfeited
contribution is available to reduce the contribution payable in
the future years as at 30 June 2023 and 2024.

The total costs charged to profit or loss, amounting to
HK$827,000 (2023: HK$769,000), representing contributions
paid to the retirement benefits scheme by the Group.

Contributions of HK$69,000 (2023: HK$69,000), were
accrued. The amounts were paid subsequent to the end of the
reporting year.

Long Service Payment Liabilities

Obligation to LSP under Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance

Pursuant to the Employment Ordinance, Chapter 57, the
Group has the obligation to pay LSP to employees in Hong
Kong under certain circumstances, subject to a minimum
of 5 years employment period, based on this formula: Last
monthly wages (before termination of employment) x
2/3 x Years of service. Last monthly wages are capped at
HK$22,500 while the amount of long service payment shall
not exceed HK$390,000. This obligation is accounted for as a
post-employment defined benefit plan.

25.

26.

& NE

B s -

(i) BERER-_ZE_=FAA=-B8
BHEERFER - NARAEERA
F1380,000/% JT 1 Al 25,000,000,000
L AR BB RFREE.017E T
#94,962,000,0008% B% {5

(i) WREREARZ-ZZ=_=FHA
BRAMNEERAFEER  A2AR
—=FRAANBAREBRBETAEHR
305,990,000f% IZ E B A BR 5 {ES 2
ARG FRE ARXBBARRRRKRD
i B B /9 3 AR © 83,060,000/ Tt #
AN o

(i) M=ZZTEZ=FHANAB XA RKH
REERFTER ET - A XN BURER
1.287% JT #Y & & % 17102,000,000/%
BREEOVEITHFARD - BIRE
RE IR EHEAS REBEITHRG
B8 2FXAT) 130,560,000/ 7T °

EBRERGTE

REBRERBCEAHIMEAESFTE
BB BETERBAEREBLER
BertéEl - ZrtEMEERAEE
BESHAFHE  THRIZTAEG
WEESP - REFTE EERERE
BEZBZEEEAMEABRS%MAET
EER EBREEBABRLRA
30,000/ 7T - ANEEIE B @ LT &K
EI5% A58 FE 5T &I 30 R H R
HESHAEE - R_ZT-_=ZFK
—E-_NENA=THBEDR
U 4 SR AT A 1 IR oK 2R 4R 2 R A 4

Eon
A °

H

)
Y o

B 1B fNBR By AK 78 42 B8 &2827,000/8
T (ZZTE =4 : 769,000/ 7T) * B
AEB ERINEFFTEI SRR -

JE =+ B4 /69,0008 T (ZE ==
F 169,000/ 70) - ZEHREE R R
EFEETEBINT -

REIRKEEEE
RIEZEERBIKASTRAREE
OET

RIEEFEIEN (B578) » KEEE
HEBATAERRGEKESE
BEXNEHEES  BEBESZKD
AF - WIRLATARGTE : =% —
B8R TE& (FEREKRLEZAT) x2/3X
fRGFEH - HE—EANITE LR
22,5008 0 MEHREEHN
T 818 3A390,000/8 7T © % &5 A
BRI AR ERAEE -
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THIEFE

26.

27.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLAN (Continued)

Long Service Payment Liabilities (Continued)
Obligation to LSP under Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance (Continued)

Furthermore, the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance passed in 1995 permits the Group to utilise the
Group’s Mandatory Provident Fund contributions, plus/minus
any positive/negative returns thereof (collectively, the “Eligible
Offset Amount”), for the purpose of offsetting LSP payable
to an employee (the “Offsetting Arrangement”).

The Employment and Retirement Schemes Legislation
(Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the
“Amendment Ordinance”) was gazetted on 17 June 2022,
which will eventually abolish the Offsetting Arrangement. The
Amendment Ordinance will come into effect prospectively
from 1 May 2025 (the “Transition Date”). Under the
Amendment Ordinance, the Eligible Offset Amount after the
Transition Date can only be applied to offset the pre-Transition
Date LSP obligation but no longer eligible to offset the
post-Transition Date LSP obligation. Furthermore, the LSP
obligations before the Transition Date will be grandfathered
and calculated based on the last monthly wages immediately
preceding the Transition Date.

As disclosed in note 2, there is no material impact on the
Group's results and financial position for the current or prior
years.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to
continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance. The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from
prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts, which
includes lease liabilities, as disclosed in note 22, net of pledged
bank deposit, bank balances and equity attributable to owners
of the Company, comprising share capital and reserves.
The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital
requirement.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure
on a regular basis. As a part of this review, the management
considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with
each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the
management, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through continuity of funding of cash flows from operating
activities, the payment of dividends, new share issues, or issues
of new debt.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THILFE

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 28. €@ T A
Categories of financial instruments SRIASE
2024 2023
—E_ME —E =%
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FHIT
Financial assets EMEE
A financial asset at FVTPL BEAFEGAEER 3,179 3,179
CRUEE
Financial assets at amortised cost REHK AT 2/ 170,589 147,109
CREE
Financial liabilities cEAE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BN AT E R 9,401 8,463
TRIBE

Financial risk management objectives and policy
The Group’s financial instruments include a financial asset
at FVTPL, trade receivables, other receivables and deposits,
amount due from ultimate holding company, pledged bank
deposit, bank balances and cash, trade and other payables
and lease liabilities. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (interest rate risk), credit
risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

M EEEEBERBER
AEEERTABEZEAFETA
BamemMEE B2 REBNEFE -
Hib B FIBRIZE - B & ARIE
BarHRIE BEEMRITER R
THBEkES BHREMENRK
FAMHERBE EZFSRTA
BERHEReEM SRR (F X
%) FERBREREBDE AR B
LR ERBEOBREN T - &
BEERERZFRR ERRIE
BRMHITEE WER

Market risk B
Interest rate risk ViES

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. Management has assessed
there is minimal exposure of the cash flow interest rate risk
on the variable rate of interest incurred on the pledged bank
deposit and bank balances. Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis
is presented.

MERR BTSN EEE M B E
BMIANAFEIAKRRSRER
FHEk EEENFERFEE
BERBROTERRRITEREBENR
EREMNEEBREN - Bt Y&
2HNFEE DT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e KRR

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THIEFE

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policy
(Continued)

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade
receivables, other receivables and deposits, contract assets,
amount due from ultimate holding company, pledged bank
deposit and bank balances.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk without taking into account any
collateral held or other credit enhancement which will cause
a financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an
obligation by the counterparties is arising from the carrying
amount of the respective recognised financial assets and
contract assets as stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Group has policies in
place for determination of credit limits, credit approvals and
other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action
is taken to recover overdue debts. Before accepting any new
customers, the Group carries out research on the credit risk of
the new customer and assesses the potential customers’ credit
quality and defines credit limits by customer. Limits attributed
to customers are reviewed at the end of the reporting period
or more frequently when necessary. In this regards, the
management of the Group considers that the Group’s credit
risk is significantly reduced.

The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with its
financial assets.

As at 30 June 2024, the Group's concentration of credit risk
by geographical location is in Hong Kong, which accounts for
100% (2023: 100%) of the total financial assets and contract
assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THILFE

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policy

28. €T B¢

MHEEREERRREEKGE)

(Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EEmRRE (&
The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment comprises AEBRNSBEERBRTRBIENUT
the following categories: 5l
Internal Other
credit Trade receivables and financial
rating Description contract assets assets
REBEE
TR iU BESRUFEREGHNEE Hit e mEE
A The counterparties have a low risk of default Lifetime ECL — not 12m ECL
based on good historical repayment credit-impaired (individual
records and are mainly multinational assessment)
companies or listed companies
A RSB FRTESCRBRIT - ENRRE - 2HEHEEEE-—EEFE 12 E@AESE
BFELRBEBRARH EHAR] AR (& B f4) BEER
B The counterparties have a medium risk Lifetime ECL — not 12m ECL
of default based on good historical credit-impaired (collective
repayment records and are mainly unlisted assessment)
entities
B RHHUFRABKRCHRT BHERE 2HEHEEESE-—EEFE 12@AESE
RE BFERIFLTER B (R R8T 4) EEA
C There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL — not Lifetime ECL — not
credit risk since initial recognition and the credit-impaired (individual credit-impaired
counterparties are mainly multinational assessment)
companies or listed companies
C EERRBEVSHRURKE LA - BRX 2HEBEEEE-—BEE 2HEBEES
SHFFEREBQFN FHAF AR (B f4) B-\EEER
(=l
D There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL — not Lifetime ECL — not
credit risk since initial recognition and the credit-impaired (collective credit-impaired
counterparties are mainly unlisted entities assessment)
D FERRBVIFZHERURAE LT BRX 2HEHREEEE-BFE 2HBEHEES
ZHFIERIELTER A (S8 h) B-EEER
(=l
E There is evidence indicating the assets is Lifetime ECL — credit-impaired  Lifetime ECL —
credit-impaired credit-impaired
E FRBETNEELBEGEERE THEMEEBRE - FEER 2HEHREES

(=]

B—EERIE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e KRR

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THIEFE

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policy
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment comprises
the following categories: (Continued)

28. €T B m)

MBEREERRREEKE)

FEmE (&
AEEABEERRIREBEAT
Bl (&)

Internal Other
credit Trade receivables and financial
rating Description contract assets assets
ABEE
AR i BEZRUHEREGHNEE HttemEE
F There is evidence indicating that the debtor ~ Amount is written off Amounts is
is in severe financial difficulty and the written off
Group has no realistic prospect of recovery
F BEBBRTEBARABREN RN B MWHAH<R WiHE@<E

AEBEEERWE S

Trade receivables and contract assets
The Group applies simplified approach and always recognises
lifetime ECL for the trade receivables and contract assets.

The lifetime ECL on trade receivables and contract assets,
except for those balance due from multinational companies/
listed companies and credit-impaired debtors which are
assessed individually, are assessed on a collective basis through
grouping of debtors with reference to the past due condition
and scale of the debtors based on group’s internal credit
ratings. Estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates of the debtors with the study of other
corporates’ default and recovery data from international
credit-rating agencies including Moody’s and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.
The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
relevant information about specific debtors is updated.

As at 30 June 2024, all the trade receivables and contract
assets subject to ECL assessment are classified as “A”, “B”,
“C", "D" and "“E” by the management pursuant to their
assessment. The gross carrying amounts of these trade
receivables and contract assets are disclosed in notes 15 and
18, respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THILFE

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 28. £m T A (4

Financial risk management objectives and policy
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)

The Group has concentration of credit risk in trade receivables
and contract assets, as approximately 24.8% (2023: 28.4%) of
total trade receivables, and 77.2% (2023: 81.4%) of contract
assets outstanding as at 30 June 2024, were due from top five
customers.

Other receivables and deposits

The management of the Group conducts periodic individual
assessment on the recoverability of other receivables
and deposits based on historical settlement records, past
experience, and also available reasonable and supportive
forward-looking information. The management of the Group
believe that there is no material credit risk inherent in the
Group's outstanding balance of other receivables and deposits.
As at 30 June 2024, the Group assessed that the ECL for other
receivables and deposits was insignificant.

Amount due from ultimate holding company

The Group had concentration of credit risk on amount due
from ultimate holding company as at 30 June 2024. In order
to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group had
reviewed the recoverable amount of the amount due from
ultimate holding company at the end of the reporting period
to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the management of the
Group considered that the Group’s credit risks was reduced.
In the opinion of the management of the Group, the risk of
default by ultimate holding company is low and the ECL on
the balance is insignificant.

Pledged bank deposit and bank balances

The credit risk for pledged bank deposit and bank balances
are limited because the counterparties are banks with high
credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.
There has been no history of default in relation to these banks.
The Group performs impairment assessment on the pledged
bank deposit and bank balances under 12m ECL model. The
management of the Group considers the risk of default is low
based on the average loss rate by reference to credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies. As at 30 June
2024, the Group assessed that the ECL for pledged bank
deposit and bank balances were insignificant.

MHEEREERRREEKGE)

EERE (&

B ZEWATEREHEE (&)
R-ZE-_WMFESA=1TH BRE
SIEW R IBATEH248% (T =
F:284%) AR AKEBREHNEELD
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE =T —NF A =FTHILFE

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policy

(Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

Pledged bank deposit and bank balances (Continued)

External credit

28. €T B ®)

MBEREERRREEKE)

FEmE (&

ERBARITZARIRITAEER (B)

Gross carrying amounts

Notes rating 12-month or lifetime ECL
i SBEESR 2EASZHRNEAER FREAR
2024 2023
“EC@ME —Z-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THT
Financial assets
SREE
Amortised cost
B
Trade receivables 15 N/A Lifetime ECL - not credit-impaired 2,380 4,933
B 5 EWGR TER (individual assessment)
2HEBEEER-REEHE
(ERIFF18)
Lifetime ECL - not credit-impaired 1,197 10,843
(collective assessment)
2HEBEEER-REEHE
(R8BaTH)
Lifetime ECL - not credit-impaired 329 =
(individual assessment)
2HESEEER-REEHE
(ERIFF18)
Lifetime ECL - not credit-impaired 6,110 1,497
(collective assessment)
2HEBEEER-REEHE
(R8BaTH)
Lifetime ECL - credit-impaired 2,947 630
2HEBREEER-FERE
Other receivables and 16 N/A 12m ECL 217 215
deposits N REAAEREEEE
HiBEWHER RS
Amount due from ultimate 19 N/A 12m ECL 122 100
holding company A REARHEEES

SR ER AR
TIE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THILFE

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 28. €M T A
Financial risk management objectives and policy MERREEEERBEK(E)
(Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EEmE (&)
Pledged bank deposit and bank balances (Continued) BRI T RIRTTA45 80 (4B)
External credit  Internal credit
Notes rating rating 12-month or lifetime ECL Gross cartying amounts
B OMBERFE  ABERFE  LEASNRNERER REAE
2024 2023

“EoME —Z--F
HK$'000 HK$'000

TET AT
Pledged bank deposits 20 Aa3 N/A 12m ECL 1,034 1,025
BERBRITER (2023: Aa3) a¥ il REARHEEES
Aa3
(ZB_=%:
Aa3)
Bank balances 20 Aal N/A 12m ECL 158,011 128,549
RITEEH (2023: Aat) TEA 128 A L EEEE
Aal
(ZE==%:
Aal)
Other items
Httig A
Contract assets* 18 N/A A Lifetime ECL - not credit-impaired 62,673 47,409
BAMEE TEA (individual assessment)

2HRACEFRE - EEEHA
(ERIFF1E)
B Lifetime ECL - not credit-impaired 8,292 34,874
(collective assessment)
2HEBEEEE-ECENE
(g8aTE)
C Lifetime ECL - not credit-impaired 4,234 4,578
(individual assessment)
2HEBREEER - EEEHNAE
(ERIFT)
D Lifetime ECL - not credit-impaired 49,199 35,163
(collective assessment)
2HRACEFRE - EEEHA
(R8BaTh)
E Lifetime ECL - credit-impaired 134 =
2HBRACEER-FERE

* As contract assets are required to be presented on a net basis @ HREHNEEAER —GHNEH
with contract liability for the same contract, retention receivables BERFERY R_ZE=_=F,"A
of HK$58,000 (2024: nil) which are subject to net presentation =+ B/ fE YR 75 £58,0007% 7T (=
requirement were not included in the above table as at 30 June TOF ) ERBFHEENRE
2023. In accordance with the terms of the relevant contract, MLKRFTFTA LR - BRIBHEBAE LD
retention receivables of HK$58,000 (2024: nil) will be collected from &3 FEUR 3B £58,000/8 T (=&
customers in the future as detailed in note 18. The management ZPUE ) BT 18P FE A B
considers credit risk for such amounts and the impact of ECL is not BATFPWE - EEERE  ZEXK
material. HHNEERRAESHEEBERENY

BUTEK -
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THIEFE

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policy

(Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)
Pledged bank deposit and bank balances (Continued)

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group
applies internal credit rating for its customers. The following
table provides information about the exposure to credit risk for
trade receivables and contract assets which are assessed based

on assessment within lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired).

28.

gz =)
BERABEEBEEREE (&)

FEmE (&
ERBARITZARIRITAEER (B)
ERAKEEERREEET R
AEEREEFPRAANIEETR -
TREHRE2HENEEEE(BE
ERE) FHEETTHENE B BUGK
HEEEHBEENEERRER -

Gross carrying amount BREAEE
2024 2023
i 2 —T-=F

Internal Average Trade Contract Average Trade Contract
credit rating loss rate  receivables assets loss rate receivables assets
ABEETR FHERE BZEKRE EHNEE THEEREX ZH5RNFE ARNEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEr TER THTT THTT
A 0.41% 2,380 62,673 0.06% 4,933 47,409
B 0.92% 1,197 8,292 0.33% 10,843 34,874
C 0.96% 329 4,234 0.20% = 4,578
D 1.84% 6,110 49,199 0.90% 1,497 35,163
E 56.92% 2,947 134 100% 630 =

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates of the debtors with the study of other
corporates’ default and recovery data from international
credit-rating agencies including Moody's and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.
The Group has rebutted the presumption of default under
ECL model for trade receivables over 90 days due based on
good repayment records for those customers and long-term/
continuous business with the Group. The grouping is regularly
reviewed by management to ensure relevant information
about specific debtors is update. The contract assets have
substantially the same risk characteristics as the trade
receivables for the same type of contacts. The Group has
therefore concluded that the loss rates for trade receivables
are a reasonable approximation of the loss rate for contract
assets.

The following table shows the movements in lifetime ECL (not
credit-impaired) recognised for trade receivables and contract
assets under the simplified approach.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THILFE

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 28. €@ T A ()

Financial risk management objectives and policy
(Continued)

MHEEREERRREEKGE)

Credit risk (Continued) =EREE (&
Gross carrying amount (Continued) FRETAE1E (&)
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit-impaired) (credit-impaired)
HRAEERR 2HRACERR
(BEEHE) (FERE)
Trade Contract Trade Contract
receivables assets receivables assets Total
EaENTE EHNEE ESEWRE ENEE b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THL THT THT THL
As at 1 July 2022 W-_E-—“%+H-H 69 337 630 - 1,036
Changes due to financial W-E--%#+A—H
instruments recognised as at HERRSRIA
1July 2022: Elfikiop 5
- Impairment losses recognised ~ —EEZRESE 9 286 - - 295
~ Impairment losses reversed -DEERESE (69) (230) - - (299)
New financial assets originated B4 ¥ & EE 44 75 = = 119
At as 30 June 2023 RZE-=% 53 468 630 - 1,151
~NAZTH
Changes due to financial WZZ-_=#+A—-H
instruments recognised as at HEERSRIAS
1July 2023: kol
~ Transfer to credit-impaired -BEZEEHE (996) (134) 996 134 -
~ Impairment losses recognised ~ — R EAFEER 159 905 - - 1,064
~ Impairment losses reversed -BEERESSE (50) (159) - - (209)
New financial assets originated B4 #T &R EE 966 267 = = 1233
As at 30 June 2024 R-B-mE 132 1,347 1,626 134 3,239
~NA=TH
Liquidity risk HEBELREE

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter
difficulties in meeting its financial obligations as and when
they fall due. In the management of the liquidity risk, the
Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to finance
the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations
in cash flows.

The following table details the remaining contractual maturity
of the Group for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
(including interest payments computed using contractual rates
or, if floating, based on the relevant market rates as at the
reporting date) of financial liabilities based on the earliest date
on which the Group can be required to pay. The table includes
both interest and principal cash flows, where applicable.

nBETEREAEERETED
HMBEEECREDNENRR -7
EERPDECARE AEBER
ReMREeFEYNKT K$HE
FREEBRSEHNKFE AR
AEENEERERTRASRE
EIEEZ -

TRAMAKEETESREER
BRTAOBMBER ZRBRESHE
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e P RRME

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE =T —NF A =FTHILFE

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policy

28.

gz =)

MBEREERRREEKE)

(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) HEELEE (&)
As at 30 June 2024 R-B-@mFEAA=1H
Weighted Total
average Within 3t06 6to12 1to5 undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 3 months months months years cash flow amount
AfRRE
IEFEHE AR 3Z6ER  6Z1fEA 12856 REAE REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
% TiEn TER TR TR TET TR
Trade and other payables ~ E5 R L {1 EFFUR - 9,401 - - - 9,401 9,401
Lease liabiltes HERE 5.67 397 397 79 1433 30 2873
9,798 397 795 1433 12413 12,274
As at 30 June 2023 REZFZ=F,A=+H
Weighted Total
average Within 3t06 6t012 Tto5  undiscounted Carying
interest rate 3 months months months years cash flow amount
ARRE
7% 3EAR 3%6(H A 6Z12{iA 125% MELE e
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% ThT ThT ThR TEL TR ThT
Trade and other payables ~ £5 R E {1 EFF0A = 8463 = = = 8463 8463
Lease liabltes HERR 34 316 8 564 - 1,162 1,183
8,779 282 564 - 9,625 9,606
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e EHRRMEE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #{Z —Z - FE B =+HILFE

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Fair values measurements to financial instruments
(i)  The following table gives information about how the fair

value of a financial asset at FVTPL is determined.

Fair value as at

28. €T B¢
EMIANAFENE
() TRE“EBETERATEDT
ABHMEBMEELTEN S

EH)ERY
Fair value
hierarchy  Valuation technique

RUTEHNAFE AFEER HERN
2024 2023
—BoNE —FTo=F
HK$000  HK$'000
FTHERT TET
The Group
KEE
Financial asset
cREE
A financial asset at FVTPL
BRATFEFABGENERHEE
— Unlisted life insurance policy 3,179 3,179  Level 3 Quoted price by the
—ELETMASRE E= insurance company

R X B RE

(i)  Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurement

(i) F=BATFEFENHE

A financial
asset at

FVTPL
RAFEFTA
Bl EemEE
HK$'000

T

As at 1 July 2022, 30 June 2023 and
30 June 2024

RZE_—_FtAH—A8"
—Eo=FXNA=ZTEBX

3,179

—E-_WNFENA=1+H
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 #ZE —Z - FE B =+HILFE

28.

29.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities that are measured at amortised
cost

The management of the Group considers that the carrying
amounts of the financial assets and financial liabilities of the
Group recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statements at the end of the reporting period approximate
their fair values. Such fair values have been determined in
accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on
discounted cash flow analysis.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Apart from disclosure elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, the Group entered into following transactions
with related parties during the years.

The remuneration of directors and other members of key
management during the year was as follows:

28.

29.

gz =)
FEERBHEREATENSRE
ERLSREEHATLE

AEBEEEERAR NEEYBR
RPREHERAI ROANEE S B
BENTRAGBRBEHRNEE
BEAQFERSE BRI FER
BAREEBHRLEARTRRERE
DWETE °

Bt S X5
BRaRAVBRAEMBEMNARES
Sh > NEBRZEFE LR AT
MIATRRS e

FRNESRHEBIEEREXEN
T -

2024 2023

—E-lE —E=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

TR FHIT

Short-term employee benefits EHEBE®RT 3,373 3,009
Post-employment benefits BB & 72 A 72 72
3,445 3,081
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THILFE

29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 29. BB AR5 (50
During the year, the Group entered into the following NN =N S =i o) i VA
transactions with its related parties: LATR S :
Related parties Nature of balances/transactions 2024 2023
B 7 Rer REME —E-ImF —T=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FHETT
Tanda Purchases of direct materials 650 2,712
& BB R
Greatec Purchases of direct materials 91 55
EZ74 BEEEMH
Warwick Building Material Limited Purchases of direct materials 1,196 4,125
MEmEMBR AR BEEEME
Goldin Innovation Development Purchases of direct materials 883 1,422
Company Limited (Note i) BEEEME

BB R R AR 2 7] ()

Mr. Dave Ng Sales of a motor vehicle 7 =
REWBzEHE HE—W)TE
Ad(dition to right-of-use assets and 980 =

lease liabilities during the year

FAREEREEELTHERE

Interest expenses on lease liabilities 8 21
HEBBNFNERX
Payments for lease 432 432
HERRK
Balance of lease liabilities 980 424
HEBGEER
Mr. Johnny Ng (Note ii) Addition to right-of-use assets and 661 -
R S A (Bt aEii) lease liabilities during the year
FARBEGRRAEEERHERRE
Interest expenses on lease liabilities 5 14
HEABENFERAX
Payments for lease 288 288
ME R
Balance of lease liabilities 661 283
HEBEER
Rental deposit 72 72
HERE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e KRR

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE =T —NF A =FTHILFE

29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 29.

During the year, the Group entered into the following
transactions with its related parties: (Continued)

BEERS @)
ARG T A R R 5T
MTRS : (&)

Related parties Nature of balances/transactions 2024 2023
BB e RBME —E-F T4
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHTT
Ms. Lim (Note iii) Addition to right-of-use assets and 1,021 —
w2t (Bt i) lease liabilities during the year
FARBECRAEEEREERRE
Interest expenses on lease liabilities 7 20
HEABENFEMAX
Payments for lease 408 408
HE R
Balance of lease liabilities 1,021 401
HEBEEH
Rental deposits 102 102
HERE

Notes:

Mr. Dave Ng is a director and holds 20% interest of Goldin
Innovation Development Company Limited.

ii Mr. Ng Wing Chi (“Mr. Johnny Ng”) is a close family member of
Mr. Dave Ng and Mr. Vincent Ng.

iii Ms. Lim Ming Ngar (“Ms. Lim") is the mother of Mr. Dave Ng.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e I HRREE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THILFE

30. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

30. B ARINFR

Place of
Name of incorporation/ Issued and fully  Equity interest attributable
subsidiaries operation paid capital is the owner of the Group  Principal activities
M BRITRAR
() PNCIEE EEBH L% FRRASEREANRE IEXB
2024 2023
SECIME —To=F
Rise Nation Global ~ BVI Ordinary shares of 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited REBRELEE Us$1 REER
RARFARRA TRRIZETT
Easy Smart Hong Kong Ordinary share of 100% 100%  Provision of passive fire
Engineering BB HK$10,000 protection works
Limited Rl RERIEH TR
BEIREBRAA 10,0007 7T
Easy Smart Hong Kong Ordinary shares of 100% 100%  Provision of passive fire
Maintenance B HK$100 protection works
Engineering LEAR1008 T RAW B ER T2
Limited
BEBETIE
BRAE
E-Build Technology ~ Hong Kong Ordinary shares of 100% 100%  Provision of passive fire
Limited BB HK$100 protection information
FIERBEBR AT EBAR10075 7T service
REW D HD & AR
On Thrive Holdings BV Ordinary shares of 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited EBRUEE US$1 REER
ZREZRAR DA TmiR1ET
Total Wisdom BVI Ordinary shares of 100% 100%  Investment holding
Developments KBRIEE US$1 KB
Limited TER1IET
2ERRERAA

HREREEZERERAE  FIR 2024
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e KRR

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE =T —NF A =FTHILFE

31. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities
are those for which cash flows were, of future cash flows will
be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash

3. MEERHELEBHNYHR

—F%%ilﬁﬁﬂﬁiﬁﬁlﬁiﬁﬁzﬁﬁﬁ
BENES  BERRENIFREE

Eﬂﬁ%@)?iﬁ’]ﬁﬁ%ﬁimgi
ARBERENAEEFESE TR
ERXRDERBEZYNBTRERE

flows as cash flows from financing activities. WEE -
Lease Accrued
liabilities issue costs
HESRE EFRITRE
HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T
At 1 July 2022 R-E_—_F+A—H 2,416 1,082
Financing cash flows MEREGRE (1,333) (12,769)
Finance costs recognised B R R E A 60 -
Accruals of issue costs FERTEEATA AR = 11,687
At 30 June 2023 R-ZEZ=FXA=1H 1,143 -
Financing cash flows MERENE (1,319) -
New leases entered eI E 3,016 -
Finance costs recognised B R ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁi$ 33 -
At 30 June 2024 RZTE_MFEA=+H 2,873 -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BZE —T_NEA=THILFE

32. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 32. KA TEBEMRREK
THE COMPANY

2024 2023
—ESE-E —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT TET
Non-current asset ERBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R — QR R E —* —*
Right-of-use asset FRAEEE 207 =
207 —*
Current assets REEE
Other receivable and prepayments H b B R IE & B AN 38 36 165
Amounts due from subsidiaries A NG O] 84,668 88,100
Bank balances IRITAE AR 506 631
85,210 88,946
Current liabilities REBEE
Accrued expenses FEETF X 850 1,450
Lease liabilities HEaE 181 -
1,031 1,450
Net current assets RBEEFHE 84,179 87,496
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBERE 84,386 87,496
Non-current liabilities FkRBEE
Lease liabilities HEBE 31 -
Net assets EEFE 84,355 87,496
Equity RS
Share capital A% s 4,080 4,080
Share premium f& 17 B 110,582 110,582
Accumulated losses REtEE (30,307) (27,166)
Total equity W 425 84,355 87,496
& less than HK$1,000 L H1,000% 7T
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e P RRME

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #ZE —Z - FE B =+HILFE

32. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY (Continued)

Movement of the Company’s reserves

32. KRR MBARRET @

RATHENEE

Share Accumulated

premium losses Total

4R E ZiTE#E &&t

HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000

FHT T FHET

As at 1 July 2022 R-ZZE-_—_F+A - (14,205) (14,205)
—H

Loss and total comprehensive FAEBEBELREERX - (12,961) (12,961)
expense for the year #azm

Shares issued upon public N AR ERE(T 129,540 — 129,540
offering gh)

Capitalisation issue BEARLEET (3,060) = (3,060)

Costs of issue of new shares BEATHARAD 2 AR (15,898) = (15,898)

At 30 June 2023 RZE_=%XA 110,582 (27,166) 83,416

=+H

Loss and total comprehensive FANBELEREERY - (3,141) (3,141)
expense for the year #azm

At 30 June 2024 R=—T=pI4Ex A 110,582 (30,307) 80,275

=+H
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Financial Summary

MBEE

The financial summary of the Group for the last five years is set as RAEERBELFNVBHELOT -

follows:
For the year ended 30 June
BEAA=THLEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—EBECONFE —To=F T F B —T-THF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT T T T FET
Revenue g 352,922 336,503 240,465 186,466 149,993
Cost of services PR 75 A A< (289,337) (257,039)  (178,590)  (131,915)  (109,627)
Gross profit EF 63,585 79,464 61,875 54,551 40,366
Other income H A 2,360 1,588 511 2,697 479
Other gain/(loss) H bWz, (E518) - 85 93 (561) (37)
Impairment losses, net  JE{EEGE (2,088) (115) (718) (169) 74
of reversal HIBr #E B
Administrative expenses 1T FA sz (20,844) (14,570) (9,943) (7,999) (7,879)
Finance costs & A AR (33) (60) (346) (105) (18)
Listing expenses ishiil b3 - (11,786) (14,191) = =
Profit before taxation B B B ) 42,980 54,606 37,281 48,414 32,985
Income tax expenses TS i X (7,154) (10,762) (8,445) (7,503) (5,188)
Profit and total FRRMNREE 35,826 43,844 28,836 40,911 27,797
comprehensive gtk
income for the year
Earnings per share FRAF
— Basic (HK cents) — EAR B 8.78 13.67 9.40 13.24 9.00
— Diluted (HK cents) — 58 (OB1) 8.78 13.66 N/ATEA  NAT#EE  NA TEA

HREREEZERERAE  FIR 2024
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Financial Summary

MBEHE

As at 30 June

RAA=1H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
SEONME o= —EBE-—F T —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T THET T T

Assets and Liabilities BENABE

Non-current assets ERBEE 9,289 5,418 7,152 2,615 3,054
Current assets MEEE 309,605 277,292 117,991 107,940 75,152
Total assets BEE 318,894 282,710 125,143 110,555 78,206
Non-current liabilities EREBEE 1,398 - 1,143 7,785 541
Current liabilities mEaE 24,787 25,827 25,623 31,241 41,047
Total liabilities FES=R 26,185 25,827 26,766 39,026 41,588
Total equity B 292,709 256,883 98,377 71,529 36,618
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